ISSN 1339-5629 electronic journal

International Scientific Journal about Logistics

<u>OGISTICA</u>

Volume 7 Issue 2 2020



Acta Logistica -International Scientific Journal

CONTENTS

CONTENTS

(JUNE 2020)

(pages 65-72)

MEASURING AND DECOMPOSING TOTAL FACTOR PRODUCTIVITY OF VIETNAMESE SEAPORTS

Tha Hien To, Phuong Thanh Le, Van Nguyen

(pages 73-84)

MOTORCYCLE TAXI IN ADDRESSING THE RURAL TRANSPORT CONUNDRUM Samara Marabala Obudha, Wilson A. P. Otangah, Taji J. Shiyaahi

Samora Marchele Obudho, Wilson A.P. Otengah, Taji I. Shivachi

(pages 85-93)

ADJUSTING DIRECT DISTANCE TO ROAD FOR V4 COUNTRIES

Jakub Dyntar, Dana Strachotová, Marek Botek

(pages 95-101)

TRACEABILITY IN INDUSTRY 4.0: A CASE STUDY IN THE METAL-MECHANICAL SECTOR

Rafael Granillo-Macías, Isaias Simón-Marmolejo, Isidro J. González-Hernández, Jorge Zuno-Silva

(pages 103-109)

AUTONOMOUS MOBILE ROBOT TECHNOLOGY FOR SUPPLYING ASSEMBLY LINES IN THE AUTOMOTIVE INDUSTRY

Martin Čech, Pavel Wicher, Radim Lenort, Tomáš Malčic, Jiří David, David Holman, David Staš, Jiří Záruba

(pages 111-120)

OPTIMIZATION OF TECHNOLOGICAL JIGS FLOW IN AUTOMOTIVE USING SOFTWARE MODULE TECNOMATIX PLANT SIMULATION Miriam Pekarčíková, Peter Trebuňa, Marek Kliment, Milan Edl, Ladislav Rosocha

(pages 121-130)

CHOSEN ASPECTS OF A SPATIALLY FUNCTIONAL ACCESSIBILITY BY PUBLIC TRANSPORT: THE CASE OF TRNAVA SELF-GOVERNING REGION (SLOVAKIA) Miroslava Trembošová, Alena Dubcová, Ľudmila Nagyová, Dagmar Cagáňová

(pages 131-143)

IMPLEMENTING CIRCULAR ECONOMY CONCEPTS FOR SUSTAINABLE URBAN FREIGHT TRANSPORT: CASE OF TEXTILE MANUFACTURING SUPPLY CHAIN Bhavesh Dhonde, Chetan R. Patel



doi:10.22306/al.v7i2.148

Received: 07 Jan. 2020 Accepted: 20 Mar. 2020

MEASURING AND DECOMPOSING TOTAL FACTOR PRODUCTIVITY OF VIETNAMESE SEAPORTS

Tha Hien To

Le Quy Don Technical University, 236 Hoang Quoc Viet, Hanoi, Vietnam,

tohientha@gmail.com **Phuong Thanh Le**

Faculty of Management and Finance, Vietnam Maritime University, 484 Lach Tray Street, Haiphong City, Vietnam, phuonglt@vimaru.edu.vn (Corresponding author)

Van Nguyen

Faculty of Fundamental Science, Vietnam Maritime University, 484 Lach Tray Street, Haiphong City, Vietnam, vanxpo@vimaru.edu.vn

Keywords: total factor productivity, seaports, emerging economy, Vietnam

Abstract: In this paper the total factor productivity of Vietnamese seaports is measured and decomposed into three main components, namely technical, scale and mix efficiency. The analysis results using the data of 40 seaports show that the seaport sector is underperformed, while seaports in the northern region are the most efficient group on any measures of efficiency, southern ports are the least efficient group if scale efficiency is utilised. It has also been found that container ports outperform non-container ports, and those belonging to logistics companies are overall more efficient than their partners operated by the local governments.

Introduction 1

Over the last three decades, the world has seen accelerating economic growth of emerging economies and their significant and active contribution to the global economy through international trade [1-3]. It is well known that more than 90 percent of international trade is carried by ships through ports. Being an emerging economy, Vietnam increasingly depends on maritime transportation and its seaport sector plays a pivotal role in connecting the country's hinterland and sea [4]. However, Vietnamese seaports appear to be less competitive compared with other countries in ASEAN (the Association of Southeast Asian Nations) [5]. In terms of financial cost, port charges in Vietnam are 16% more than those in Shanghai, Ningbo, or Shenzhen (China), and 28% more than those in Hong Kong [6]. These raise concerns about the competitiveness of the seaport sector in particular and the country's trade competitiveness in a broader sense. Accordingly, finding the causes behind the underperformance of Vietnamese seaports will be useful for relevant authorities.

There are numerous studies on seaport efficiency [7-9]. Most studies mainly focus on technical efficiency as a measure of seaport performance. However they do not provide comprehensive information on efficiency [10-12] with De [13] being one of a few exceptions; the only measure is overall technical efficiency without further information on how it is attributed to different types of efficiency. In fact, this issue is related to the total factor productivity (TFP) concept [14]; generally TFP comprises three main sources, namely technical efficiency, scale efficiency, and mix efficiency.

O'Donnell [12] (p. 873) noted on the decomposition of TFP in productivity and efficiency evaluate at both micro (firm and sectoral) and macro (national) levels:

"Several estimates of technical change and efficiency change are available e.g. [15,16] but they are not coherent in the sense that they do not combine to yield recognizable productivity indexes. And while several researchers have decomposed well-known productivity indexes into various components [17], not all of these components have unambiguous interpretations as measures of technical change or efficiency change."

This implies that the incoherent knowledge of TFP components can be misleading to seaport management and policy makers, who face the challenge of finding the best approach to improve productivity.

Against this background, the current study seeks to extend the analysis of Vietnamese seaport efficiency to decompose it into technical efficiency, scale efficiency and mix efficiency, and based on this, proposes recommendations for management and policy makers. To this end, O'Donnell [12] approach is adopted to measure overall productive efficiency (to be further explained below) based on aggregating inputs and outputs. This approach has been chosen as it is less restrictive requiring no assumption on market structure, competition and production, i.e. constant versus variable returns to scale, and single versus multiple input, output cases. (For more detail about the literature on seaport efficiency analysis, see for example [18-20]).

Following the introduction section, Section 2 presents the methodology to estimate and analyse TFP and its components. Section 3 describes the data set and variables.



Section 4 presents the analysis results, and Section 5 provides the concluding remarks.

2 Methodology

2.1 Total factor productivity

The productivity of a one-output, one-input firm can intuitively be defined as the output-input ratio. This concept is generalized by O'Donnell [11] by defining the total factor productivity of a firm to be the ratio of an aggregate output to an aggregate input. Let $\mathbf{x}_{it} = (x_{it1}, x_{it2}, ..., x_{itK})'$ and $\mathbf{q}_{it} = (q_{it1}, q_{it2}, ..., q_{itJ})'$ denote the input and output vectors of firm i (i = 1, 2, ..., n) in period t. Then the TFP of the firm can be defined as:

$$TFP_{it} = \frac{Q_{it}}{x_{it}},\tag{1}$$

where $Q_{it} = Q(q_{it})$ is a scalar 'aggregate' output, $X_{it} = X(q_{it})$ is a scalar 'aggregate input', and Q(.) and X(.) are "aggregator" functions, which are assumed to be non-negative, non-decreasing and linearly homogenous.

As shown in O'Donnell [11], the aggregator function may take various forms depending on its parameters which can be vectors of input and output prices, vectors of representative prices and quantities, and Shephard [21] output/input distance functions. In this paper, Shephard's output and input distance functions, denoted as D_o and D_I respectively, are used as the output and input aggregator functions:

$$Q(.) = D_o(x_{it}, q) = \min\left\{\delta > 0: \left(\boldsymbol{x}_{it}, \frac{q}{\delta}\right) \in P\right\}, \quad (2\text{-a})$$
$$X(.) = D_I(x, q_{it}) = \max\left\{\rho > 0: \left(\frac{x}{\delta}, \boldsymbol{q}_{it}\right) \in P\right\}, \quad (2\text{-b})$$

where P is the production possibility set of the t period.

The distance functions can be estimated using the Data Envelopment Analysis (DEA) models developed by O'Donnell [12].

2.2 Measures of efficiency

The so called "total factor productivity efficiency" (TFPE) or overall productive efficiency of firm i for period t is defined as:

$$TFPE_{it} = \frac{TFP_{it}}{TFP^*} \le 1,$$
(3)

where TFP^* is the maximum TFP that is possible using the technology available in period t.

The output-oriented overall productive efficiency can be decomposed into three main components:

$$TFPE_{it} = OTE_{it} \times OSE_{it} \times RME_{it}, \tag{4}$$

where:

• *output-oriented technical efficiency (OTE)* measures the difference between observed TFP and the maximum TFP that is possible while holding the input-output mix and input level fixed;

• *output-oriented scale efficiency (OSE)* measures the difference between TFP at the technically efficient point and TFP at the technically scale efficient point; and

• *residual mix efficiency (RME)* measures the difference between the maximum TFP subject to the fixed output-input mix and the optimal output-input mix.

Figure 1 illustrates the relationship between measures of efficiency. The curve passing through point D is referred as a mix-restricted frontier - it is the boundary of the set of technically-feasible input-output all aggregate combinations that have the same input-output mix as the firm operating at the point A. The curve passing through point E is an unrestricted production frontier – it is the upper boundary of the production possibility with variable input-output mix. O'Donnell [11] shows how different measures of efficiency of firm i for period t (point A in Figure 1) can be expressed in terms of slopes of rays in aggregate quantity space. Its TFP is $TFP_{it} = \frac{Q_{it}}{x_{it}}$ slope(OA); the optimum TFP efficiency is defined as $TFP^* = \frac{Q_t^*}{x_t^*} = slope(OE)$; the TFP efficiency defined by equation (3) is $TFPE_{it} = \frac{slope(OA)}{slope(OE)}$; the output-oriented technical efficiency is $OTE_{it} = \frac{slope(OE)}{slope(OC)} = \frac{\frac{Q_{it}}{X_{it}}}{\frac{Q_{it}}{X_{it}}} = \frac{Q_{it}}{Q_{it}}$; the output-oriented scale efficiency is $OSE_{it} = \frac{slope(OC)}{slope(OD)} =$ $\frac{\overline{Q}_{it}}{\frac{X}{it}}_{it}; \text{ and the residual mix efficiency, } RME_{it} = \frac{slope(OD)}{slope(OE)} = \frac{\overline{Q}_{it}}{\overline{X}_{it}}_{\frac{\overline{X}_{it}}{\overline{X}_{it}}}$





Figure 1 Output-oriented measures of efficiency for a multiple-input multiple-output firm Source: Adapted from O'Donnell [11]

3 Data

A cross-sectional data set of Vietnamese seaports in 2016 is collected from Vietnam Seaport Association (VPA). The system consists of 44 seaports, located along the 3260 km coastline from the North to the South. Of which, the data of 40 seaports are available in the sample, which can be categorized into three groups locating in the northern, central and southern region. Due to the fact that the economic-social conditions of three regions are different, seaports in particular regions are significantly impacted by these conditions. In terms of ownership, these seaports can be owned either by provincial authorities or logistics companies. The latters are expected to manage seaports better because of their expertise and financial capability.

Estimating the efficiency of seaports requires the information of inputs and outputs. The inputs consist of a number of seaports' resources, which include infrastructure and building proxied by the total length of berths; in terms of land resource the terminal and workshop area are chosen as input variables; and the capital stock of seaports is proxied by the total number of handling equipment. There are a number of output variables that can be utilized including containerized cargo (in TEUs or MT), bulk cargo (MT), general and rolling freight (MT) [6]. In

case the sample includes both specific and general seaports the throughput variable is employed [6,22]. In this papers, two output variables are domestic and international throughput.

Table 1 describes input and output variables used to estimate seaport efficiency. In general, there is a difference in terms of the size of employed variables. For example, in terms of infrastructure input, the maximum berth length is 3,567 meter while the shortest is only 110 meter. A significant number of Vietnamese seaports have their berth length under international standard. According to World Bank [23], the required length of seaports should be at least 300 meter for containerships. Other seaports' resources including land and equipment also expose a substantial disparity. The information of outputs reveal a fact that the average export and import cargo volume through a Vietnamese seaport are approximately 3.5 times higher than domestic cargo throughput. This issue highlights the important role of international trade on Vietnam's economy.

Table 2 presents statistical description of input and output variables in different categories. While exportimport cargo volume through a Southern seaport stands at 7.15 million MT, only 2.94 million and 0.84 million tons of cargo were transported through a seaport located in the



Northern or Central area respectively. Southern seaports use more land resource than their rivals in the Northern and Central area. Seaports managed by different entities including local government and logistics companies. Accordingly, seaports belonging to the former have significantly smaller inputs and outputs.

	Source: [24]							
Variables		Unit	Min	Max	Mean	Standard Deviation		
Input	s							
	Total berth length	Meter	110	3,567	689	791		
	Terminal area	1000 m2	10,850	5,450,486	317,516	846,378		
	Warehouse area	1000 m2	850	596,550	35,613	99,604		
	Total number of handling equipment	Number	5	355	65	75		
Outpu	uts							
	Domestic cargo throughput	1000 MT	1,050	9,485,755	1,099,541	1,747,869		
	International cargo throughput	1000 MT	0	60,512,435	3,574,264	9,753,353		

Table 1 Description of input and output variables

 Table 2 Distribution of input and output variables by geographical, ownership and service factors

 Source: [24]

						source.	<u>[</u> =']						
No. Total of berth length Variables sea(in meter)		al ength er)	Terminal area (in m ²)		Wai area (in 1	WarehouseNoareaequipt(in m²)equipt		No. of quipment		Domestic throughput (in 1000 MT)		International throughput (in 1000 MT)	
	ports	Mean	S.D	Mean	S.D	Mean	S.D	Mean	S.D	Mean	S.D	Mean	S.D
Categories by geo Northern	graphical factor												
seaports Central	10	949	1,117	136,246	72,160	48,418	76,537	64	78	1,586,339	2,762,067	2,941,034	3,258,182
seaports Southern	16	433	306	142,885	208,715	9,517	8,537	49	44	586,463	717,812	841,423	1,690,981
seaports	14	796	809	646,573	1,351,526	56,290	150,849	84	94	1,338,203	1,470,872	7,149,819	15,470,522
Categories by serv Seaports with container services Seaports without container	vice factor 19	718	739	231,762	193,514	20,392	43,581	75	65	1,194,848	1,075,884	3,626,858	4,311,277
services	21	663	834	395,103	1,148,012	49,384	129,536	56	82	1,013,311	2,180,871	3,526,680	12,820,854
Categories by own Seaports managed by logistic SOEs Seaports managed by local	nership 18	981	950	545,136	1,206,503	47,521	134,026	103	95	1,261,787	1,291,098	6,773,999	13,703,706
government	22	451	522	131,282	185,480	25,869	55,949	34	25	966,794	2,037,551	956,300	2,020,306

4 Empirical results

Table 3 presents the estimated efficiency measures of individual Vietnamese seaports, including output-oriented overall productive efficiency (TFPE), output-oriented technical efficiency (OTE), output-oriented scale efficiency (OSE), and output-oriented residual mix efficiency (ORME). There are only two efficient seaports if using the overall productive efficiency measure, including Chan May and Tan Cang Sai Gon port. The variation of efficiency level among Vietnamese seaports is significant. While having five seaports with TFPE index higher than 90%, there are 17 seaports under 10%. Outputoriented technical efficiency reveals the capability of seaport operators in terms of exploiting their scarce inputs to generate as much output as possible. Under this criterion five of ten Northern seaports (Quang Ninh, Cam Pha, Transvina, Dinh Vu and Nam Hai Dinh Vu port), four of 16 Central seaports (Quang Binh, Cua Viet, Chan May, and

Vung Ro port) and seven of 14 Southern seaports (Binh Duong, Tan Cang Sai Gon, Sai Gon, Tan Thuan Dong, Ben Nghe, TCIT and My Tho port) are the best-practice operators. Obviously, there is a difference when using TFPE and OTE for benchmarking seaport system in the context that most of previous researches on seaport efficiency are preferred in the latter measure.

Output-oriented scale efficiency identifies the gap between temporary and optimal scale of seaports' inputs and is a roof for adjusting the seaport size to raise the benefit of scale effect. For example, the OSE score of Quang Ninh port is 0.8002 and its operator, accordingly, can reduce/increase the size of the port's inputs to obtain a nearly 20% increase of its TFPE. The number of seaports achieving the scale effect is eight. Of which, four ports locate in the northern area, three in the southern area and only one operating in the Central of Vietnam.



Seaports	0	X	TFP	TFP*	TFPE	OTE	OSE	ORME
Ouang Ninh	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	2,4505	0.4081	1.0000	0.8002	0.5100
Cam Pha	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0539	0.9489	1.0000	1.0000	0.9489
Hai Phong	0.9585	1.3883	0.6904	2.1776	0.3170	0.9585	0.8914	0.3710
Đoan Xa	0.0911	1.2208	0.0747	1.2518	0.0596	0.0911	0.9700	0.6745
Vat Cach	0.7670	1.2876	0.5957	0.8092	0.7362	0.7670	1.0000	0.9598
Cua Cam Hai Phong	0.3047	1.0000	0.3047	2.0826	0.1463	0.3047	0.5595	0.8582
Transvina	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	11.73	0.0853	1.0000	0.1645	0.5185
Đinh Vu	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0004	0.9996	1.0000	1.0000	0.9996
Nam Hai Đinh Vu	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.3175	0.7590	1.0000	1.0000	0.7590
Tan Cang 128 – Hai Phong	0.7668	2.2424	0.3420	1.3463	0.2540	0.7668	0.5655	0.5858
Thanh Hoa	0.0675	2.3804	0.0284	0.5872	0.0483	0.0675	0.9222	0.7759
Nghe Tinh	0.5276	5.1247	0.1030	0.7625	0.1350	0.5276	0.3174	0.8062
Vung Ang Viet Lao	0.3542	2.3991	0.1476	3.5460	0.0416	0.3542	0.8433	0.1393
Quang Binh	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	117.86	0.0085	1.0000	0.0542	0.1568
Cua Viet	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	52.4547	0.0191	1.0000	0.0408	0.4681
Thuan An	0.1187	1.1988	0.0990	1.9862	0.0498	0.1187	0.6813	0.6158
Chan May	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000
Đa Nang	0.8772	1.4962	0.5863	2.9832	0.1965	0.8772	0.5781	0.3875
Hai Son	0.0254	1.5608	0.0163	1.1498	0.0142	0.0254	0.8305	0.6732
Ку На	0.0676	1.3774	0.0491	3.5983	0.0136	0.0676	0.7316	0.2750
Ky Ha – Quang Nam	0.0440	1.0772	0.0408	6.1617	0.0066	0.0440	0.7190	0.2086
Quy Nhon	0.6547	2.0864	0.3138	2.3584	0.1331	0.6547	0.6634	0.3065
Thi Nai	0.5336	1.3862	0.3850	0.8760	0.4395	0.5336	0.8742	0.9422
Vung Ro	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	63.8482	0.0157	1.0000	0.0366	0.4290
Nha Trang	0.1653	2.7911	0.0592	0.5434	0.1090	0.1653	0.9770	0.6749
Cam Ranh	0.1585	4.9738	0.0319	0.7732	0.0412	0.1585	0.3195	0.8136
Đong Nai	0.9455	1.5849	0.5966	117.59	0.0051	0.9455	0.6565	0.0082
Binh Duong	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	3.2816	0.3047	1.0000	1.0000	0.3047
Tan Cang Sai Gon	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000
Sai Gon	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	10.6078	0.0943	1.0000	0.3367	0.2801
Tan Thuan Đong	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	5.5094	0.1815	1.0000	0.2755	0.6588
Ben Nghe	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	7.2012	0.1389	1.0000	0.5099	0.2724
Bong Sen (Lotus)	0.2676	2.3342	0.1147	1.2353	0.0928	0.2676	0.9059	0.3828
Rau qua	0.0892	1.0000	0.0892	2.8689	0.0311	0.0892	0.4033	0.8645
Phu My	0.4751	2.4569	0.1934	0.9603	0.2014	0.4751	0.8455	0.5014
TCIT	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.3283	0.7528	1.0000	1.0000	0.7528
CMIT	0.9776	1.0199	0.9586	1.0684	0.8972	0.9776	0.9956	0.9218
My Tho	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	3.5642	0.2806	1.0000	0.5177	0.5420
Vinh Long	0.0617	1.5471	0.0399	4.7440	0.0084	0.0617	0.9320	0.1461
Can Tho	0.5047	3.0122	0.1676	0.9064	0.1849	0.5775	0.3201	1.0000
GeoMean	0.4382	1.4136	0.3100	2.7207	0.1139	0.4397	0.5470	0.4738

Table 3 Efficiency measures of it	individual Vietnamese seaports
Source: Author	r's calculations

Notes: X is aggregate input, Q is aggregate output, TFP is total factor productivity index, TFP* is the maximum TFP, TFPE is TFP efficiency (overall productive efficiency), OTE is output-oriented technical efficiency, OSE is output-oriented scale efficiency, and ORME is output-oriented residual mix efficiency.

Output-oriented residual mix efficiency determines the ability of firms to composite different outputs and inputs for generating the maximum ratio of aggregate output and



aggregate input. In this paper, we classify Vietnamese seaports' outputs into domestic and international cargo throughput. ORME in this case measures the seaports' capability to maximize the aggregate cargo throughput from given two mentioned outputs. However, due to the Vietnamese maritime regulations, there are seaports serving only domestic cargoes and a limited number of seaports capable to serve both types of outputs. As a result, they are impossible to achieve maximal mix efficiency. Increasing ORME via better compositing adjustable inputs (warehouse area, cargo handling equipment) can be a feasible solution. Empirical results show that three seaports achieve the maximum level of mix efficiency, including Chan May, Tan Cang Sai Gon and Can Tho port.

In general, the estimated mean of TFPE is extremely low at 0.1139, pointing out that the seaport system is underperformed and inputs are employed substantially inefficient. This underperformance can be due to a number of factors which are found via decomposing the overall productive efficiency. First, a low level of technical efficiency at 0.4397 provides evidence of poor management quality of Vietnamese seaports' operators, while there is a potential to increase the temporary outputs by 56.03%. In fact, the Vietnamese seaports are mostly a cluster of many small terminals operated by different entities and not connected via either contiguous wharf or road links. Subsequently, additional land-side infrastructure is required to connect multiple marine terminals and more dredging and channel maintenance expenses are also required for facilitating vessel navigation to various port locations. Another subsequence is the difficulties in setting up transshipment hubs due to a lack of inter-terminal connections and dispersion of cargo volumes.

Second, scale effect is not well utilized with the low mean value of OSE standing at 0.5470. The fragmentation of Vietnam's current port system makes individual ports unable to leverage economies of scale and duplicates their operating costs due to congestion at certain terminals and under-utilization in other terminals.

Third, mix efficiency, recorded at a value of 0.4738, is the last factor contributing to the overall underperformance of Vietnamese seaport sector. There is a substantial room to increase this criterion through coordinating properly output and input variables.

Figure 2 demonstrates the variation of overall productive efficiency and its components including technical, scale and mix efficiency. Seaports in the sample are organized in their increasing TFPE score order. The figure exposes a significant disparity of performance among Vietnamese seaports.



Notes: TFPE is output-oriented overall productive efficiency, OTE is output-oriented technical efficiency, OSE is output-oriented scale efficiency, and ORME is output-oriented residual mix efficiency.

Table 4 illustrates the figures of seaport efficiency in groups categorized by geographical factor, types of services and ownership. It is clear that seaports in different areas of Vietnam reveal a distinction. While those located in the North reach the highest level of overall productive efficiency (0.3245), their partners in the central area are the least efficient (0.0513). Central seaports obtain the lowest technical efficiency at 0.2722, exposing the poor management quality of the operators in one hand. On the other hand, the small volume of cargo transported through these hubs is another cause when the central area

contributes only three percents of the total national throughput [23]. Inspire of having better overall performance, southern seaports are less efficient in terms of scale efficiency if compared with the central ones (0.2790 versus 0.4094). This fact can be explained by the oversupply of southern maritime terminals resulted from the concession granting for new terminal building projects [23,25].

Seaports serving container ships are more overall efficient due to their better technical and scale performance. Containerization technology can be seen as



the main factor contributing to the outperformance of container terminals if compared with those only server traditional cargoes (bulk and general cargoes). Over the last 10 years, the container cargo has increased at a rapid speed at 20 percent annually, while on average, a 16 percent growth rate is recorded for all types of cargo through Vietnamese seaports [24].

Ownership is also found as a significant factor that differentiates the performance of Vietnamese seaport system. Those under the management of logistics SOEs attain an overall efficiency score at 0.1899, while their rivals owned by local governments have their efficiency value equivalent to less than a half (0.0755). Technical efficiency is the cause of this substantial disparity, exposing the low quality of business administration of local governments. Logistics companies with superior experience in their specified businesses are the better operators.

Table 4 Decomposing Vietnamese seaports' overall productive efficiency Source: Author's calculations

Efficiency measures	No. of		Overall productive efficiency		Technical efficiency		Scale efficiency		Residual mix efficiency	
Lindency moustres	sea_ ports	GeoMean	S.D	GeoMean	S.D	GeoMean	S.D	GeoMean	S.D	
Categories by geographical factor										
Northern seaports	10	0.3245	0.3405	0.6599	0.3121	0.7172	0.2672	0.6857	0.2086	
Central seaports	16	0.0513	0.2458	0.2722	0.3841	0.4094	0.3281	0.4599	0.2738	
Southern seaports	14	0.1358	0.3206	0.5691	0.3561	0.2790	0.2790	0.3319	0.3319	
Categories by service factor Seaports with										
container services	19	0.1721	0.2981	0.6350	0.3135	0.6593	0.2649	0.4111	0.2904	
Seaports without container services	21	0.0790	0.3450	0.3153	0.4060	0.4620	0.3352	0.5422	0.2864	
Categories by ownership										
Seaports managed by logistic SOEs	18	0.1899	0.3190	0.6272	0.3057	0.6068	0.2801	0.4989	0.2913	
Seaports managed by local government	22	0.0755	0.3210	0.3288	0.4194	0.5024	0.3270	0.4570	0.2821	

5 Conclusion

Using the data set of Vietnamese seaports in 2016 and following the method of O'Donnell [11,12], we measure overall productive efficiency of these ports and decompose into a number of efficiency measures, including technical, scale and mix efficiency. In general, the results point out the underperformance of Vietnamese seaport system, using the overall or any component measures of efficiency.

Particularly, ports locating in different regions reveal a disparity of performance. Northern ports are the most efficient ones compared with their partners in the Central and the South. While having better overall productive efficiency, southern ports are the least efficient if using scale efficiency measure. Seaports providing containership services are more efficient due to their better technical and scale efficiency. Ownership is also effective to seaports' production when ports operated under the logistics companies perform better than those under local government.

This study contributes to the literature of port performance via applying a complete measure of efficiency following the work of O'Donnell [11,12] in the context of an emerging economy like Vietnam. This measure is believed to be more comprehensive than the common measure of efficiency, technical efficiency that is mostly used in the literature.

Further studies on Vietnamese seaport performance can be conducted if the time series data is available; accordingly, technical progress of these seaports can be observed. While many Vietnam's seaports are conducting "Green port" strategy, integrating environmental factors such as carbon dioxide emission from ships in Total Factor Productivity models could improve the results and make researches of Vietnamese seaports more comprehensive.

References

- DRECHSEL, T., TENREYRO, S.: Commodity booms and busts in emerging economies, *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 112, No. May, pp. 200-218, 2018. doi:10.1016/j.jinteco.2017.12.009
- WU, Y.-C. J., GOH, M.: Container port efficiency in emerging and more advanced markets, *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, Vol. 46, No. 6, pp. 1030-1042, 2010. doi:10.1016/j.tre.2010.01.002
- [3] YAP, W.Y.: Container trade and shipping connectivity of Vietnam: Implications of comprehensive and progressive agreement for trans-pacific partnership and 21st century maritime silk road, *International Journal of Shipping and Transport Logistics*, Vol. 11, No. 1, pp. 94-116, 2018. doi:10.1504/IJSTL.2019.096873
- [4] THAI, V. V., YEO, G.-T., PAK, J.-Y.: Comparative analysis of port competency requirements in Vietnam and Korea, *Maritime Policy & Management*, Vol. 43, No. 5, pp. 614-629, 2016. doi:10.1080/03088839.2015.1106017
- [5] KUTIN, N., NGUYEN, T. T., VALLEE, T.: Relative efficiencies of ASEAN container ports based on data envelopment analysis, *The Asian Journal of Shipping*



and Logistics, Vol. 33, No. 2, pp. 67-77, 2017. doi:10.1016/j.ajsl.2017.06.004

- [6] NGUYEN, H.-O., NGUYEN, H.-V., CHANG, Y.-T., CHIN, A. T., TONGZON, J.: Measuring port efficiency using bootstrapped DEA: the case of Vietnamese ports, *Maritime Policy & Management*, Vol. 43, No. 5, pp. 644-659, 2016. doi:10.1080/03088839.2015.1107922
- [7] CHANG, V., TOVAR, B.: Efficiency and productivity changes for Peruvian and Chilean ports terminals: A parametric distance functions approach, *Transport Policy*, Vol. 31, No. January, pp. 83-94, 2014. doi:10.1016/j.tranpol.2013.11.007
- [8] TOVAR, B., WALL, A.: Can ports increase traffic while reducing inputs? Technical efficiency of Spanish Port Authorities using a directional distance function approach, *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, Vol. 71, No. January, pp. 128-140, 2015. doi:10.1016/j.tra.2014.11.003
- [9] CHANG, V., TOVAR, B.: Metafrontier analysis on productivity for West Coast of South Pacific terminals, *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, Vol. 103, No. September, pp. 118-134, 2017. doi:10.1016/j.tra.2016.12.012
- BALK, B. M.: Scale efficiency and productivity change, *Journal of Productivity Analysis*, Vol. 15, No. 3, pp. 159-183, 2001. doi:10.1023/A:1011117324278
- [11] O'DONNELL, C. J.: An aggregate quantity-price framework for measuring and decomposing productivity and profitability change, CEPA Working Papers Series, WP072008, School of Economics, University of Queensland, Australia, 2008.
- [12] O'DONNELL, C. J.: Nonparametric estimates of the components of productivity and profitability change in US agriculture, *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, Vol. 94, No. 4, pp. 873-890, 2012. doi:10.1093/ajae/aas023
- [13] DE, P.: Total factor productivity growth: Indian ports in the era of globalisation, *Maritime Economics & Logistics*, Vol. 8, No. 4, pp. 366-386, 2006. doi:10.1057/palgrave.mel.9100164
- [14] PRESCOTT, E.: Needed: A Theory of Total Factor Productivity Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis, Research Department Staff Report 242, 1997.
- [15] MORRISON, P.C.J., NEHRING, R.: Product diversification, production systems, and economic performance in US agricultural production, *Journal* of econometrics, Vol. 126, No. 2, pp. 525-548, 2005. doi:10.1016/j.jeconom.2004.05.012
- [16] MORRISON, P.C.J., NEHRING, R., BANKER, D.: Productivity, Economies, and Efficiency in US Agriculture: A look at contracts, *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, Vol. 86, No. 5, pp. 1308-1314, 2004. doi:10.1111/j.0002-9092.2004.00682.x

- [17] CAPALBO, S.M.: Measuring the components of aggregate productivity growth in US agriculture., *Western Journal of Agricultural Economics*, Vol. 13, No. 7, pp. 53-62, 1998. doi:10.22004/ag.econ.32146
- [18] NGUYEN, H-O, NGHIEM, H-S, CHANG, Y-T.: A regional perspective of port performance using metafrontier analysis: The case study of Vietnamese ports, *Maritime Economics and Logistics*, Vol. 20, No. 1, pp. 112-130, 2018. doi:10.1057/s41278-017-0061-0
- [19] LE, P.T, NGUYEN, H-O.: Influences of operational and market conditions on seaport efficiency in newly emerging economies: the case of Vietnam, paper prensented at the 3rd Belt and Road conference, organised at the South RMIT Vietnam campus, 2018.
- [20] LE, PT, HARVIE, C., ARJOMANDI, A.: Testing for differences in technical efficiency among groups within an industry, *Applied Economics Letters*, Vol. 24, No. 3, pp. 159-162, 2017. doi:10.1080/13504851.2016.1173172
- [21] SHEPHARD, R. W.: Theory of Cost and Production Functions, Princeton University Press. Princeton, New Jersey, 1970.
- [22] BICHOU, K.: An empirical study of the impacts of operating and market conditions on container-port efficiency and benchmarking, *Research in Transportation Economics*, Vol. 42, No. 1, pp. 28-37, 2013. doi:10.1016/j.retrec.2012.11.009
- [23] World Bank: 'Efficient Logistics: A Key to Vietnam's Competitiveness', Report No 83031, [Online], Available: http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/e n/646871468132885170/Efficient-logistics-a-key-to-Vietnams-competitiveness [05. January 2020], 2014.
- [24] VINAMARINE (Vietnam Maritime Administration): Vietnam Maritime Statistical Data, [Online], Available: http://www.vinamarine.gov.vn/Index.asp x, [05. January 2020], 2017.
- [25] World Bank. 'Market Economy for a Middle-Income Vietnam', Vietnam Development Report No.65980, World Bank, Washington, D.C, [Online], Avilable: http://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2012/01/ 12/vietnam-development-report-vdr-2012-marketeconomy-middle-income-country [05. January 2020], 2012.

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.





doi:10.22306/al.v7i2.156

Received: 03 Feb. 2020 Accepted: 26 Mar. 2020

MOTORCYCLE TAXI IN ADDRESSING THE RURAL TRANSPORT CONUNDRUM

Samora Marchele Obudho

Rongo University, Department of Social Sciences, P.O. Box 103-40404, Rongo, Kenya, marchelesamora@gmail.com (corresponding author)

Wilson A.P. Otengah

Rongo University, Department of Social Sciences, P.O. Box 103-40404, Rongo, Kenya,

nyakonia2000@yahoo.co.uk

Taji I. Shivachi

Rongo University, Department of Social Sciences, P.O. Box 103-40404, Rongo, Kenya,

shivachitaji@gmail.com

Keywords: motorcycle taxi, rural transport conundrum, Kenya

Abstract: Rural people need transport services to access basic services and livelihoods. This study analyses the extent to which the motorcycle taxi addresses rural transport problems. Such an analysis could inform the future of rural transport interventions. Rongo, a rural sub-county in Kenya, was chosen for the study. The analysis results using data from 289 household heads show that predominant activities in the study area transformed motorcycle taxi activities throughout the day. Motorcycle taxis offered useful rural transport services and complemented many public transport systems in facilitating access to places, markets, facilities, and activities. Respondents associated the physical characteristics of the motorcycle taxi with motivations for its use along with its actual use. Although most of the respondents expressed satisfaction with the motorcycle taxi sector, there was a clear difference between groups. Respondents mainly related negative reasons to motorcycle taxi riders' mannerism, unprofessional driving, and poor safety. This paper concludes that the motorcycle taxi facilitates the movement and operations in rural villages. Using motorcycle taxis have shown to have a close link to rural areas and rural life. This study calls on transport practitioners to rethink the concept and image of sustainable rural mobility and identify with rural informal motorcycle taxi transport as well. For equitable, accessible and sustainable rural transport, the transport practitioners need to empower and expand on existing realities in rural areas.

1 Introduction

Rural people need transport services to access basic services and livelihoods. However, poor maintenance and provision of road infrastructure plus poor availability of transport services, unreliability, high fares, and security issues are widespread restrictions on rural travel. There are particular ownership restrictions on motor vehicles and intermediate means of transportation to rural elites. Certain vulnerable groups—the young, the old, infirm, and women—face particular mobility difficulties; with women and girls, this may include cultural constraints on their movement [1].

In many rural and urban parts of sub-Saharan Africa, motorcycle taxis (MTs) have become the most used means of motorised transport [2]. This could have been due to increased transport demand and inadequate conventional rural transport services [3] such as (four-wheel) taxis or buses. In these rural areas, MTs complement existing public transport services by transporting people between villages and the road network where long-distance transport services are available. They play a vital role in linking people to services, farms, and markets. Nowadays, rural people use MTs to make journeys that they previously made on foot. The MTs operate on a relatively short distance (usually less than 10-20 km) from 'stands' in towns and business centres and stops along the major roads for passenger service providing access to feeder routes [4]. The MTs begin in urban areas [5], where there is a high demand for point-to-point transport services, it stretches out to the periurban areas and then to broader villages before entering remote rural areas [6]. Men appear to dominate activities related to MT transport [7].

The fares charged by the MT riders vary depending on distance, time, locations, weather, day, or even location of approaching a MT rider for example on the road or at a stage. However, the user can either bargain or search for another rider at a more reasonable price [8]. The fares go up during rainy [9] and may decrease by approximately 60% if the MT carries two passengers [5]. Although rural MT users often complain that the fares per kilometre for rural MTs are typically more costly and say they prefer to use conventional (four-wheel) taxis or buses, when these are available [10], it is the lack of timeliness (or absence) of such alternatives that provide the 'market' for MTs [5,11].

MTs provides even the most remote rural communities with a means to access essential services and livelihoods. According to [11], MTs offer benefits such as flexible





access to the major routes plied by lower-cost public transport services such as conventional (four-wheel) taxis. It also provides door-to-door travel, which is of particular use to older or disabled passengers. They offer timely transport of people and goods, with no waiting time, and take people straight to their required destinations. Rural inhabitants appreciate this [10]. The efficiency advantages that rural people get when they can access MTs by mobile phones are impressive [1,5]. As noted by [12], several riders use mobile phones so that customers can call them.

Even though people use MTs for public transport in both urban and rural areas, their operations in urban areas are reportedly becoming a nuisance due to recklessness, lack of lane discipline, unsafe manoeuvres and high incidence of crashes [13,14]. The same cannot be said of rural areas because of the low volumes of traffic, absence of congestion on the networks, lack of alternative modes of public transport among others. According to [15], the main driving force of MT growth is socio-economic considerations including the low initial purchase costs, low operating cost that are typically linked to the superior fuel economy or reliability of MTs relative to cars, their relatively low maintenance costs, and perhaps the main employment opportunities for unemployed youth in Kenya.

In most countries, the law allows for one driver and one passenger only [11]. However, one can see four to five riders on a single MT, seriously overloading acceptable limits on motorcycles for travellers [16]. The result is that where there are many MTs in use, there are often increasing numbers of disadvantages, to which the authorities have to respond [8]. Government efforts to regulate the MT market in Kenya have had the problem by distorting market structures. This is probably because policies planned to regulate the market have failed to consider the peculiar rural contexts and concerns. The government either lack awareness or may be ignorant of the rural transport situation.

The sheer numbers and scale of uptake in rural Kenya probably show that many people believe the benefits offered by MTs outweigh the risks [7]. Existing studies on MT transport focus on sub-Saharan and Asian cities, but rarely in rural areas. They concentrated on the problems, regulatory approaches, and barriers for change while focusing only on MT riders–demographics, ownership, and associations. Overall, there is a knowledge gap on the extent of MT transport services in rural Kenya. Besides, familiarity with the trip purpose, passenger profile and needs, travel patterns and user preference in rural areas is also lacking. This paper analyses the extent to which the MT addresses rural transport problems, taking Rongo sub-County in Kenya as a typical case.

2 Methodology

This is a cross-sectional descriptive survey that used a mixed-method approach that used different methods, including a survey, observation, and analysis of secondary

data, for collection and analysis of qualitative and quantitative data. The study was conducted in Rongo sub-County, in Migori County, Kenya, in the months of November and December 2019. The study purposively selected Rongo sub-County as the study site because the sub-County is a typical case of a peri-urban Kenyan setting. The main respondents comprised all the heads of household in the Sub-County, from whom the study drew a sample size of 395 household heads. The study determined the sample size using Taro Yamane's formula [17]. The formula states (1):

$$n = N/[1+N(e)^2]$$
 (1)

where n is the required sample size, N is the size of the target population and given as 29,087 household heads [18], and e is the error term (.05). Respondents were selected through the two-stage cluster sampling technique, in which the study area was first divided into the seven locations that comprise Rongo sub-County. Two locations were purposively selected - Central Kamagambo which is predominantly urban and West Kamagambo which is predominantly rural. A sampling frame was drawn for each of the selected locations, from which respondents were picked using the systematic random sampling method. The study complemented data from main respondents by information gathered from key informants, who included six village elders, four ward administrators, and two chiefs. It purposively selected all key informants from the study area. Further, the study used convenient sampling to select 16 focus group discussion (FGD) participants based on their accessibility and readiness to take part.

Research assistants administered a semi-structured questionnaire to the main respondents. The questionnaire obtained information about the MT travel patterns, MT trip distance, frequency of MT use, reasons for MT use and respondents' satisfaction with MTs. To complement the questionnaire, the study conducted two FGDs, one in each of the selected locations. Each FGDs had eight participants of the same sex and age group and discussed the MT travel patterns, MT trip distance, frequency of MT use, reasons for MT use and satisfaction with MTs. The principal investigators conducted all the key informant interviews to collect data about travel patterns of MT users; average MT trip distance; frequency of MT use; MT trip purposes; reasons for MT use; riding styles of MT users; and MT users' satisfaction. The study also observed MT trip density at different times of the day and riding styles of MT users at the main termini and along the major roads in the sub-County.

This study sought informed consent from the respondents. It also assured the respondents of their anonymity and confidentiality of all information obtained. Quantitative data collected were analysed descriptively using IBM SPSS V.25 software and findings presented in frequency tables and bar charts. Qualitative data were analysed thematically.



3 Result and discussion

This study achieved a response rate of 73.2%. It distributed 395 questionnaires out of which the respondents duly filled and returned 289. Based on [18], the study deemed the response rate as adequate for the generalisation of the study findings to the target population. The study attributed part of the non-response to the non-availability of respondents who were busy

working during the day and were reluctant to take part in the study because it could interfere with their earnings. The respondents composed of 96% and 4%, household heads and spouses respectively, primarily indicating the reliability of the responses as the study assumed them to have accurate facts about the status of household travel activities. Table 1 presents the socio-demographic characteristics of the respondents.

	Total N=2	89		
Socio-demographic Chara	cteristic	Frequency (n)	Percentage (%)	
Gender	Male	230	79.6	
	Female	59	20.4	
Age group	Below 20 years	12	4.2	
	21-30 years	61	21.1	
	31-40 years	94	32.5	
	41-50 years	59	20.4	
	51-70 years	45	15.6	
	Above 70 years	18	6.2	
Level of Educational	No formal schooling	5	1.7	
Attainment	Primary	72	24.9	
	Secondary	126	43.6	
	Post-secondary	86	29.8	
Marital Status	Single	13	4.5	
	Married	206	71.3	
	Divorced/ Separated	31	10.7	
	Widow/ Widower	39	13.5	
Main occupation of	Student	24	8.3	
Household Head	Petty trading	63	21.8	
	Farmer	154	53.3	
	Civil servant	17	5.9	
	Employed in private sector	31	10.7	
Average Family Monthly	Less than 10,000	108	37.4	
Income in Kenya	10,001- 25,000	84	29.1	
Shillings (Kshs).	25,001-35,000	58	20.1	
2	Over 35,000	39	13.5	

Note: Kshs. 106.50 (Kenya) = \$1.00 (Dollar)

As shown in Table 1, over two-thirds (79.6%) of households in the study area male-headed, as is typical of rural areas in Kenya [19]. This finding has a direct bearing on transport choices, considering that more than half of passengers are usually male [12] The finding also indicate the patriarchal nature of the study area, which could have a bearing on transport use patterns. The study also found that slightly more than half (52.9%) of all household heads are aged between 31-50 years, as stated in Table 1. Of greater interest, however, is the revelation that one-tenth of the household heads were below the age of 20 (4.2%) or above the age of 70 years (6.2%), in conformity with the population structure in developing countries.

Data in Table 1 shows that the level of literacy in the study area is relatively high, with approximately two-thirds of the respondents (63.4%) having attained at least secondary school education out of which 29.8% of them have attained post-secondary education. Only about 1.7% of the respondents did not have any formal schooling. This can result from the free primary education programme in Kenya which was reintroduced by the National Rainbow Coalition (NARC) government that was elected into office in December 2002 [20]. The findings of the study are so synonymous to the rural area because secondary education level is the limit of free education opportunity in Kenya where education is still affordable by the average poor. In most cases, those who meet requirements for higher education give up at this stage due to the cost involved. Such people settle for other means of livelihood thus underlining the potential of MT transport in the provision of employment to various categories of people in rural Kenya.

Over two-thirds (71.3%) of the respondents were married, and only 4.5% were single and had never been married, as shown in Table 1. The marital orientation of an individual, to a great deal, is a determinant of engagement



in certain occupations, and more often, adult responsibilities can always compel people to travel take up any engagement provided gains are promised. Married people may have to travel on a daily or regular basis for employment. Through MT transport, family ties are established, reaffirmed, and consolidated [21]. According to [22], the average household size in Rongo sub-County was at 4.3 members. In the present study, the average household size is 4.1 which is close to 4.3 hence consistent.

The study also revealed that slightly more than half (53.3%) of the respondents were engaged in peasant farming and approximately fifth (21.8%) were engaged in petty trading, as stated in Table 1. Of important note, only 16% of the respondents were in formal employment. This suggests that the majority of the population in Rongo subcounty are small-scale farmers who need to access markets for sale produce and purchase of inputs. They want transportation services that allow them to travel with baskets or sacks from and to those markets. The results are in line with [23], that the main socio-economic activity of Rongo sub-County is agriculture. Rural Kenya is mostly characterised as an agrarian region as most of its inhabitants remain heavily dependent on agriculture as the key employment source.

The above findings could explain the fact that on average, the majority of the respondents (66.5%) earn less than Kenya Shillings 25,000 per month, as stated in Table 1. This implies that unemployment is high relative to levels of income. According to [15], socio-economic considerations are the primary driving force behind the growth of MTs. Among the study respondents, MTs can be

profitable to own and profitable to lease because of lowcost capital and low operating costs that usually have to do with superior fuel efficiency or vehicle performance. Perhaps the most important in Kenya's rural context is the employment opportunities it offers to our unemployed youths.

3.1 Motorcycle Taxis in Addressing Rural Public Transport Problem

This study analyses the extent to which the MT addresses rural transport problems by looking at travel patterns of MT users; average distance covered during the MT trips; frequency of MT use; reasons for MT use; the MT safety concerns, and MT user's satisfaction in the study area. The findings are discussed below.

3.1.1 The Travel Patterns of Motorcycle Taxi Users

The study observed the density of MT trips based on time of the day within Rongo sub-County to identify the users, common trip origin, destination, and time of the day of MT trips. The most exciting aspect was that motorbike taxi trips seem to be scattered from various areas while destination points are more focused on Rongo town. Whereas the town is the focus of most MT trips, time changes based on MT trip origins and destinations in Rongo sub-County could better inform the purpose and pattern of the trip. Therefore, Table 2 shows the percentage of trips that the respondents took at different times depending on their origin and destination points throughout the day.

		Perc	centage	of point	nts of o	rigin (O) and	points	of dest	tinatior	n (D)
		based on time of day									
Category	Point of Interest	05:	01-	10:	01-	13:	01-	16:	01-	20:	01-
		10	:00	13	:00	16:	00	20:	:00	05:	:00
		0	D	0	D	0	D	0	D	0	D
	Regional centre	7	9	13	15	15	15	17	11	14	9
Formal commercial	Main markets	9	12	14	15	15	15	17	12	12	7
Formal commercial and business areas	Public institutions	8	9	12	11	14	14	11	10	8	6
	Places of leisure	4	2	4	2	2	2	5	3	20	18
Hospitals and health fac	cilities	4	4	4	5	4	11	5	9	3	3
Education control	Universities	3	11	7	11	12	9	8	7	4	4
Education centres	Schools	0	16	0	3	2	1	12	0	0	0
Small-scale and inform	al business areas	9	9	9	10	10	12	11	10	11	12
Agricultural areas		5	5	5	4	4	2	3	2	3	1
Centres of worship		3	3	3	4	2	2	4	3	1	3
Residential places of	Below 10,000	16	6	14	6	7	7	5	14	8	11
respondents based on	10,001-25,000	14	5	9	4	4	5	4	10	6	10
their income levels in 25,001-35,000		12	4	4	4	3	4	2	9	4	8
Kshs.	35,001 and above	6	3	3	2	3	4	1	5	3	7
Tota	1	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100

Table 2 Points of origin (O) and destination (D) of motorcycle taxi trips

Note: Kshs. 106.50 (Kenya) = \$1.00 (Dollar)



Table 2 reveals two contradictory phenomena. First is the revelation that MT trips to commercial areas peak from mid-morning to mid-afternoon. The heavy flow of MT traffic at these hours indicates that Rongo town is essentially a daytime economy. Interestingly, these peak hours also apply to health facilities. Even more interesting, is the revelation that although FGDs pointed to the use MTs to commute to work, Table 2 does not show a marked intensity in traffic during early morning and late evenings, which are the typical times for reporting to, and leaving work. The second phenomenon that can be gleaned from Table 2 is the fact that even though the intensity of MT traffic reduces from late afternoon, it does not die off completely. This shows that while Rongo is mainly a daytime economy, activities continue, albeit at a slower pace, even through the night. During such times, MT is the only mode of transport for people without private cars. Remarkably, from 20:00 to 04:59 between evening and dawn, MT trips in places of leisure escalated. Other purposes reported during this period travelling to places of worship, when it is risky to walk at night. Also, respondents resonated that those who arrive late in the night from cities using public buses usually use MTs to travel to residential areas.

Table 2 also shows that the points of origin and destination in the morning and after working hours, were mostly residential areas, particularly among the respondents with low levels of income. This reflects MTs' dependence among respondents with low levels of income. The activities of MT in medical and educational centres were fairly consistent, with increased demand at a specific time interval. Rongo University, for example, was the most common destination, especially if lectures were before noon. Besides, there were high MT activity after-school hours between 13:01 and 18:00 and between 10:00 and 16:00 which is normally the lecture periods for Rongo

University and visiting hours for hospitals. Variation of MT trips destination and origin with time highlights the purposes and drivers of the MT trips. The early period, 05:01 to 10:00, showed a high number of trips, showed many trips, especially from residential areas. This explains that the trips entering these major roads were from distant parts of Rongo Sub-County and even surrounding areas outside the sub-County to go to school or work. This was true in areas of small business centres such as Kanyawanga, Kangeso, and Opapo.

There were many MT trips concentrated within the economically active area of Rongo town between 10:01 and 13:00 working hours. This was heightened between 13:01 and 16:00 especially within the socially and economically active places. Table 2 further shows a clear shift in the activities from the town to smaller centres in the late afternoon, a sign that commuters were returning home. This shows that the day population of Rongo town is higher than its night population and that many people live away from the town. The findings are in line with related studies showing that MT trip purposes vary from one user to the other. For example, [21] argues that the rural population mainly uses the MT service to maintain or create social interactions. According to [5], produce markets, shops, government and private services, clinics or hospitals and high schools are the key destination for rural MT services. Major activities in Rongo sub-County, especially commercial activities, change with the predominant MT trips over various periods. The change of trip patterns corresponds with the rural people's daily life and activities to reach different markets, places, and activities.

3.1.2 Average Motorcycle Taxi Trip Distance

The MT trip distance was established by looking at frequency distribution for all the MT trip's distance in kilometres. The findings are as presented in Figure 1.



Figure 1 Motorcycle taxi trip distance



Figure 1 illustrates that most of the MT trips were between 600 meters (m) and 2 kilometres (km), while longdistance trips of over 6 km were lesser. The results of the study showed that most MT trips were short, with an average distance of 2.98 km for all trips. Amongst the respondents who knew the time they took on a MT trip indicated that the time taken ranged between 3 minutes and 30 minutes. These findings reveal that people in the study area mostly used MTs for travel between shorter distances. Most respondents expressed a preference for conventional (four-wheel) public buses or taxis for long-distance travel.

The study finding on MT trip distance is consistent with the results of [12], who found that MTs provide a lowcapacity, short-distance services to serve low-density demands. They are complementary to conventional (fourwheel) taxis or public busses by transporting people between villages and the roads where longer-distance transport services operate [5,6]. Starkey [6] also argues that MTs operate on fairly short distances (often less than 10-20 km). This study attributed the short distance MT trips to the physical location between locations and the flexibility of MT, which could opt for alternative shorter routes for faster access.

3.1.3 Frequency of Motorcycle Taxi Use

The study asked respondents about how frequently they used MTs. The findings are as stated in Figure 2.



Figure 2 Frequency of motorcycle taxi use

As stated in Figure 2, more than half (68.9%) of respondents used MT transport every day. Out of this (42.2%) are even more frequent users because they use MT transport more than twice in a day. Only about 2.8% of respondents use it only when it is necessary or in an emergency. These study findings imply that most respondents very depend on a MT for mobility within and even outside of Rongo sub-County. A key informant informed the study:

"In Rongo sub-County, so many people rely on motorcycle taxis for transport. Without them, many people won't be able to get around quickly at all." (Ward administrator 2, Rongo sub-County, December 2019).

These study findings are in line with other studies on MTs. For example, [7] shows that MTs thrive in areas where conventional motor transport services are

uneconomical or where tough terrain makes operation of other types of vehicle challenging, such as in remote rural Kenya. According to [5], MTs are increasingly acting as feeder services, linking off-road villages to other, more affordable forms of motorised transport services, moving passengers from rural areas where unmade road networks exist, to paved roads.

The study findings can be explained by the restriction on ownership of motorised vehicles and intermediate means of transportation to rural elites. Most rural people require personal transport or some form of public transportation service to carry themselves and their goods on rural roads, which are slippery and rocky at an affordable cost. MTs are adapted to these rural roads, thus becoming the preferred means of public transport by the inhabitants of Rongo sub-County. On many rural roads,



they are the only motorised means of transport for most rural people.

3.1.4 Reasons for Motorcycle Taxi Use

The study asked respondents to explain their reasons for their choice for the use of MTs. The study ranked the responses: (1) Convenience (82.4%); (2) Cost-effective (79.2%); (3) Motorcycle taxi riders know specific destinations, are trustworthy, and relational (71.6%); and (4) Saves and keep time (57.1%). In this study, the ease with which rural people can access MTs underlines the convenience of using them. Data from observation and corroborated by qualitative data from FGDs show that finding a MT in the study area is fairly easy. The FGDs further revealed that most of the frequent users have contacts of several riders in their phones, further reinforcing the notion of convenience since the riders are available at the client's convenience. Based on user budget, time, and accessibility, the MT trips can be a direct point to point, or initial or final segments of a longer trip. A FGD participant well summarises MT transport characteristics:

"Boda-boda [motorcycle taxi] can help you reach places if you don't have a car...there are some places the motor vehicles can't reach and obviously one can always lock his/her motor vehicle, take on a boda-boda and complete the journey and come back later, enter the vehicle and continue driving. They can come and pick you. They are also quick...! So, when I need to go home early so, they are convenient and are always available.... one can always use his/her phone to call the riders." (FGD01, Male, Age 36, December 2019).

Data from observation also revealed that MTs are available in abundance at very many points within the study area. Throughout the study area, the study observed MTs parked at shades constructed for that purpose, dotted all over the study area. MT riders could also be seen riding around the study area without passengers, scouting for clients. Qualitative data from FGDs revealed that locals perceive that MT transport is a very convenient and functional mode of transportation that offers advantages in terms of easy manoeuvrability, capacity for poor road travel, and demand responsiveness. The qualitative data revealed that the performance advantages that rural people get when they can access MTs by mobile phones are impressive. To rural people, this additional level of connectivity is a travel revolution. Even though they cannot afford to travel regularly more individuals can now access MTs in an emergency. Rural people consider this to be of crucial importance to their well-being.

Similarly, the ability of MTs to save and keep time featured as one reason for using MTs, at 57.1%. During FGD for females, it was largely agreed that the MT is "*the fastest means of transport*", and that this was valuable, as many women were now trying to combine trading activity with family life. Another prominent reason for using MTs was their perceived cost-effectiveness. Over four-fifths of the respondents (84.4%) listed cost-effectiveness

consideration for using MTs. Although conventional (fourwheel) public buses or taxis maintains the competitive edge of cost, passengers opt MT transport for its timesaving. A FGD participant indicated:

"While going to Rongo town, a conventional matatu [fourwheel taxi] charges me a fare of Kshs.50 compared with a motorcycle taxi, which charges a minimum of Kshs. 100. It is significantly more expensive to travel on a motorcycle taxi but if you think about the time that you save, it gets cheaper. Time is money! It even becomes cheaper if you consider all other factors." (FGD05, Male, Age 41, December 2019).

The study findings also reveal that the price paid for MT trips varies and is negotiable. A key informant reported:

"The price depends on how you are dressed up or how you bargain... The riders charge you accordingly so long as you are dressed presentably. For instance, a fourkilometre could cost between Kshs. 20 and Kshs.30 but a two-kilometre trip could cost Kshs. 40. The riders charge between Kshs. 50 to Kshs.100 for trips ranging between five to seven kilometres are." (Key informant 2, Male, Village elder, Age 62).

The respondents listed another reason for choosing to use MTs as their perception that MT riders know specific destinations, are trustworthy, and relational, at 71.6%. They perceived the MT riders to know every route and every place, including shops and offices. The respondents saw the riders as friendly and trustworthy and reported to not only used MTs for commuting but also for running personal errands. Most customers were referring to specific MT riders as 'my boda-boda [MT] guy'.

The findings of this study show that MTs fill the gap in the demand and supply of rural public transport; by providing reliable and continuous rural public transportation services to the locals. Rural people perceive the MT as a very convenient and functional mode of transportation that offers advantages in the form of easy manoeuvrability, the ability to travel on poor roads, and demand responsiveness. The findings are consistent with related studies conducted on MTs showing that passengers opt for MTs because they are timely (minimum waiting, point-to-point journeys, sometimes able to travel faster than conventional vehicles) or because there are no appropriate alternatives. As a result, rural people appreciate this and value MTs high as they are fast [24] and readily available. Rural users hire the MTs for their journey by only waiting until one came by. Although, rural users often complain about the high costs of rural MTs, and say they prefer to use conventional (four-wheel) public buses or taxis when these are available [10]. The fares go up during rainy seasons as echoed by [9]. Howe [12] also noted that some riders were already using mobile telephones so that customers could summon them.

In certain parts of Rongo sub-County, some unmaintained roads were not wide enough for conducive car driving. The MTs provide a reliable, rapid, and



relatively inexpensive transport service that can traverse dirt roads too rugged and/or narrow for a car while going longer distances and into steeper terrain. They are the only motorised transport services that people can rely on. For example, the villages surrounding the Kangeso Sublocation do not have any other public transportation option aside from the MT transport service. The convenient, easily available, and affordable means of transport is the MT which is more affordable and marches their purchasing power. In this study, MT fares have been varying especially according to the will of the transport drivers who in a situation of monopoly dictated their prices to the population that became a hostage of the situation. The fares vary depending on distance, time, locations, weather; day, or even location of approaching a MT rider for example on the road or at a stage. However, the user could bargain or search for another rider at a more reasonable price.

3.1.5 Safety Concerns

Data from observation revealed several safety concerns. The first was the practice of carrying two or more passengers, which appeared to be the norm, rather than the exception. This was corroborated by qualitative data from FGDs, which showed that in the study area, it is normal for MTs to carry two or more passengers. A FGD participant indicated:

"Sometimes it forces us to share the only available bodaboda [MT]... there are other times when children, people with disabilities and older persons are required to travel with their supporting persons (parents/helpers)." (Respondent 21, Male, Age 71).

Another FGD participant indicated that:

"I feel more secure when we are two or three people on one MT, especially at night. The riders, however, do not reduce the fares paid when they carry more than one passenger. They charge us per person." (Respondent 127, Female, Age 26).

Data from FGDs further revealed that in certain circumstances, rural people even considered it necessary for MTs to carry two or more passengers. One such circumstance arises when only one MT is available and there are two or more passengers. Another circumstance occurs when an adult need to travel with an infirm person such as a child, a sick person, or an elderly person who requires support or prop up on the MT. Some female passengers feel more secure when they outnumber the rider, especially at night. These findings explain why in many African, Asian, and Latin America countries, enforcement officials often hesitate to apply the 'one passenger' limit in rural areas. Contrary to [5] that fares may decrease by approximately 60% if a MT carries two passengers, qualitative data revealed that even though the price is negotiable, the cost rarely reduces significantly when there is more than one passenger.

Another observation regarding safety was that passengers rarely used safety helmets. FGDs revealed that many female pillions refused to use helmets, citing that it could interfere with their hairstyle. This was making them more vulnerable to head injury in the event of an accident. This study however observed that the residents including well-dressed ladies were sitting astride on the MT. This reduced the risk of the passenger being dislodged from the MT. In pillion accidents, passengers suffer a serious injury to their bodies. Key informant interviews also showed that many passengers refused to use reflectors as required by law. They argued that the reflectors were dirty and susceptible to skin disease transmission. This threatened the lives of both the rider and the passengers on board as they were not visible from afar, especially in the obscurity.

The study also found that drunk male pillion passengers posed a lot of challenges to the riders. The study could attribute this to the fact that some drunk pillion passengers even fall asleep while they are on the MT, and as such, they fall off the bike. This forced the riders to look for another rider to sit behind a drunk passenger. During the FGD for the male, it was reported that some intoxicated passengers turned out to be annoying, especially when they said they had paid while they had not. In some situations, they asked riders to fight so they could avoid paying for travel. Besides, the study observed that MT transported regular items such as foodstuffs, boxes, water to more unusual items such as furniture, construction materials (such as cement, roofing sheets, and steel reinforcements rods), farming tools, coffins, and human corpses. Sometimes the goods carried were more massive than the capacity of MTs hence causing accidents.

These findings are in line with related studies on MT safety. For example, [6] notes that in some countries, four or five people can be seen on a single MT, dangerously overloading the recommended limits on motorcycles for passengers. This is despite the law in most countries that only allows for one driver and one passenger [11]. The study findings are consistent with [25] who noted that in the Rural Community of Tombel, South-West Region Cameroon, the MTs transport of goods to and from the markets and farms in quantities heavier than their capacity. People also used these MTs in transporting uncommon items such as coffins and human corpses [25,26].

3.1.6 Motorcycle Taxi Users' Satisfaction

In assessing whether MTs are a problem or as a solution to rural public transport issues in Rongo sub-County, the users' satisfaction and perceptions are valuable especially because they are the main MTs customers. The users' satisfaction and perceptions could identify the MT's characteristics, performance, and potential for addressing rural public transport problems. The study required the respondents to rate their satisfaction with the MT transport service. Table 4 presents the findings.



Table 4: Motorcycle taxi users' satisfaction									
Strongly				Very					Std.
Dissatisfied	Dissatisfied	Neutral	Satisfied	Satisfied	Total	Min.	Max.	Mean	Dev.
24	33	56	143	33	289	1	5	3.44	1.098
8.3%	11.4%	19.4%	49.5%	11.4%	(100%)				

As stated in Table 4, the level of satisfaction with MT is slightly above average, with a mean of 3.44 on a scale of 0-5. Approximately two-thirds of the respondents (60.9%) were satisfied or very satisfied with MT. Only one-fifth of the respondents (19.7%) were strongly or otherwise dissatisfied with MT. This is a very interesting finding when seen together with qualitative data from FGDs. Whereas only one-fifth of the respondents expressed dissatisfaction with MT, qualitative data revealed that an overwhelming majority of the respondents perceive MTs as being recklessly ridden, by riders of questionable character. There was a consensus in all the FGDs, that MTs are an unsafe mode of transport, with a very high likelihood of involvement in accidents. The study attributed the perception that MT is affordable, convenient, and

timesaving to the apparent contradiction. Rural people believe that MT riders are very well versed with different alternative routes and know most places, reducing the likelihood of getting lost, or wasting time asking for directions.

There was a variation in the responses by the respondents with standard deviation reaching 1 which is a testimony to the heterogeneity of the responses. This study compared the levels of satisfaction against respondents' gender and level of income to establish any underlying differences or influences. Figure 3 presents a comparison of the levels of satisfaction with gender while Figure 4 compares the satisfaction levels based on different levels of income.



Figure 3 Respondents' level of satisfaction with MT, segregated by gender





Figure 4 Motorcycle taxi services satisfaction level based on levels of income

Figure 3 reveals that male respondents were somewhat more satisfied with motorcycle taxi services than their female counterparts. Three gender themes emerged from FGDs. First, female respondents were more concerned about safety compared to their male counterparts. Second, female respondents appeared to be more taken aback by MT riders' perceived inappropriate behaviour than their male counterparts. Male respondents did not appear to find issues with the riders' behaviour, with some respondents even finding words of praise for the riders' apparent bravado. Third, male respondents consider MT to be affordable, as opposed to females, who find it expensive. This finding corresponds with the data in Table 5. Besides, Figure 4 shows that respondents with lower levels of income were more satisfied with motorcycle taxi services than respondents with high levels of income.

The findings are consistent with other studies on MT transport. For example, by 2001, on the Jos Plateau in Nigeria, more men than women patronised MTs. Despite safety issues associated with MTs, young women still saw MTs as a lifeline [27]. Zuure and Yiboe (2017) [28] noted that although the MT business posed a lot of risks to the youth riders, most of them were unwilling to stop the business because of the socio-economic benefits they obtained through it.

This study attributed the neutral stance by to the women's concern about MT safety risks while preferring them for their speed and convenience. It attributed the higher satisfaction level among the respondents with low levels of income to the lifestyle changes and improved income derived from MT transport. The lifestyle changes and improved income derived from MT include the low initial purchase cost, the low operating cost which relates to the superior fuel economy or efficiency of MTs in relation to cars, their relatively low maintenance cost and perhaps the most important in Kenya's context, is the employment opportunities it offers to our unemployed youths.

MTs dissatisfied respondents with high levels of income. This was largely attributed to the drivers' behaviour, and safety risks associated with MT transport. Thus, most respondents were satisfied with the MT services, largely because of the physical attributes of the MT, while negative reasons were mainly related to MT riders' mannerism, unprofessional driving, and poor safety.

Two household heads with comparable demographic backgrounds responded contrastingly about the affordability of MT transport. The first said: "I do not use a motorcycle taxi because it is too expensive that I cannot afford" (Respondent 127, Male, Age 35). In contrast, another respondent reported: "Their prices are reasonable because... I mean, from physical observation, the poor man will travel using a MT" (Respondent 21, Male, Age 35). Table 5 presents the affordability of motorcycle taxis based on gender and average family monthly income.



Table 5 Affe	Table 5 Affordability of motorcycle taxi transport based on respondents gender and levels of income							
		Exp	ensive	Aff	ordable	Total		
Gender	Male	46	(15.9%)	184	(63.7%)	230	(79.6%)	
	Female	44	(15.2%)	15	(5.2%)	59	(20.4%)	
	Total	90	(31.1%)	199	(68.9%)	289	(100.0%)	
A	Below 10,000	9	(3.1%)	99	(34.3%)	108	(37.4%)	
Average family	10,001-25,000	55	(19.0%)	29	(10.0%)	84	(29.1%)	
Kshs.	25,001-35,000	4	(1.4%)	54	(18.7%)	58	(20.1%)	
	35,001 and above	22	(7.6%)	17	(5.9%)	39	(13.5%)	
	Total	90	(31.1%)	199	(68.9%)	289	(100.0%)	

Note: Kshs. 106.50 (Kenya) = \$1.00 (Dollar)

Rural women have the largest financial restrictions for the use of transportation [28], and one would expect transport affordability to be a gender issue. This is supported by data in Table 5 which reveals that most of the male respondents consider MT to be affordable, compared to the majority of female respondents who regarded MT as expensive. Besides, this study reveals that the affordability of MT services was largely regarded as being very positive among the respondents with low levels of income, while some respondents with high levels of income considered MT as expensive. Majority of respondents with middle levels of income considered them affordable. The respondents' income levels probably did not influence their perceptions of the affordability of motorcycle taxi transport.

According to [12], those engaged in formal or informal sector wage employment seem likely to have enjoyed the enhancement of their income-earning activities through the greater mobility afforded by MT usage. Therefore, this study expected the levels of income to influence the MT users' perception of its affordability. However, the study findings have dispelled one of the commonly held illusions that levels of income influence perceptions on MT affordability. In this study, opinions on affordability hinge closer to the respondent's appreciation on lifestyle changes and the improved income derived from MTs, rather than on the levels of income.

4 Conclusion

The results show the active relationship between Rongo sub-County and MT transport services. The informal MT transport system seems to provide a partial solution to rural access. MTs offer useful transport services to rural communities difficult to reach by conventional (fourwheel) taxis or busses, due to the poor road condition and low demand. MT transport can complement many public transport systems. Removing MT from any part of the subcounty could impede the movement and operation of rural villages as its use is so closely linked to rural life.

This paper calls on transport practitioners to rethink the concept and image of sustainable rural mobility and identify with rural informal motorcycle taxi transport as well. Ultimately, the goal of mobility is to ensure that the informal MT transport system facilitates access to places,

markets, facilities, and activities. For equitable, accessible and sustainable rural transport, the transport practitioners need to empower and expand on existing realities in rural areas. They should seek to understand rural transport needs and options from rural people of different ages, gender, occupation, and income.

This study bases itself on perception data; hence bias responses may affect results. Besides, the study does not cover how MTs contributes to social development in rural areas and perceptions of rural people on the social risks and adverse consequences of MTs in rural Kenya. These are scope for the future course of the research.

Acknowledgement

The authors are thankful for the helpful comments and suggestions provided by respected reviewers. Their feedback and recommendations insightful have strengthened the scope and significance of our study. The authors are also grateful to the villagers and communities in Central Kamagambo and West Kamagambo locations for their willingness to take part in the study and providing the requested information.

References

- [1] PORTER, G.: Mobilities in rural Africa: New connections, new challenges, Annals of the American Association of Geographers, Vol. 106, No. 2, pp. 434-441, 2016.
- [2] STARKEY, P., HINE, J., WORKMAN, R., OTTO, A.: Interactions between improved rural access infrastructure and transport services provision, Phase 1 Scoping Report, ReCAP GEN2136A, London: ReCAP for DFID, 2018.
- [3] AFUKAAR, F., DAMSERE-DERRY, J., PETERS, K., STARKEY, P.: Rural Transport Services Indicators: Using a new mixed-methods methodology to inform policy in Ghana, Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives, Vol. 3, No. November, pp. 1-12, 2019.
- [4] RUGUT. J.K., MAKORI, B.: Determinants Influencing Performance of Alternative Public Transport in Kenya: A Case of Motor Cycle Transport, Nakuru County, Strategic Journal of Business & Change Management, Vol. 2, No. 2, pp. 436-471, 2015.



- [5] STARKEY, P.: The benefits and challenges of increasing motorcycle use for rural access, International Conference on Transportation and Road Research, Mombasa, 15-17 March 2016, pp. 1-17, 2016.
- [6] STARKEY, P.: Provision of rural transport services: user needs, practical constraints and policy issues, *Transport and Communications Bulletin for Asia and the Pacific*, Vol. 2016, No. December, pp. 6-22, 2016.
- [7] BISHOP, T., BARBER, C., CHARMAN, S., PORTER, G., BRADBURY, A.: Enhancing understanding on safe motorcycle and three-wheeler use for rural transport, ReCAP Project Management Unit, Cardno Emerging Market (UK) Ltd, Oxford House, Oxford Road, Thame, OX9 2AH, United Kingdom. 2018.
- [8] SIN YI, Ch.N.: *Rethinking Sustainable Mobility: Understanding the use of boda-boda motorcycle taxis in Kampala, Uganda*, The International Institute for Industrial Environmental Economics, IIIEE Masters Thesis, 2016.
- [9] MUINDI, K., NYABUTA, O.J.S.: Informal Motorcycle Business and Livelihoods in Urban Areas of Kenya: Evidence from Eldoret and Kakamega Towns, *International Journal of Innovative Research and Development*, Vol. 7, No. 3, pp. 74-87, 2018.
- [10] PETERS, K., MOKUWA, E., RICHARDS, P., JENKINS, J.: Gender Mainstreaming in the Motorcycle Taxi Sector in Rural Sierra Leone and Liberia, Research for Community Access Partnership, ReCAP, 2018.
- [11] BISHOP, T., AMOS, P.: Opportunities to improve road safety through 'boda boda' associations in Tanzania, AFCAP/ASCAP Project Management Unit, Cardno Emerging Market (UK) Ltd, Oxford House, Oxford Road, Thame, OX9 2AH, United Kingdom, 2015.
- [12] BRADBURY, A., HOWE, J.: *Boda boda: Uganda's rural and urban low-capacity transport services*, Conference: Codatu X, At: Lome, Togo, 2002.
- [13] ATUGI, D.K., CHRISPEN, M.: Effect of Bodaboda Business on Rural Transport System in Meru County, Kenya, *IOSR Journal of Business and Management*, Vol. 20, No. 6, pp. 9-17, 2018.
- [14] FESTUS, M.O., NZOKURU, J.C.: Dangers Associated with Commercial Motorcycle Transport Business: Implications for Adult Education in Nigeria, *Journal of Education and Practice*, Vol. 5, No. 37, pp. 15-23, 2014.
- [15] GUMEL, G.B., ADAM, I.M., RILWAN, I.A.: Impact of Commercial Motorcycle Transport in Raising Income: Evidence from Jigawa State, Nigeria, CARD International Journal of Social Sciences and Conflict Management, Vol. 2, No. 3, pp. 76-94, 2017.
- [16] PORTER, G.: The impact of road construction on women's trade in rural Nigeria, *Journal of Transport Geography*, Vol. 3, No. 1, pp. 3-14, 1995.

- [17] YAMANE, T.: *Statistics, An Introductory Analysis,* (2nd Edition) Harper and Row, Publishers, 1967.
- [18] KOTHARI, C.R.: *Research Methodology*, New Age International (P) Limited, Publishers, 2010.
- [19] Kenya National Bureau of Statistics: 2015/16, Integrated Household Budget Survey (KIHBS), 2018.
- [20] MUYANGA, M., OLWANDE, J., MUENI, E., WAMBUGU, S.: Free Primary Education in Kenya: An Impact Evaluation Using Propensity Score Methods, (eds) Child Welfare in Developing Countries, Springer, New York, NY, 2010.
- [21] GAMBERINI, G.: Boda Boda: The Impact of Motorbike Taxi Service in Rural Uganda, *Student Pulse*, Vol. 6, No. 11, pp. 1-5, 2014.
- [22] Kenya National Bureau of Statistics: Kenya Population and Housing Census: Population by County and Sub-County, 2019.
- [23] Migori County Government: Migori County Integrated Development Plan 2018-2022, 2018.
- [24] MODIBBO, J.H., MARY, F.O.: Impact of Commercial Tricycle Operation on Income of Youth in Mubi North Local Government Adamawa State Nigeria, *IDOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences*, Vol. 2, No. 3, pp. 56-72, 2017.
- [25] NKEDE, L.: The Socio-Cultural Impact of the Introduction of Motorcycle Taxis in the Rural Community of Tombel, South-West Region Cameroon, Publication of Master Thesis, University of Yaoundé, Yaoundé, pp. 1-163, 2012.
- [26] AYANWUYI, E.: Rural Dweller's Perception of Impacts of Motorcycle (Okada) Services in Community Development in Ogbomoso Agricultural Zone of Oyo State, Nigeria, *Research on Humanities* and Social Sciences, Vol. 3, No. 15, pp. 118-126, 2013.
- [27] PORTER, G.: Improving Mobility & Access for the Off-Road Rural Poor through Intermediate Means of Transport, *World Transport Policy and Practice*, Vol. 8, No. 4, pp. 6-19, 2002.
- [28] ZUURE, D.N., YIBOE, A.: The phenomenon of commercial motorbike transportation and its impact on the youth of Agbozume traditional area in the Ketu south municipality in the Volta region of Ghana, *International Journal of Development and Sustainability*, Vol. 6, No. 11, pp. 1689-1700, 2017.

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



doi:10.22306/al.v7i2.161

Received: 25 *Feb.* 2020 *Accepted:* 02 *Apr.* 2020

ADJUSTING DIRECT DISTANCE TO ROAD FOR V4 COUNTRIES

Jakub Dyntar

Department of Business Administration and Management, Faculty of Economics, Technical University of Liberec, Voroněžská 13, 460 01 Liberec, Czech Republic, EU, jakub.dyntar@tul.cz

Dana Strachotová

Department of Economics and Management, The University of Chemistry and Technology Prague, Technická 5, 166 28 Praha 6, Czech Republic, EU, strachod@vscht.cz

Marek Botek

Department of Economics and Management, The University of Chemistry and Technology Prague, Technická 5, 166 28 Praha 6, Czech Republic, EU, botekm@vscht.cz (corresponding author)

Keywords: geographical information system, data mining, vehicle routing, distribution, supply chain management *Abstract:* This article describes the determination of the direct distance correction factor that reflects the actual density of the road network in V4 countries. V4 countries are the Czech Republic (CZ), Slovakia (SK), Poland (PL) and Hungary (HUN). No correction factors reflecting road density among major population places were still available for V4 countries. Three-level administrative classification and data from statistical offices concerning population density on 31 December 2017 was used. In MS-Excel was designed functions for obtaining coordinates of selected places and road distances using queries to Web Map Service Google Maps (WMS). Road distances obtained by queries represent the fastest connection on the road. The great-circle distance and spherical triangle were used to calculate direct distances from coordinates. The places were selected using ABC analysis based on the population sample and it was reduced so that the monthly limit of queries to WMS was not exceeded. The obtained values of correction factors can be used in vehicle routing. For the smallest classification items, in CZ, for 273 places with a population of over 5 000, the average values of the correction factor (k_{avg}) range between 1.277 and 1.326. In SK, for 245 places with a population of over 3 000, k_{avg} ranges between 1.424 and 1.446. In PL, for 376 places with a population of over 20 000, k_{avg} ranges between 1.206 and 1.285. Finally, in HUN, for 287 places with a population of over 5 000, k_{avg} ranges between 1.301 and 1.345.

1 Introduction

The design of an efficient distribution system is an important part of the modern concept of material flow management commonly referred to as supply chain management [1]. Supply chain management (SCM) is defined as a material, information and money flow planning in a network of mutually linked organizations that add value to goods and services intending to satisfy the end consumer's needs [2]. Seen from the perspective of processes, SCM includes planning, purchase, production, and distribution [3].

The main goal of the distribution is to supply customers with the required goods of the required quality and promptly. Distribution is a link between production and customers [4]. When designing distribution systems, companies typically decide about the number and location of warehouses [5] and the way how goods are transported to customers from warehouses (i.e. vehicle routing) so that distribution costs are as low as possible while maintaining the required service level [6]. The service level is represented particularly with the lead time [7]. The trend in the current market environment is extreme customers' pressure on lead time shortening [8]. It is important to model the whole supply chain to satisfied customers' requirements [9].

A wide range of model approaches can be used to deal with the issue of vehicle routing. For instance, literature

mentions the use of tabu search heuristic [10], simulated annealing algorithm [11] and genetic algorithm [12]. Another very efficient algorithm is the savings heuristic [13] and its modifications for vehicle routing with restrictions such as time windows [14] or vehicle capacity [15, 16]. All these algorithms are very influenced by the fact, that the size of the optimization model which results from its formulation grows extremely rapidly as the number of customers increases [17]. Also, it is necessary to distinguish, if the distance or time should be optimized [16].

What is common for the application of the above-stated models in vehicle routing is the necessity to take into account the distances among warehouses and customers. Warehouses and customers are most often represented with an address that indicates their location. Having an address means that geographic coordinates may be obtained from a geographic information system (GIS), typically using queries to a web map service (WMS). GIS is an organized aggregate of information technology, software and geographic data that allows for efficient obtaining, storing, updating, analyzing, transferring and viewing all kinds of geographic information [18]. WMS works on the clientserver principle and it allows for sharing geographic information in the form of grid maps on the Internet [19].

If coordinates indicating the location of warehouses and customers are available, the direct distances among



them can be calculated using, for example, the great-circle distance and spherical triangle [20]. However, such distances do not reflect the actual density of transportation routes in the regions where distribution takes place and they lead to distribution costs distortion. Actual distances can be obtained in two following ways:

- WMS direct query at the actual distance between two places linked by some kind of transport route,
- adjustment of direct distance using the correction factor that reflects the actual density of the transport network.

A drawback of the first way is a frequent limitation of WMS to the number of queries that can be made within a certain time interval as well as the fact that when queries exceed a certain number, the service is usually charged for. If distribution routes among n places using the savings algorithm is designed that works with a matrix of distances consisting of n lines and n columns, presuming that a distance between two places is the same as the distance on the way back, in order to fill the matrix of distances it would be necessary to make such an amount of queries to WMS that corresponds with the sum of an arithmetic line where the first term equals 1, the last term equals n-1 and the difference is 1. If it is taken into consideration the fact that distribution commonly occurs between hundreds of places and vehicle routing is often performed daily, such an amount of queries to WMS presents a big burden. By contrast, when using the other option, it suffices to obtain only *n* geographic coordinates through queries to WMS.

The objective of this paper is to determine the correction factor of direct distance that reflects the actual density of the road transport network in V4 countries. V4 countries are the Czech Republic (CZ), Slovakia (SK), Poland (PL) and Hungary (HUN).

2 Materials and Methods

Administrative classification of V4 countries in 3 levels (see Table 1) together with data from statistical offices of those countries concerning numbers of population in L_3 on 31 December 2017 were used to determine the correction factor of direct distance (*k*), there was used.

Table 1 Administrative classification of V4 countries used for determining k

Level / Country	CZ	SK	PL	HUN
L_1	kraj	kraj	województwo	megye
L_2	okres	okres	powiat	kistérség
L_3	obec	obec	gmina	település

L3 components are first arranged in MS Excel according to the size of population and an ABC analysis is performed for each country following the share of the population living in L3 components of the total population of each country. Group A includes L3 components that contribute to the total number of each country's population with 80%, Group B includes another 15% and Group C the remaining 5%.

After conducting an ABC analysis, *L3* components with the highest number of the population are involved in the calculation of k so that the monthly limit of queries to WMS Google Maps for three unique API keys is not exceeded. WMS Google Maps is employed for obtaining coordinates and route distances. *L3* components included in k calculation are shown in Table 2.

Table 2 L3 components included for determining k and the size of the population living in them								
	Country	No. of L ₃	Population in					
	Country	components	L ₃ components					

Country	No. of L ₃ components	L ₃ components
CZ	>5 000	
SK	245	>3 000
PL	376	>20 000
HUN	287	>5 000

The share of L_3 components included in *k* calculation in CZ is approx. 61%, in SK and PL it is around 62% and in HUN it is approx. 68% of the country's population. In all monitored countries, the selection only included L_3 components from Group A. These are generally places where supply and demand are concentrated and with community facilities such as shops and restaurants are better developed. That means that such places are interesting from the perspective of distribution.

"Function1" is created in MS Excel (see Appendix 1) that uses Google Maps API Geocoding as a platform to calculate coordinates. The platform was accessed in 1/2019. The argument of the function (i.e. Address) used is the following string:

Table 3 Function1 - argument address							
Country	L_1	L_2	L3	Address			
CZ	Středočeský kraj	Kladno	Slaný	L3&", okres "&L2&", "&L1			
SK	Košický	Trebišov	Sečovce	L3&", okres "&L2&", "&L1&" kraj"			
PL	Kujawsko-pomorskie		Tuchola	L3&", "&L1&" województwo"			
HUN	Somogy	Fonyódi	Balatonlelle	L3&", "&L2&", "&L1			

For instance, for the L_3 component from Table 3, situated in CZ, Function1 returns string 50.2304622, 14.0869439. After splitting the string into a part indicating latitude and longitude and once they are transformed to a

number, L_3 coordinates are plotted on the graph and visual check of their location is performed in the administrative classification of L_1 (see Table 4).

Table 4 Administrative classification	of L1 components in V4 countr	ies

No./Country	CZ	SK	PL	HUN
1	Jihočeský	Banskobystrický	Dolnośląskie	Bács-Kiskun
2	Jihomoravský	Bratislavský	Kujawsko-pomorskie	Baranya
3	Karlovarský	Košický	Łódzkie	Békés
4	Královéhradecký	Nitranský	Lubelskie	Borsod-Abaúj-Zemplén
5	Liberecký	Prešovský	Lubuskie	Budapest
6	Moravskoslezský	Trenčínský	Małopolskie	Csongrád
7	Olomoucký	Trnavský	Mazowieckie	Fejér
8	Pardubický	Žilinský	Opolskie	Győr-Moson-Sopron
9	Plzeňský	Х	Podkarpackie	Hajdú-Bihar
10	Praha	X	Podlaskie	Heves
11	Středočeský	X	Pomorskie	Jász-Nagykun-Szolnok
12	Ústecký	X	Śląskie	Komárom-Esztergom
13	Vysočina	х	Świętokrzyskie	Nógrád
14	Zlínský	Х	Warmińsko-mazurskie	Pest
15	Х	Х	Wielkopolskie	Somogy
16	Х	х	Zachodniopomorskie	Szabolcs-Szatmár-Bereg
17	Х	х	Х	Tolna
18	Х	Х	Х	Vas
19	X	X	X	Veszprém
20	X	x	X	Zala

Direct distance D_1 between two L_3 components is always determined in MS Excel for two locations with a higher and lower number of the population using the following formula (1):

 $= 6378, 135^{*}ARCCOS(COS(RADIANS(90-(x_2)))^{*}COS(RADIANS(90-(x_1))) + SIN(RADIANS(90-(x_2)))^{*}SIN(RADIANS(90-(x_1)))^{*}COS(RADIANS((y_2-y_1)))),$ (1)

where x_1 and y_1 are latitude and longitude of the location with higher number of population; x_2 and y_2 are

latitude and longitude of the location with lower number of population.

In the case of CZ 37 128 direct distances are calculated, for SK it is 29 890, for PL 70 500, and for HUN 41 041.

"Function2" is created in MS Excel (see Appendix 2) that uses Google Maps API Directions as a platform to calculate the route distance D2 between two L3 components. Same as in the case of obtaining L_3 coordinates, the API Directions platform was accessed in 1/2019. The arguments of the function (i.e. Origin and Destination) used are strings in the form coming from Function1. Thanks to that, direct as well as route distances



correspond with places of the same coordinates. Achieved D_2 represents the fastest route between two L_3 components on the road. That means that L_3 connection using motorways and main roads is preferred when queries are made to API Directions.

The direct distance correction factor when calculating road distance is defined for two L_3 components in the following way (2):

 $k = D2/D1 \tag{2}$

For each country, values of correction factors are arranged in a matrix, grouped according to the minimum number of population living in the L_3 components and averaged.

3 Results and Discussion

Table 5 shows the results of the ABC analysis by the share of the population living in L_3 components of the total population of each country.

Table 5 ABC analysis by the share of population living in L3 components of the total population of each country

		L ₃ components in the group			roup
Group	Group population/Country's population	CZ	SK	PL	HUN
А	80%	1 213	805	938	679
В	15%	2 474	1 075	899	1 142
С	5%	2 571	1 009	491	1 324
	Total L ₃ components in country	6 258	2 889	2 328	3 145

In CZ, 80% of the population lives in 1 213 L_3 components, which is approx. 19% of the total L_3 components in the administrative classification used. In SK, the same goes for 805 L_3 components with approx. 28%, in PL, it is 938 with approx. 40% and in HUN, it is 679 L_3 components with approx. 22% of the total number of L_3 components. In CZ, SK, and HUN the results of the ABC analysis are in line, to a great degree, with the Pareto

principle (the 80/20 rule). In PL, the great number of municipalities classified in Group A is due to L_3 administrative classification when certain L_3 components unify populations of administrative centers and their related municipalities in the vicinity into one.

 L_3 coordinates from Group A included in *k* calculation are plotted in graphs in Fig. 1 – 4.



Figure 1 Location of L3 included in k calculation in L1 - CZ





Figure 2 Location of L3 included in k calculation in L1 - SK



Figure 3 Location of L3 included in k calculation in L1 – PL





Figure 4 Location of L3 included in k calculation in L1 - HUN

It is important to note that L_3 components included in k calculation are only a part of Group A (see Table 2), which is due to the existence of a limited number of queries concerning coordinates and route distances of used WMS. In all the countries placement of L_3 within L_1 forms a compact area, while points mark L_3 locations, from two different L_1 components they only overlap at the frontier of

 L_1 . Locations of L_1 components correspond with the actual locations of such administrative units in the real map and in the general view, they correspond with the actual shape of the countries.

Average values of correction factors for L_3 groups that differ with the minimum number of population living in L_3 components are shown in Table 6.

Country	CZ		SK		PL		HUN	N
Population in L ₃	No. of L ₃	k _{avg}						
>= 500 000	Х	х	Х	х	5	1.206	Х	х
>= 250 000	х	х	Х	х	11	1.231	х	х
>= 100 000	6	1.277	2	1.446	41	1.257	9	1.324
>= 50 000	18	1.322	10	1.428	111	1.275	21	1.301
>= 20 000	62	1.326	38	1.427	376	1.285	61	1.326
>=10 000	131	1.319	72	1.430	Х	х	141	1.334
>= 7 000	190	1.323	97	1.425	Х	х	202	1.343
>= 5 000	273	1.325	135	1.424	Х	х	287	1.345
>= 3 000	х	х	245	1.426	Х	х	х	х

Table 6 Average k values for L3 groups differing with the minimum population living in L3 components

In CZ, the average values of the correction factor (k_{avg}) range between 1.277 and 1.326. In SK, the k_{avg} values are between 1.424 and 1.446. In PL, the k_{avg} values are between 1.206 and 1.285, while in HUN the k_{avg} values they are between 1.301 and 1.345.

In CZ, PL, and HUN, the value grows together with the increasing number of L_3 components included in k_{avg} calculation (i.e. with the decreasing minimum number of population living in L_3). In SK, the trend is quite opposite, which is due to the mountainous landscape in the central part with only one backbone road connecting L_3 in the west



and in the east that goes around the mountains and concentration of L_3 components with a higher number of population in the western part of the country.

The biggest difference between the route distance between L_3 with a higher and lower population as compared with direct distance (i.e. the difference given by the minimum and maximum k_{avg} value) is in PL (approx. 8%), followed by CZ (approx. 5%), HUN (approx. 4%), the difference in SK is very small (approx. 2%).

4 Conclusions

The objective of this article was to determine the correction factor of direct distance that reflects the actual density of the road network in V4 countries (the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, and Slovakia). The obtained values of correction factors correspond with the state of road networks in maps provided by WMS Google Maps in 1/2019. These values can be used for vehicle routing under the following assumptions:

1. Goods are distributed by vehicles in the road network.

2. Customers demanding goods are at locations with a population of more than 3 000 (in SK), 5 000 (in CZ and HUN) and 20 000 (in PL).

3. Locations, where demand is concentrated, are scattered all over the country. Therefore, goods are not distributed, for instance, exclusively (or predominantly) in the capital city or in a relatively small region where actual distances may be distorted by the presence of natural obstacles such as mountains or great rivers.

4. When designing the distribution route, the fastest connection is preferred, which means that motorways and/or main roads without the risk of free passage restriction for vehicles exceeding certain weight are primarily used.

Obtained correction factors can be primarily used on a strategic level to support decisions about distribution system (re)design based on historical demand data. By reducing the time necessary to calculate distances between the places with a demand it is possible to assess many different varieties of a distribution system structure design (i.e. appropriate number and a location of warehouses and a strategy of supplying the customers) in a short time. On the other hand, the usage of correction factors as a part of vehicle routing for operative planning can lead to the estimation of distances that is too optimistic. That is because of not considering real-time traffic data about rush hours or road closures or including the places of demand with a very small population.

References

- MENTZER, J.T., DEWITT, W., KEEBLER, J.S., MIN, S., NIX, N.W., SMITH, C.D., ZACHARIA, Z.G.: Defining Supply Chain Management, *Journal of Business Logistics*, Vol. 22, No. 2, pp. 1-25, 2001.
- [2] STOCK, J.R., BOYER, S.L.: Developing a consensus definition of supply chain management: a qualitative study, *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, Vol. 39, No. 8, pp. 690-711, 2009.
- [3] COOPER, M.C., LAMBERT, D.M., PAGH, J.D.: Supply Chain Management: More Than a New Name for Logistics, *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, Vol. 8, No. 1, pp. 1-14, 1997.
- [4] CHOPRA, S.: Designing the distribution network in a supply chain, *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, Vol. 39, No. 2, pp. 123-140, 2003. doi:10.1016/S1366-5545(02)00044-3
- [5] STRAKA, M., BINDZAR, P., KADUKOVA, A.: Utilization of the multicriteria decision-making methods for the needs of mining industry, *Acta Montanistica Slovaca*, Vol. 19, No. 4, pp. 199-206, 2014.
- [6] BRUNAUD, B., BASSETT, M.H., AGARWAL, A., WASSICK, J. M., GROSSMANN, I. E.: Efficient formulations for dynamic warehouse location under discrete transportation costs, *Computers & Chemical Engineering*, Vol. 111, No. March, pp. 311-323, 2018. doi:10.1016/j.compchemeng.2017.05.011
- [7] ESKIGUN, E., UZSOY, R., PRECKEL, P.V., BEAUJON, G., KRISHNAN, S., TEW, J.D.: Outbound supply chain network design with mode selection, lead times and capacitated vehicle distribution centers, *European Journal of Operational Research*, Vol. 16, No. 1, pp. 182-206, 2005. doi:10.1016/j.ejor.2003.11.029
- [8] de TREVILLE, S., SHAPIRO, R.D., HAMERI, A.P.: From supply chain to demand chain: the role of lead time reduction in improving demand chain performance, *Journal of Operations Management*, Vol. 2, No. 6, pp. 613-627, 2004. doi:10.1016/j.jom.2003.10.001
- [9] GRAKOVA, E., LENORT, R., WICHER, P.: Conceptual Framework for Computer Simulation of Supply Chain Resilience Building, Infront Outback – Conference Proceedings CLC 2013: Carpathian Logistics Congress in Cracow, Poland, pp. 429-433, 2013.
- [10] HO, S.C., HAUGLAND, D.: A tabu search heuristic for the vehicle routing problem with time windows and split deliveries, *Computers & Operations Research*, Vol. 31 No. 12, pp. 1947-1964, 2004. doi:10.1016/S0305-0548(03)00155-2
- [11] OSMAN, I.H.: Metastrategy simulated annealing and tabu search algorithms for the vehicle routing



problem, Annals of Operations Research, Vol. 41, No. 4, pp. 421-451, 1993. doi:10.1007/BF02023004

- BAKER, B.M., AYECHEW, M.A.: A genetic algorithm for the vehicle routing problem, *Computers & Operations Research*, Vol. 3 No. 5, pp. 787-800, 2003. doi:10.1016/S0305-0548(02)00051-5
- [13] TENAHUA, A., OLIVARES-BENITEZ, E., SÁNCHEZ-PARIDA, D., CABALLERO-MORALES, S.O.: ILS Metaheuristic to solve the Periodic Vehicle Routing Problem, *International Journal of Combinatorial Optimization Problems and Informatics*, Vol. 9, No. 3, pp. 55-63, 2018.
- [14] LI, H.Q., ZHANG, L., LV, T., CHANG, X.Y.: The two-echelon time-constrained vehicle routing problem in linehaul-delivery systems, *Transportation Research Part B-Methodological*, Vol. 94, No. December, pp. 169-188, 2016. doi:10.1016/j.trb.2016.09.012
- [15] VIGO, D.: A heuristic algorithm for the asymmetric capacitated vehicle routing problem, *European Journal of Operational Research*, Vol. 89, No. 1, pp. 108-126, 1996.
 - doi:10.1016/S0377-2217(96)90060-0.

Function Function1(Address As String) As String

[16] ZHAO, T. L., YANG, Y. J., WANG, E.: Minimizing the average arriving distance in carpooling, *International Journal of Distributed Sensor Networks*, Vol. 16, No. 1, 2020. doi:10.1177/1550147719899369

Appendix 1

- [17] WANG, J. L., JAGANNATHAN, A. K. R., ZUO, X., MURRAY, C. C. Two-layer simulated annealing and tabu search heuristics for a vehicle routing problem with cross docks and split deliveries. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, Vol. 112, No. October, pp. 84-98, 2017. doi:10.1016/j.cie.2017.07.031
- [18] KLATZKY, R.L., LOOMIS, J.M., SPEIGLE, J.O.N., TIETZ, J.: A geographical information system for a GPS based personal guidance system, *International Journal of Geographical Information Science*, Vol. 12, No. 7, pp. 727-749, 1998. doi: 10.1080/136588198241635
- [19] BATTY, M., HUDSON-SMITH, A., MILTON, R. AND CROOKS, A.: Map mashups, Web 2.0 and the GIS revolution, *Annals of GIS*, Vol. 16, No. 1, pp. 1-13, 2010.
- [20] LEE, J.E., SUNG, J.H., WARD, W.B., FOS, P.J., LEE, W.J., KIM, J.C.: Utilization of the emergency room: impact of geographic distance, *Geospatial Health*, Vol. 1, No. 2, pp. 243-253, 2007. doi:10.4081/gh.2007.272

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.

Dim Request As New XMLHTTP60 Dim Results As New DOMDocument60 Dim StatusNode As IXMLDOMNode Dim LatitudeNode As IXMLDOMNode Dim LongitudeNode As IXMLDOMNode On Error GoTo exit Request.Open "GET", "https://maps.googleapis.com/maps/api/geocode/xml?" & "&address=" & Application.EncodeURL(Address) & "&key=A*zaS*DQ**y***IPX3u****y7ogt*J1**u*k9*", False Request.send Results.LoadXML Request.responseText Set LatitudeNode = Results.SelectSingleNode("//result/geometry/location/lat") Set LongitudeNode = Results.SelectSingleNode("//result/geometry/location/lng") Function1 = LatitudeNode.Text & ", " & LongitudeNode.Text exit: Set StatusNode = Nothing Set LatitudeNode = Nothing Set LongitudeNode = Nothing Set Results = Nothing Set Request = Nothing

End Function

Appendix 2

Function Function2(Origin As String, Destination As String) As Double Dim myRequest As XMLHTTP60



Dim myDomDoc As DOMDocument60 Dim distanceNode As IXMLDOMNode On Error GoTo exit Origin = WorksheetFunction.EncodeURL(Origin) Destination = WorksheetFunction.EncodeURL(Destination) Set myRequest = New XMLHTTP60 myRequest.Open "GET", "https://maps.googleapis.com/maps/api/directions/xml?" _ & "&origin=" & Origin & "&destination=" & Destination & "&sensor=false" & "&key=A*zaS*DQ**y***IPX3u****y7ogt*J1**u*k9*", False myRequest.send Set myDomDoc = New DOMDocument60 myDomDoc.LoadXML myRequest.responseText Set distanceNode = myDomDoc.SelectSingleNode("//leg/distance/value") If Not distanceNode Is Nothing Then Function2 = distanceNode.Text / 1000 exit: Set distanceNode = Nothing Set myDomDoc = Nothing Set myRequest = Nothing End Function





doi:10.22306/al.v7i2.162

Received: 01 Mar. 2020 Accepted: 07 June 2020

TRACEABILITY IN INDUSTRY 4.0: A CASE STUDY IN THE METAL-MECHANICAL SECTOR

Rafael Granillo-Macías

Autonomous University of Hidalgo, Campus Sahagun, Department of Industrial Engineering, Cd. Sahagun, Hidalgo, Mexico, rafaelgm@uaeh.edu.mx (corresponding author)

Isaias Simón-Marmolejo

Autonomous University of Hidalgo, Campus Sahagun, Department of Industrial Engineering, Cd. Sahagun, Hidalgo, Mexico, isaiasm@uaeh.edu.mx

Isidro J. González-Hernández

Autonomous University of Hidalgo, Campus Sahagun, Department of Industrial Engineering, Cd. Sahagun, Hidalgo,

Mexico, igonzalez@uaeh.edu.mx

Jorge Zuno-Silva

Autonomous University of Hidalgo, Campus Sahagun, Department of Mechanical Engineering, Cd. Sahagun, Hidalgo, Mexico, jorge_zuno@uaeh.edu.mx

Keywords: smart assets, GPS, technologies, logistics, supply chain

Abstract: With the emergence of production systems characterized by Industry 4.0 technologies, asset traceability problems have become more relevant at different echelons of the supply chain. The management of intelligent assets promoted by Industry 4.0 is considered as a process that, in addition to collecting information, allows tracking and ensuring the security of assets. This article shows various technologies for traceability and asset monitoring, from the perspective of Industry 4.0. Through a case study in the metal mechanical industry, the solutions and benefits offered by the implementation of technologies based on RFID and GPS were analysed. With this proposal, it was possible to respond to the problem of the control and monitoring of welding equipment inside and outside the company. An automatic update of the locations was also achieved, through the use of GPS. The company estimates that with this implementation levels of reliability in the inventory close to 99% can be obtained, which would lead to guarantee the traceability of the assets.

1 Introduction

incorporation of new The information and communication technologies to transform aspects related to the design of production systems, manufacturing, storage, and logistics are some of the current trends in Industry 4.0 and intelligent manufacturing. To achieve an advantage in the market and ensure an adequate level of customer service, companies have used a set of technological tools to optimize different processes such as production, human resources, finance, information management, research and development, sales and logistics, maintenance, environment, security, design, project management, and asset management [1]. In the manufacturing sector, it is where technology-based applications mainly allow companies to stay and position themselves in increasingly competitive markets, providing innovative solutions to the different challenges they face throughout the supply chain.

Obtaining real-time information generated systematically through technologies for traceability has been one of the key factors for the digital transformation of the industry, boosting global competition and innovation of supply chains [2,3]. Due to the emergence of highly automated production processes and cyber-physical production systems in manufacturing operations in Industry 4.0, asset traceability problems have become more relevant at different stages of the supply chain, impacting not only in companies that traditionally perform highly regulated operations such as the pharmaceutical, aerospace and automotive sector.

Asset management has become a critical activity in organizations that share assets between their own companies or facilities, that is, a company that has several facilities within a region can share equipment or tools to perform different production processes in different locations. Mismanagement of assets, such as raw material and/or equipment, can hamper the quality of the product or cause the loss or theft of equipment. However, with the use of new technologies in Industry 4.0, these problems can be solved, to manage assets efficiently and advanced, as well as provide real-time data [4].

Technologies in Industry 4.0 play an important character in handling the flow of products and assets throughout the supply chain. Big data, the Internet of Things, and tag-based technologies for Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) allow us to share information on inventory levels, order policies, and forecasts of future demands, thus effectively communicating requirements throughout the supply chain. These internet-based technologies, connected with physical environments (machinery, equipment, mechanisms, among others), generate the so-called cyber-physical systems (CPS) which



are the main foundation of Industry 4.0. Fernandez-Carames et al. [5] also mention that these technologies promote horizontal integration of the supply chain, dynamically determining supply needs efficiently and in real-time, mainly between suppliers and manufacturers. The objective of this article is to show some technologies for asset traceability, from the perspective of Industry 4.0. Through a case study in the metal mechanical industry, the solutions and benefits offered by the implementation of technologies based on RFID and GPS were analysed. The hypothesis for this study was that with the implementation of technologies for traceability it is possible to significantly improve the levels of inventory reliability.

1.1 Asset Administration

Pittman and Atwater [6] through the APICS dictionary defines an asset as: "any resource owned by a company, whether tangible (cash, machinery, equipment, and inventories) or intangible (patents, software or licenses)". The ISO 55000 standard generalizes an asset as "an element, a thing or entity that has potential or real value for an organization". On the other hand, the British Standard Institute defines in BSI PAS 55-1, the term "active" as "machinery, property, buildings, vehicles and other items, and related systems that have a different and quantifiable commercial function or service" [7].

Asset management is described as a set of activities to achieve a specific business or organizational objective, which includes the identification, maintenance, and renewal of assets [8]. The British Standards Institute defines asset management as "the systematic and coordinated activities and practices through which an organization optimally and sustainably manages its assets, its performance, risks, and associated expenses throughout its life cycle with to achieve its strategic organizational plan" [7]. Maletič et. al [9] points out that asset management is also essential, especially for companies where their assets are the basis of their success. According to Hastings [10], asset management also involves the use of information technology-based systems to offer efficient visibility and control for the identification of equipment, locations, and monitoring of activities throughout the organization. Inventory management, sourcing and purchasing, cost estimation, maintenance routines, financial reports, and work processes are some of the main applications of information systems for asset management.

Lima and Costa [11] mentions that asset management is based on four fundamentals or principles that translate into continuous actions such as 1) focus on the value that the asset can deliver to the organization (value); 2) transform strategic decisions into technical, economic and financial decisions (alignment); 3) strengthen the implementation, operation and improvement of asset management within the organization (leadership); and 4) be confident that the assets will achieve their essential objective (assurance). In the environment of Industry 4.0, the transformation has been promoted towards the socalled "intelligent asset management", with the purpose of monitoring and tracking physical assets anywhere, by including technologies such as RFID or GPS tags to transform assets physicists in "intelligent assets". Nel and Jooste [12] indicate that intelligent asset management emphasizes the notion of technological processes to improve the collection and processing of information, in support of strategic decision making. The digitalization of the assets allows, in turn, the increase of the value of these for the organization. In the research carried out by Nel and Jooste [12], they point out that intelligent asset management is the integration between physical and virtual media that organizations use innovatively, to improve the management of their assets.

1.2 Traceability in Industry 4.0

The growing demand for highly customized products is a factor present in the fourth industrial revolution, directly impacting the different stages of the supply chain, which implies more flexible production systems and shorter product life cycles. To meet these requirements, CPS is applied to interconnect and self-manage production processes in an "intelligent factory" environment that incorporates external and internal conditions for autonomous adaptation for the benefit of optimizing these processes [13]. In the intelligent factory, the flow of bidirectional information between all components such as machines, products, control programs, and assets is understood through traceability.

Technology and systems for traceability are the main support for monitoring products within Industry 4.0. The concept of traceability according to ISO 8402 and ISO 9000 refers to the ability to track the history, application or location of an entity through registered identifications. Bougdira et al. [14] also mentions that due to the properties and characteristics of Industry 4.0, traceability should be considered as an intelligent process to register, identify and collect data in the different processes throughout the supply chain to recover the information, not only to track but also to ensure the security of the (active) objects within their environment. The information provided by the technology for traceability may include location, speed, acceleration, temperature, humidity, product information (price, dimensional information, physical characteristics, among others), as well as physical and physical condition. characteristics of the means of transport used for logistics [3].

Bar codes and global positioning systems (GPS) are some of the first technologies used for traceability and tracking. According to Halawa et. at [15], other technologies that are commonly used for tracking and location are Ultra Wide Band, radio frequency identification systems, and Wi-Fi vision and technology systems.

With the development of information systems and new concepts on CPS combined with the Internet of Things (IoT) and cloud computing, innovative technologies have



been promoted for traceability among which are: wireless networks, identification by radiofrequency and smart tags. In general, these technologies aim to provide real-time information for traceability and product tracking [4].

Table 1 shows some technologies for traceability and applications of these in different sectors such as

construction, medical equipment, and the education sector [16-19]. RFID, GPS, IoT, Cloud Computing, and Big Data are common technologies for asset management and identification.

Table 1	Traceabilit	y technologies	
			Ĩ

Source	Technology for traceability	Application / Tracked Object	
[16]	RFID	Construction sector	
[14]	Cloud computing Big data GPS	Not specified	
[4]	Internet of things	Health sector	
[17]	RFID	Educational system	
	Internet of things	Educational sector	
[15]	RFID	Not specified	
[18]	RFID	Health sector	
[19]	GPS sensors	Construction sector	

In the review of concepts and trends in Industry 4.0 by the authors Ben-Daya et al. [20], also indicate as technologies related to traceability to RFID, IoT and Big Data tags. The IoT applied to traceability in the supply chain, arose from the evolution of information and communication technologies that have been used for object tracking.

IoT refers to global networks in which several objects are integrated with electronic sensors, actuators, or other digital devices to collect and exchange data [21]. Ben-Daya et al. [20] also mention that IoT is a network of physical objects that are digitally connected to identify, track, and interact within a company and its supply chain, allowing visibility, monitoring, and information exchange. The main characteristics of the IoT that favour traceability in the supply chain are: (1) intelligent manufacturing systems, (2) real-time data acquisition, and (3) real-time visibility of production processes. Lee and Lee [22] identify IoT, wireless sensor networks (WSN), cloud computing, and RFID, as key technologies for IoT.

Besides, RFID tags are also considered as one of the most advanced technologies for supply chain traceability, influencing most of the industry, specifically impacting manufacturing sectors. Unlike barcode scanners, RFID generated data can be read at a distance of up to several meters [18]. RFID technology is widely used in the intelligent identification of assets so that they can connect and interact with each other through specific forms of interconnectivity [21]. RFID identification devices are labels or bar codes that are increasingly associated with systems for asset management. Systems for asset management based on architectures such as IoT are developed to track the products attached with the labels, which contain all the necessary information for traceability [15, 23].

Other technologies used by logistics companies, with information and data flow processes, are Real-Time Location Systems (RTLS). RTLS has properties for object identification, like those offered by RFID systems. Unlike RFID, RTLS enables continuous label localization in a space with an accuracy of up to 15 cm in supervised areas [24].

In this context, RFID technology is a key element for asset management due to its ability to integrate CPS, connecting objects in the physical world with their representations in information systems [12]. For example, among the applications of this technology for traceability, Bisio et al. [16] propose an original architecture designed to manage and track assets within construction sites, where they integrate a classic radio frequency (RFID) tracking solution, Bluetooth low energy tags and smartphones.

Finally, the preponderant technologies for traceability is Big data. Big data is a term that refers to a large amount of data, which exceeds the capacity of conventional software. In the context of Industry 4.0, data collection is the first step towards a comprehensive analysis of smart asset management. For example, in the manufacturing sector, Big data is used to obtain information to understand customer requirements and improve the user experience [25]. In asset management, Big Data in conjunction with IoT offer great opportunities, but also great challenges, for example, in terms of data exchange [8, 26].

2 Methodology

The company in which this case study was conducted is a company in the mechanical metal sector focused on the manufacture of mass cargo transportation for the railway industry, which has manufacturing centres located in Mexico and different countries. At the international level, the railway industry is characterized by technical, organizational, and operational complexity. Technological



progress for rolling stock, as well as infrastructure and increased capacity utilization, are some of the challenges facing the railway industry [27].

In Mexico, the supply chain of this company consists of national and international suppliers that deliver different inputs and materials (steels, welding, and special parts) for production. Some of the assemblies that are required within their production process, due to capacity and manufacturing times, are made outside the company.

One of the improvement issues that this manufacturing company has is the proper management of its assets. The reliability and traceability of assets are determining factors for the company's performance indicators. Because this company is under a projected organization, that is, production plans and programs are executed based on projects; Asset reliability levels are a vital element to ensure the proper administration and planning of inventories and assets that are required for the execution of a specific project. Particularly, welding equipment used in most production processes is one of the assets with the highest economic and strategic value for the business. The welding processes that are carried out with these assets represent 90% of the total production operations in the company, being the most relevant processes executed with MIG (Metal Inert Gas) welding.

A welding equipment consists of two basic elements: (1) a source, which has the function of generating energy, and (2) a feeder, which is used to initiate and maintain the arc between the wire and the base metal. The company owns about 1,000 welding equipment, with an average cost per team of USD 6,000, which presents a considerable investment in this type of assets. Welding equipment is distributed in two types of locations depending on the manufacturing processes, (1) internal locations, corresponding to the work positions along the different production lines, and (2) external locations corresponding to warehouses both own and suppliers, where special manufacturing processes are performed.

Due to outsourcing operations and in compliance with the quality requirements in the processes, the company has 31% of its welding equipment outside its facilities, that is, in external locations. Thus, the fact that the assets are in different internal and external locations, has caused problems for the traceability of inventories in this company. As shown in Figure 1, the process in which the welding equipment interacts starts at the request of the manufacturing department, which makes a requisition for the movement of the welding equipment to the previously planned external or internal locations.



Figure 1 Welding equipment application process

Subsequently, the welding engineering department validates that said equipment has the necessary technical characteristics for the assigned process and simultaneously generates the service request with which the maintenance department performs the corresponding installation. Once the installation of the equipment is completed, the same maintenance area updates the location of said asset through the Tool & Asset Manager (TAM) application. The TAM is an asset management tool, which allows the use of barcode readers and RFID tags, to identify and traceability of company assets [28].

The main function of the TAM in the company is the control of assets, such as tools, hydraulic equipment, communication equipment, power tools, and welding equipment. This application allows to manage and know the traceability, as well as the amount of tools and equipment that the company has, in addition to helping to determine the status of the same (new, in use, with failures, in repair, obsolete, with report of theft, in calibration, among others). The information collected by the TAM serves as a support in the decision-making process for the acquisition of equipment and tools for future projects, optimizing current resources. One of the restrictions of the TAM, is that the information mainly obtained from external locations, involves manually updating the databases by company personnel. In addition to the above, the continuous change of location of the assets and the lack of traceability in the external locations caused that in some



projects there were more welding equipment than necessary, while in other projects they would be unable to comply with the production due to the lack of such equipment.

As a sequence of this problem, the loss and loss of welding equipment, positioned the company at a 77% level of reliability in its inventories. Also, the economic impact was estimated, contrasting the theoretical inventories declared in the TAM system and the physical inventories, obtaining losses calculated for about 1.4 million dollars.

3 Result and discussion

The company evaluated different solutions for asset control based on strategies for identifying procedures and software applied to inventory traceability. However, these strategies proved to be ineffective, mainly due to the uncertainty in updating databases in external locations.

Subsequently, the company evaluated alternatives with Industry 4.0 technologies. RFID was the initial proposal because this technology is one of the most prolific for traceability in the supply chain. However, due to the movements of assets in locations outside the company, GPS technology was also evaluated, which is suitable in external environments.

The alternatives with RFID and GPS were evaluated, considering in each case the positive and negative attributes, as shown in Table 2.

Table 2 Attributes of the technologies analysed					
	R	CDS			
	Passive	Active	OF5		
Indoor operation	Yes	Yes	No		
Visibility in areas outside the company	No	No	Yes		
Two-way communication	No	Yes	No		
Tag size	3 mm - 50 mm	50 mm - 150 mm	50mm - 150 mm		
Reading range	0 m - 3 m	0 - 30 m	0 m - 20,500 km		
Battery life	-	Long	Long		
Infrastructure cost	Medium	High	Medium		
Maintenance cost	Low	Medium	Medium		
Operating cost	Low	Medium	Low		
Operating frequency	50 Khz	1.5 Ghz - 2.7 Ghz			

Specifically, in the configuration of the traceability information system, the organization followed a procedure based on (1) selection of network technology according to the needs of the company, (2) the development of engineering for its operation, which included aspects such as the placement of devices and sensors in welding equipment subject to traceability and (3) the evaluation of the development necessary for the data management system, including aspects such as communication infrastructure and interface of users. This study considered factors such as accuracy, accessibility, line of sight, wireless communication, data storage, and power supply.

Finally, after an agreed analysis and considering the need for visibility of assets in external locations as preponderant, the company selected GPS technology as a solution proposal. The proposal included a GPS model with the company's operating requirements, under the following characteristics: (1) two GPS check-In per day, (2) LTE-M connectivity, (3) offline storage, (4) SSL-protected Internet connectivity with 256-bit AES encryption and (5) 5-year battery life.

The implementation of these GPS-based technologies confirms that smart technologies have high potential, mainly for asset management. According to Nel and Jooste [12], it has been shown that the use of asset data analysis facilitates the management of their performance, so there is a need to create technological platforms that allow obtaining consistent and real-time information to Informed decision making. By implementing the proposal with GPS systems for external locations, the control and monitoring of the company's welding equipment were improved. Automatic updating of locations was also achieved, through the use of this technology. The company estimates that with this implementation you can obtain levels of reliability in the inventory close to 99%, which would lead to decrease equipment losses, generating savings on an annual average of 553, 634 USD.

Other particular benefits achieved with this proposal were: (1) improvement in the efficiency for data collection of equipment (quantity and location), (2) increase in the reliability of the inventory of welding equipment and (3) improvements in access of the complete history of the movements of the teams, such as dates, times, locations among others.

The integration of GPS technology with the RFIDbased TAM system allows traceability in locations inside and outside the company, in addition to ensuring real-time inventory reliability. Keeping asset locations updated was also one of the benefits achieved through this proposal.


TRACEABILITY IN INDUSTRY 4.0: A CASE STUDY IN THE METAL-MECHANICAL SECTOR Rafael Granillo-Macías; Isaias Simón-Marmolejo; Isidro J. González-Hernández; Jorge Zuno-Silva

4 Conclusions

Considering that "it can only be understood, what can be measured", technology-based traceability is a key tool that supports and provides a global vision throughout the processes of the supply chain. Currently, Industry 4.0 demands a higher priority for traceability even among the most conventional companies. CPS in industrial operations requires innovative technologies that allow efficient production, in a sustained supply chain, and completely connected to its different processes, from supply to the final customer.

Industry 4.0 also requires the identification and location of assets within the supply chain instantaneously to obtain information on their origin, storage, and status. Monitoring the current status of an asset through traceability technology allows **us to** provide the necessary tools for operational analysis, proposing more efficient routes and production processes. The balance in the use of technologies, for the traceability with the systems of administration of supplies, inventories, and finished products, arises as a response to the constant variations in customer demands. RFID, GPS, and RTLS are tools that are used in logistics, affecting the improvement in visibility, security, and risk reduction throughout the supply chain.

As was shown in the case study studied in this article, through the implementation of traceability technology such as GPS, it is possible to ensure the reliability of inventories and at the same time reduce the losses associated with the lack of visibility of assets along the supply chain. The use of massive data of GPS positions, in the assets of the company, also allowed to detect bottlenecks, achieving greater efficiency in logistics operations.

Acknowledgement

This article was supported by PRODEP Universidad Autonoma del Estado de Hidalgo [grant number UAEH-EXB-152].

References

- [1] TELUKDARIE, A., BUHULAIGA, E., BAG, S., GUPTA, S., LUO, Z.: Industry 4.0 implementation for multinationals, *Process Safety and Environmental Protection*, Vol. 118, No. August, pp. 316-329, 2018. doi:10.1016/j.psep.2018.06.030
- [2] PETCHROMPO, S., PARLIKAD, A.: A review of asset management literature on multi-asset systems, *Reliability Engineering and System Safety*, Vol.181, No. January, pp. 181-201, 2019. doi:10.1016/j.ress.2018.09.009
- [3] BASOLE, R., NOWAK, M.: Assimilation of tracking technology in the supply chain, *Transportation Research Part E*, Vol. 114, No. June, pp. 350-370, 2018. doi:10.1016/j.tre.2016.08.003
- [4] GANDHEWAR, R., GAURAV, A., KOKATE, K., KHETAN, H., KAMAT, H.: Cloud-Based Framework

for IoT Application with Asset Management, *Third International Conference on Electronics*, *Communication, and Aerospace Technology (ICECA)*, pp. 920-925, 2019.

- [5] FERNANDEZ-CARAMES., T.M., BLANCO-NOVOA, O., SUAREZ-ALBELA, M., FRAGA-LAMAS, P.: A UAV and Blockchain-Based System for Industry 4.0. Inventory and Traceability Applications, *Proceedings (International Electronic Conference on Sensors and Applications)*, pp. 1-7, 2019. doi:10.3390/ecsa-5-05758
- [6] PITTMAN, P., ATWATER, Y.: *APICS Dictionary*, 15th Edition, APICS, Chicago. 2016.
- [7] BSI. British Standards Institute, PAS55:2008-1:2008: Specification for the optimized management of physical assets. 2008.
- [8] METSO, L., KANS, M.: An ecosystem perspective on asset management information, *Proceedings of MPMM* 2016. Sweden, 2017. doi:10.1515/mspe-2017-0022
- [9] MALETIČ, D., MALETIČ, M., AL-NAJJAR, B., GOMISCEK, B.: Development of a Model Linking Physical Asset Management to Sustainability Performance: An Empirical Research, *Sustainability*, Vol. 10, No. 12, pp. 1-20, 2018. doi:10.3390/su10124759
- [10] HASTINGS, N.A.: *Physical asset management*. Springer, London. 2010.
- [11] LIMA, E. S., COSTA, A.: Improving Asset Management under a regulatory view, *Reliability Engineering and System Safety*, Vol. 190, No. October, pp. 143-160. 2019. doi:10.1016/j.ress.2019.106523
- [12] NEL, C.B.H., JOOSTE, J.L.: A technologicallydriven asset management approach to managing physical assets- A literature review and research agenda for smart asset management, *South African Journal of Industrial Engineering*, Vol. 27, No. 4, pp. 50-65, 2016. doi:10.7166/27-4-1478
- [13] TANTIK, E., ANDERL, Y R.: Integrated data model and structure for the asset administration shell in Industrie 4.0, *Procedia CIRP*, Vol. 1, pp. 86-91, 2017. doi:10.1016/j.procir.2017.01.048
- [14] BOUGDIRA, A., AKHARRAZ, I., AHAITOUF, A.: A traceability proposal for industry 4.0, *Journal of Ambient Intelligence and Humanized Computing*, pp. 125-139. 2019. doi:10.1007/s12652-019-01532-7
- [15] HALAWA, F., DAOUD, H., LEE, I., LI, S.W., YOON, Y., CHUNG, S.: Introduction of a real time location system to enhance the warehouse safety and operational efficiency, *International Journal of Production Economics*, Vol. 224, No. June, pp. 1-21, 2020. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2019.107541
- [16] BISIO, I., SCIARRONE, A., ZAPPATORE, S.: A new asset tracking architecture integrating RFID, Bluetooth Low Energy tags and ad hoc smartphone applications, *Pervasive and Mobile Computing*, Vol.



TRACEABILITY IN INDUSTRY 4.0: A CASE STUDY IN THE METAL-MECHANICAL SECTOR Rafael Granillo-Macías; Isaias Simón-Marmolejo; Isidro J. González-Hernández; Jorge Zuno-Silva

31, No. September, pp. 79-93, 2016. doi:10.1016/j.pmcj.2016.01.002

- [17] LOUW, L., WALKER, M.: Design and implementation of a low-cost RFID track and trace system in a learning factory. In D. Mourtzis & G. Chryssolouris (Eds.), 8th Conference on Learning Factories - Advanced Engineering Education & Training for Manufacturing Innovation, Vol. 23, pp. 255-260, 2018. doi:10.1016/j.promfg.2018.04.026
- [18] TSAI, M. H., PAN, C., WANG, C., CHEN, J., KUO,
 C.: RFID Medical Equipment Tracking System Based on a Location-Based Service Technique, *Journal of Medical and Biological Engineering*, Vol. 39, No. September, pp.163-169, 2019. doi:10.1007/s40846-018-0446-2
- [19] PARK, J. W., CHEN, J., CHO, Y K.: Self-corrective knowledge-based hybrid tracking system using BIM and multimodal sensors, *Advanced Engineering Informatics*, Vol. 32, No. April, pp. 126-138, 2017. *doi*:10.1016/j.aei.2017.02.001
- [20] BEN-DAYA, M., HASSINI, E., BAHROUN, Z.: Internet of things and supply chain management: a literature review, *International Journal of Production Research*, Vol. 57, No. 15-16, pp. 4719-4742, 2017. doi:10.1080/00207543.2017.1402140
- [21] ZHONG, R.Y., XU, X., KLOTZ, E., NEWMAN, S.: Intelligent Manufacturing in the Context of Industry 4.0: A Review, *Engineering*, Vol. 3, pp. 616-630, 2017. doi:10.1016/J.ENG.2017.05.015
- [22] LEE, I., LEE, K.: The Internet of Things (IoT): Applications, Investments, and Challenges for Enterprises, *Business Horizons*, Vol. 58, No. 4, pp. 431-440, 2015. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2015.03.008
- [23] SUBRAHMANYA-TEJESH, S.B., NEERAJA, S.: Warehouse inventory management system using IoT

and open-source framework, *Alexandria Engineering Journal*, Vol. 57, No. 4, pp. 3817-3823, 2018. doi:10.1016/j.aej.2018.02.003

- [24] CYPLIK, P., OLESKOW-SZLAPKA, J., TOBOLA, A., ADAMCZAK, M.: Building a model for assessing the maturity of polish enterprises in terms of logistics 4.0 assumptions, *Procedia International Scientific Conference Business Logistics in Modern Management*, pp. 105-120, 2019.
- [25] CAMPOS, J., SHARMA, P., GOROSTEGUI-GABIRIA, U., JANTUNEN, E., BAGLEE, D.: A big data analytical architecture for the Asset Management, *Procedia CIRP*, Vol. 64, pp. 369-374, 2017. doi:10.1016/j.procir.2017.03.019
- [26] RONG, K., HU, G., LIN, Y., SHI, Y., LIANG, L.: Understanding business ecosystem using a 6C framework in internet-of-Things-based sectors, *International Journal of Production Economics*, Vol. 159, No. January, pp. 41-55, 2015. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2014.09.003
- [27] KANS, M., GALAR, D., THADURI, A.: Maintenance 4.0 in Railway Transportation Industry, Proceedings of the 10th World Congress on Engineering Asset Management (WCEAM 2015), Vol. 3, pp. 317-331, 2016. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-27064-7_30
- [28] VINITYSOFT.: Tool & Asset Manager. [Online], Available: https://www.vinitysoft.com/tool-assetmanagement-software/, [24 May 2019], 2019.

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



Volume: 7 2020 Issue: 2 Pages: 103-109 ISSN 1339-5629

AUTONOMOUS MOBILE ROBOT TECHNOLOGY FOR SUPPLYING ASSEMBLY LINES IN THE AUTOMOTIVE INDUSTRY

Martin Čech; Pavel Wicher; Radim Lenort; Tomáš Malčic; Jiří David; David Holman; David Staš; Jiří Záruba

doi:10.22306/al.v7i2.164

Received: 03 Apr. 2020 Accepted: 06 June 2020

AUTONOMOUS MOBILE ROBOT TECHNOLOGY FOR SUPPLYING ASSEMBLY LINES IN THE AUTOMOTIVE INDUSTRY

Martin Čech

ŠKODA AUTO University, Na Karmeli 1457, 293 01 Mladá Boleslav, Czech Republic, EU, martin.cech@savs.cz (corresponding author)

Pavel Wicher

ŠKODA AUTO University, Na Karmeli 1457, 293 01 Mladá Boleslav, Czech Republic, EU, pavel.wicher@savs.cz Radim Lenort

ŠKODA AUTO University, Na Karmeli 1457, 293 01 Mladá Boleslav, Czech Republic, EU, radim.lenort@savs.cz **Tomáš Malčic**

ŠKODA AUTO University, Na Karmeli 1457, 293 01 Mladá Boleslav, Czech Republic, EU, tomas.malcic@savs.cz Jiří David

ŠKODA AUTO University, Na Karmeli 1457, 293 01 Mladá Boleslav, Czech Republic, EU, jiri.david@savs.cz David Holman

ŠKODA AUTO University, Na Karmeli 1457, 293 01 Mladá Boleslav, Czech Republic, EU, david.holman@savs.cz David Staš

ŠKODA AUTO University, Na Karmeli 1457, 293 01 Mladá Boleslav, Czech Republic, EU, david.stas@savs.cz Jiří Záruba

ŠKODA AUTO a.s., tř. Václava Klementa 869, 293 01 Mladá Boleslav, Czech Republic, EU,

jiri.zaruba@skoda-auto.cz

Keywords: autonomous mobile robot, automated guided vehicle, assembly line supply, automotive industry, material handling

Abstract: The ever-increasing customization and differentiation of the product portfolio and the shorter life cycle of products and technologies in the automotive industry lead to the development of flexible and convertible manufacturing and logistics technologies and systems at all stages of car production. In the field of supplying assembly lines in the automotive industry, such technologies are based on Autonomous Mobile Robots (AMRs). The aim of this paper is to create a comprehensive knowledge base for design, selection and implementation of AMR technology in the form of unit load carriers for supplying assembly line in the automotive industry. The outputs of the article are based on a case study aimed at assessing the feasibility of introducing AMR technology for supplying car assembly line parts with irregular consumption. The article presents a general procedure for feasibility study of the project of AMR assembly line supply and a comprehensive set of recommendations divided into five key categories: Technology, Management, Economics, Capacity, and Vendors.

1 Introduction

The trend in the current automotive industry is the increasing customization and differentiation of the product portfolio as well as the ever-shorter life cycle of products and technologies. This is a consequence of growing customer demands in a globalized and highly competitive automotive market. It can be assumed that this trend will continue through the implementation of alternative concepts of car use, new materials and technologies, in consumer behaviour and further changes individualization and personalization of cars. For this reason, it is necessary to fundamentally change the principles and technologies of production and logistics systems used by car manufacturers. It is necessary to change classical systems based on the principles of stable and mass production. For that purpose, flexible and

convertible production and logistics systems are being developed at all stages of car production.

At present, automated logistics systems based on Automated Guided Vehicle (AGV) technology are used in automotive assembly. They help car manufacturers to increase the efficiency and quality of logistics processes. However, the traditional AGVs are particularly popular for the regular and stable loading of assembly lines, as they are generally based on a limited number of pre-defined paths. This would make their use for irregularly loaded parts highly inefficient (low degree of utilization considering the purchase price of AGVs).

Recently, however, AGVs have seen rapid technological development. AGVs are becoming more sophisticated, flexible and cheaper. Autonomous Mobile Robots (AMRs) are now considered the highest AGV level. Their high degree of autonomy does not require the creation of pre-defined paths and AMRs can also be



Martin Čech; Pavel Wicher; Radim Lenort; Tomáš Malčic; Jiří David; David Holman; David Staš; Jiří Záruba

deployed to supply assembly lines with irregularly loaded parts, the number of which is constantly increasing due to customization and differentiation of cars.

Unfortunately, a systematic literature review has shown that there is still no comprehensive knowledge base (a comprehensive set of recommendations) to design, select and implement AMR technology for supplying an assembly line in the automotive industry. The aim of this article is to create this knowledge base. One of the following types of AMR technology can be used to supply assembly lines autonomously: towing vehicles, forklifts, and unit load carriers. The article focuses on the implementation of unit load carriers.

2 Literature review

2.1 AGV classification

Overall, AGV is a vehicle which can move in predetermined and specific direction automatically without human interference [1]. More specifically, AGV is a device for moving unit loads of materials from one place to another, within a facility, with no accompanying human operator. Vehicles are battery powered and an on-board computer controls the movement [2].

Gul and Rahiman [3] divide AGVs according to a path guidance principle into static and dynamic path vehicles. The static path vehicle uses pre-defined path between its origin and destination point. The dynamic path vehicle behaves autonomously to determine path by detecting and avoiding obstacle. Wang, Tao a Liu [4] states that traditional AGV plans routes by electromagnetic pathfollowing system, and avoids barriers by simple sensors, thus ensuring automatic driving along preset routes. On the contrary, modern AGVs are based on combination of RFID automatic recognition technology, laser guiding technology, wireless communication technology and model feature matching technology. They also state that the efficiency of route planning and group scheduling is increased significantly by combining with big data, the internet of things (IOT) technology and intelligence algorithms.

Gul, Rahiman a Nazli Alhady [5] divide AGVs according to technology of navigation into: (1) wired type, (2) guide type, (3) laser type, (4) gyro based, and (5) vision based. Vision based AGVs that use camera to acquire environment features and made decision based on those features to navigate the vehicle can be considered the highest level of technology.

2.2 AMRs in industrial logistics

In this study, AMRs are considered to be a subgroup of AGVs with a high degree of autonomous control by intelligence algorithms, dynamic path system, wireless communication technology, model matching technology, and primarily the vision-based navigation technology. A number of other AMR designations appear in scientific publications: Mobile Autonomous Robots (MAR),

Autonomously Moving Vehicles (AMV), or Mobile Autonomous Units (MAU). The authors consider these names synonymous.

Unger, Markert and Müller [6] state that AMRs are "mobile robots that can perceive their surroundings via various sensors and are able to react to changes in their environment" whereas "mobile robots are a special form of robots that consist of at least the components drive, control and manipulator and are able to move and navigate freely in a given area to fulfil various tasks". At the same time, these authors define the basic characteristics of AMRs: "They are capable of solving tasks with higher complexity without every single process step being explicitly taught. Programming of such devices is in general more task oriented and rule based (higher level of abstraction) than jobs of conventional robots. Solutions to problems are generated by algorithms in real time to cope with variations in processes.".

Scientific literature examines the benefits of AMR implementation in logistics systems. Zhang, Hu and Guan [7] define the following benefits: (1) Autonomous path planning, high level of flexibility, (2) The system operates steadily and safely, (3) High degree of intelligence and fewer staff members, and (4) Battery driven, green and environmentally friendly. Similarly, Unger, Markert and Müller [6] state the following benefits: (1) Higher flexibility in processes, (2) Improved ergonomic scorings of close by workstations, (3) Improved degree of capacity utilization for robots, (4) Higher economic efficiency and process stability, and (5) Automation of currently not automatable processes.

2.3 AMRs for supplying the automotive assembly lines and workplaces

Several studies dealing with the implementation of AMR technology in the automotive industry were found during the systematic literature review. Several of these studies dealt specifically with the use of AMR technology to supply the assembly line.

In their study, Koo, Yang and Suh [8] addressed the issue of determining the size of the AMR fleet needed for trouble-free operation of given production system. When determining the number of AMRs deployed, they took into account, in particular, the total vehicle travel time that includes empty vehicle travel time, loading time, loaded vehicle travel time, and unloading time. They defined an algorithm to determine the optimal fleet size based on the knowledge of travel time and frequency between locations.

Fathi et al. [9] developed an optimization model for material supply scheduling at missed-model assembly lines. The aim of the study was to optimally schedule the delivery of raw material at assembly lines while using the minimum number of vehicles. This model also provides accurate information on the planned deliveries, material type and quantity in a given cycle and the type of handling technology used.





AUTONOMOUS MOBILE ROBOT TECHNOLOGY FOR SUPPLYING ASSEMBLY LINES IN THE AUTOMOTIVE INDUSTRY Martin Čech; Pavel Wicher; Radim Lenort; Tomáš Malčic; Jiří David; David Holman; David Staš; Jiří Záruba

Kern, Lämmermann and Bauernhansl [10] proposed an integrated logistics concept for a modular assembly system. They describe a case study of the implementation of the integrated production logistics concept using AMR on the case of a pre-assembly line in a German car manufacturer. The subject of the case study was a preassembly line with manufacturing cells. In designing the concept, they considered consumed parts, logistics area, material flow, assembly sequences, and rules for assigning to workstations. The proposed concept made it possible to reduce the number of buffers, storage areas, handling units and parts inventory.

Zhang, Hu and Guan [7] proposed a hybrid-load AMR dispatching model, which allocates different types of AMR for different sizes of materials, for mixed-model car assembly line. The model is based on a combining the single-load and multi-load dispatching system. They used a genetic algorithm to solve the problem. The criterion of optimization is minimization of the total cost of logistics system.

Kousi et al. [11] designed a service oriented, web-based control system that would enable the monitoring of the shop floor status and the dynamic scheduling of material supply operations in a car assembly system using AMR technology. The control system is based on time and inventory data. Next, Kousi et al. [12] proposed a decisionmaking method for plan generation of part supply operations undertaken by AMR. The results of this study indicated that the method can provide high quality solutions, in terms of production volume and minimization of the line stoppages.

All the above studies proposed optimization models for selected AMR implementation and control problems for supplying automotive assembly lines, especially AMR fleet size determination, material supply planning and scheduling optimization, and selecting the AMR dispatching model. However, no study dealt with the issue comprehensively and in terms of managerial implications. The literature lacks a comprehensive set of recommendations that can serve as a knowledge base for the design, selection and implementation of AMR technology for supplying assembly lines in the automotive industry.

3 Research methodology

The basic research tool was a case study aimed at assessing the feasibility of introducing AMR technology for supplying car assembly line with parts with irregular consumption in a leading passenger car manufacturer.

Case study have often been considered as one of the basic methods of qualitative research, although it may also be quantitative or contain a combination of qualitative and quantitative approaches [13]. It is a research method involving an up-close, in-depth, and detailed examination of a subject of study (the case), as well as its related contextual conditions. There are various case study categorizations. For the needs of the presented research explanatory [14], intrinsic [15], and evaluative [16] case study was chosen.

At the beginning of the research, there was the requirement of the car manufacturer to assess replacing the current method of supplying the assembly line using human operated tow trains with vision based AMR supplying system. One of the following types of AMR technology could be used to supply assembly lines autonomously: towing vehicles, forklifts, and unit load carriers. The case study focuses on assessing the implementation of unit load carriers.

The study analysed the current state of supplying of the assembly line. The subject of the analysis was 88 workstations of the assembly line supplied with irregularly consumed parts, because regularly supplied parts are supplied by standard AGVs (with pre-defined paths). The parts are loaded in pallet containers which are placed on rolling racks. The containers and racks represent a handling unit.

The researched process was characterized by a high number of different combinations of supplied workstations, i.e. paths. The frequency of parts deliveries to workstations was on average 46 per hour, at peak times up to 80 per hour. Process of supplying workstations with parts begins with the emergence of need and call-of the parts from a particular workstation by an operator using a button and continues by picking the required parts from the warehouse at train station where the handling units are loaded onto the tow train. The process then continues with parts delivery to each workstation, whereas one tow train usually transports three handling units to three different workstations. Routing is based on the experience of tow train drivers. The full handling unit is unloaded and handled by the driver to a predetermined location at the target workstation. Next, the driver handles and loads an empty handling unit on the tow train. After performing the above operations at all three workstations, the tow train returns to the train station where empty handling units are unloaded on the designated area and the tow train is ready for another mission.

In the case study, research of currently available technologies was carried out and 76 vendors of potentially suitable technologies were identified. Based on a more detailed analysis of the technologies offered, 17 vendors were shortlisted, among whom a tender procedure was carried out. Benchmarking with other plants and external industrial companies was also carried out during the study. However, no case with a larger AMR fleet was found. Based on the information obtained, the proposal of the concept of AMR supplying the assembly line and the proposal of technological solution were carried out in three variants. A capacity calculation indicating the number of required AMRs was performed for each variant. Subsequently, three proposed variants were economically evaluated.



Martin Čech; Pavel Wicher; Radim Lenort; Tomáš Malčic; Jiří David; David Holman; David Staš; Jiří Záruba

4 Results and discussion

Based on the performed research and case study, the general procedure for feasibility study of the project of

AMR assembly line supply can be proposed. The procedure includes eight steps in recommended sequence, while some of the steps can be carried out in parallel as shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1 General procedure for feasibility study of the project of AMR assembly line supply

- 1. Benchmarking internal and external (competitive and functional) benchmarking of existing implementations.
- Current state analysis analysis of supplied workplaces, supplied parts, process of loading and unloading, frequency of supplying, manipulation units and packages, weight of supplied units, principles of supplying.
- 3. AMR market analysis search for available vendors and technologies, rough evaluation and selection of suitable vendors and technologies.
- 4. Technological solution proposal narrow selection of the most suitable technologies, proposal of supplying concept.
- 5. AMR vendor selection requirements specification, contacting suitable vendors, evaluation of business offers, final selection of the most relevant vendors.
- 6. Fleet size determination calculation considering the supply needs, capacity, speed, manipulation times and other parameters of selected technology.
- 7. Cost-benefit analysis calculation considering initial investments, operation costs, savings and return on investment, comparison of selected technologies and vendors.

8. Final decision – final selection of specific technology and vendor.

The following subchapters present generalized conclusions formulated based on the findings of the case study. The conclusions are structured into five categories and represent a set of recommendations that can serve as a knowledge base for designing, selecting and implementing unit load carriers type of AMR technology for supplying assembly lines in the automotive industry.

4.1 Technology

This category focuses on the technical aspects of AMR implementation, particularly in terms of additional technologies and accessories:

- The use of AMR technology to supply assembly lines usually requires their customization by purchasing special top modules (e.g. lift, hook, roller conveyor). Their choice depends on the type of handling operation and unit.
- It is important to decide whether the task of AMR system is only to transport (handling at the station and workstation is carried out by workers) or also to exchange the handling units (full/empty) and place them in a precisely defined location. For autonomous loading and unloading of handling units, it is necessary to select special accessories



Martin Čech; Pavel Wicher; Radim Lenort; Tomáš Malčic; Jiří David; David Holman; David Staš; Jiří Záruba

again. For example, racks and docks are commonly used for this purpose. However, their use increases space requirements at the assembly line (setting up an additional exchanging space). It is better to look for solutions that do not require additional space.

- Most AMRs in the basic version are unable to identify the parts being transported. This is important so that the AMR recognizes the target workstation at the train station. For automatic identification of transported parts, it is necessary to equip the AMR with additional technology, e.g. a camera enabling recognition of QR codes, which will be used to mark the handling units.
- An important criterion for the selection of technology is the range of load-bearing capacity of individual types. Some vendors specialize only in a certain load capacity (e.g. up to 100 kg or over 1000 kg). In order to select the appropriate technology, it is necessary to perform an analysis of the weight of the loaded handling units. Based on it, AMR fleet with appropriate ratios of load capacities should be selected.
- It is necessary to count on the allocation of the AMR charging area, which should be located in the immediate vicinity of the station.

4.2 Management

This category is oriented on the managerial and control aspects of AMR implementation:

- The handling operations performed by AMR at the workstations are so time consuming that basically a single-pallet system cannot be used. However, the two-pallet system is the standard in the automotive industry.
- The use of AMR to supply assembly line with irregularly consumed parts requires an advanced fleet management system based on advanced technologies (artificial intelligence) that allow efficient AMR collaboration and the whole fleet control. The importance of using this system grows with the number of AMRs in the fleet.
- In a classic automotive plant, several handling technologies (e.g. human operated or automated guided trains and forklifts), including pedestrians, are combined and they meet on the roads, which should be taken into account when designing the implementation, mainly to maintain road throughput.
- A preferred solution should be to introduce AMR and/or AGV technology from a single vendor. The simultaneous use of technologies from different vendors raises problems resulting from the reluctance of vendors to cooperate. This makes it difficult to implement an integrated control system. Managing technologies and

systems from different vendors also increases the administrative and financial resources requirements.

- The implementation of AMR technology enables increased road safety compared to humanoperated tow trains. AMRs are equipped with advanced safety systems and move at a lower speed.
- There is little experience to date with the quality and reliability of AMR systems. The technology has not been proven on a larger scale in the automotive industry. It is therefore necessary to take into account the need to eliminate a relatively large number of errors during the start-up of the technology.
- It is convenient to select a technology that allows the user to manage the entire system. Many systems cannot work without close cooperation with the vendor both during the implementation and the operation phase, which reduces the flexibility of setting up and managing the entire system and also increases the implementation and operation costs.

4.3 Economics

This category presents conclusions and insights on the cost of the technology and the return on investment:

- Features and functionality (navigation method, charging time, dimensions, fleet management, ability to bypass an obstacle, solution of crossroads, etc.) of AMRs available on the market is very diverse for a relatively similar price. Thus, the most advanced AMR technologies can be almost as affordable as standard AGV technologies.
- Depending on the chosen type of AMR, additional costs for top modules and accessories (e.g. racks, docks) allowing loading and unloading, identification of handling units, as well as for the modification or purchase of new rolling racks have to be expected.
- The return on investment of AMR technology implementation as a substitute for human operated supply depends mainly on personnel costs. Faster returns can be achieved especially in locations with expensive labour. However, the total elimination of personnel costs cannot be expected, as it will be necessary to establish the position of the AMR fleet dispatcher.

4.4 Capacity

This category focuses on the conclusions and findings regarding the calculation of the appropriate number of AMRs, i.e. the fleet size needed to supply the assembly line:



Martin Čech; Pavel Wicher; Radim Lenort; Tomáš Malčic; Jiří David; David Holman; David Staš; Jiří Záruba

- AMR moves slower than human-operated tow train. In order to secure the supply of the assembly line, there will be more AMRs in operation, which may overload selected roads and create traffic bottlenecks.
- The fact that the AMR real average speed differs significantly from the maximum speed indicated by the vendors must be taken into account in the capacity calculation. This depends mainly on the nature of the loaded handling units and the road traffic density.
- The calculation of the required number of AMRs is based on the determination of the AMRs total travel and handling time. The total time depends on the assembly line requirements in a specific period. The travel time is a multiple of AMR speed and the total distance travelled by AMRs in the given period. The handling time is a multiple of the time of one handling operation (unloading or loading of one manipulation unit) and the number of handling operations in the given period. Other times, which should be taken into account when determining the required number of AMRs are the charging time and a time reserve for other scheduled or unexpected events (e.g. maintenance, breakdowns, collisions).
- Supplying the irregularly consumed parts will result in peaks in real operation. These peaks cannot be fully covered by increasing number of AMRs. Their number would be so high that there would be a significant decrease in the average AMRs utilization and overall system inefficiency. It is therefore advisable to operate an alternative supply system for the peaks.

4.5 Vendors

This category presents the conclusions and findings of the AMR market analysis:

- The generally available public information on AMR technologies and the specifications published by the vendors are problematic, vague and often misleading and cannot lead to a relevant selection. Direct communication with vendors is essential for the initial selection of suitable technologies.
- Vendors come from different countries of the world, but regional support is needed for AMR technology selection, implementation, and operation. Unfortunately, the support is not available for all vendors or can be very problematic if they are located far from the implementation site.
- To date, there are very few applications with a larger fleet of AMRs in the field of assembly manufacturing, which makes it impossible to

obtain relevant references and practical experience with a particular technology.

• Many vendors are specialized. They develop tailor-made AMRs for special purposes and do not provide standard ready to use solutions.

5 Conclusion

The use of AMR technology for supplying assembly lines in the automotive industry, especially for supplying irregularly consumable parts, represents a great potential for companies' efficiency improvement. However, its implementation is also a major challenge. Although technology and the AMR market are evolving rapidly, there is still a lack of experience in deploying a larger fleet of AMRs. Since its implementation requires relatively large investments, the decision and the subsequent implementation project must be based on a comprehensive and high-quality knowledge base. For this purpose, the article presents a comprehensive set of recommendations that address the technological, managerial and control, economics, capacity and vendors aspects of the design, selection and implementation of AMR technology for supplying assembly lines in the automotive industry. Based on the performed research, it is not possible to unambiguously recommend a specific AMR technology for supplying the assembly line in the automotive industry. When considering the implementation of the AMR fleet, each company should responsibly approach the research and assessment of the suitability of currently available technologies. The criteria for selecting the appropriate technology must always be based on the specific needs and capabilities of a particular company. In addition to the technical and economic parameters of individual technologies, it is necessary to take into account factors concerning, for example, the possibilities of selfgovernment of the entire system, compatibility with technologies operated in parallel or supplier support. An important factor for the design of the assembly line supply system in the automotive system and the selection of a suitable technology is also the capacity calculation, resp. fleet size and traffic load. The issue of the implementation of AMR for supplying the assembly lines in the automotive industry is complex and the assessment of the suitability of a particular technology depends primarily on setting the significance of the individual criteria assessed. In general, given the dynamics of development of this field, it is possible to recommend an orientation to the most advanced technologies and user-friendliness of the entire solution, which plays an important role in real operation.

References

[1] CHEVALIER, P., POCHET, Y., TALBOTT, L.: Design of a 2-stations automated guided vehicle systems, in: KLOSE A., SPERANZA M.G., Van WASSENHOVE L.N.: *Quantitative Approaches to distribution logistics and supply chain management,*



Martin Čech; Pavel Wicher; Radim Lenort; Tomáš Malčic; Jiří David; David Holman; David Staš; Jiří Záruba

Lecture Notes in Economics and Mathematical Systems, Vol. 519, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, Germany, 2002. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-56183-2_18.

- [2] BRALLA, J.G.: Handbook of Manufacturing Processes - How Products, Components and Materials are Made, New York, Industrial Press, 2007.
- [3] GUL, F., RAHIMAN, W.: An Integrated approach for Path Planning for Mobile Robot Using Bi-RRT, in: *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, Vol. 697, pp. 12-22, 2019. doi:10.1088/1757-899X/697/1/012022
- [4] WANG, T., TAO, Y., LIU, H.: Current Researches and Future Development Trend of Intelligent Robot: A Review, *International Journal of Automation and Computing*, Vol. 15, No. 5, pp. 525-546, 2018. doi:10.1007/s11633-018-1115-1
- [5] GUL, F., RAHIMAN, W., NAZLI ALHADY, S.: A comprehensive study for robot navigation techniques, *Cogent Engineering*, Vol. 6, No. 1, 2019. doi:10.1080/23311916.2019.1632046
- [6] UNGER, H., MARKERT, T., MULLER, E., Evaluation of use cases of autonomous mobile robots in factory environments, *Procedia Manufacturing*, Vol. 17, pp. 254-261, 2018. doi:10.1016/j.promfg.2018.10.044
- [7] ZHANG, L., HU, Y., GUAN, Y.: Research on hybridload AGV dispatching problem for mixed-model automobile assembly line, *Procedia CIRP*, Vol. 81, pp. 1059-1064, 2019. doi: 10.1016/j.procir.2019.03.251
- [8] KOO, P., JANG, J., SUH, J.: Estimation of Part Waiting Time and Fleet Sizing in AGV Systems, *International Journal of Flexible Manufacturing Systems*, Vol. 16, pp. 211-228, 2004. doi:10.1007/s10696-005-1008-9

- [9] FATHI, M., SYBERFELDTT, A., GHOBAKHLOO, M., ESKANDARI, H.: An optimization model for material supply scheduling at mixed-model assembly lines, *Procedia CIRP*, Vol. 72, pp. 1258-1263, 2018.
- [10] KERN, W., LAMMERMANNN, H., BAUERHANSL, T.: An Integrated Logistics Concept for a Modular Assembly System, *Procedia Manufacturing*, Vol. 11, pp. 957-964, 2017. doi:10.1016/j.procir.2018.03.274
- [11] KOUSI, N., KOUKAS, S., MICHALOS, G., MAKRIS, S., CHRYSSOLOURIS, G.: Service Oriented Architecture for Dynamic Scheduling of Mobile Robots for Material Supply, *Procedia CIRP*, Vol. 55, pp. 18-22, 2016. doi:10.1016/j.procir.2016.09.014
- [12] KOUSI, N., MICHALOS G., MAKRIS, S., CHRYSSOLOURIS, G.: Short – term Planning for Part Supply in Assembly Lines Using Mobile Robots, *Procedia CIRP*, Vol. 44, pp. 371-376, 2016. doi:10.1016/j.procir.2016.02.131
- [13] STARMAN, A.B.: The case study as a type of qualitative research, *Journal of Contemporary Educational Studies/Sodobna Pedagogika*, Vol. 64, pp. 28-43, 2013.
- [14] YIN, R.K.: Case Study Research: Design and Methods, SAGE: Beverly Hills, California, USA, 1984.
- [15] STAKE, R.E.: *The Art of Case Study Research*, SAGE: London, England, 1995.
- [16] McDONOUGH, J., McDONOUGH, S.: Research Methods for English Language Teachers, Arnold: London, England, 1997.

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



OPTIMIZATION OF TECHNOLOGICAL JIGS FLOW IN AUTOMOTIVE USING SOFTWARE MODULE TECNOMATIX PLANT SIMULATION

Miriam Pekarčíková; Peter Trebuňa; Marek Kliment; Milan Edl; Ladislav Rosocha

doi:10.22306/al.v7i2.167

Received: 15 Apr. 2020 Accepted: 05 June 2020

OPTIMIZATION OF TECHNOLOGICAL JIGS FLOW IN AUTOMOTIVE USING SOFTWARE MODULE TECNOMATIX PLANT SIMULATION

Miriam Pekarčíková

Technical University of Kosice, Faculty of Mechanical Engineering, Institute of Management, Industrial and Digital Engineering, Park Komenskeho 9, 042 00 Kosice, Slovak Republic, EU, miriam.pekarcikova@tuke.sk (corresponding author)

Peter Trebuňa

Technical University of Kosice, Faculty of Mechanical Engineering, Institute of Management, Industrial and Digital Engineering, Park Komenskeho 9, 042 00 Kosice, Slovak Republic,

peter.trebuna@tuke.sk

Marek Kliment

Technical University of Kosice, Faculty of Mechanical Engineering, Institute of Management, Industrial and Digital Engineering, Park Komenskeho 9, 042 00 Kosice, Slovak Republic,

marek.kliment@tuke.sk

Milan Edl

University of West Bohemia, Faculty of Mechanical Engineering, Department of Industrial Engineering and Management, Univerzitni 8, 301 00 Plzen, Czech Republic,

edl@fst.zcu.cz

Ladislav Rosocha

Technical University of Kosice, Faculty of Mechanical Engineering, Institute of Management, Industrial and Digital Engineering, Park Komenskeho 9, 042 00 Kosice, Slovak Republic,

ladislav.rosocha@tuke.sk

Keywords: material flow, jigs, automobile body, optimization, simulation

Abstract: Production must be adapted to the needs of the product structure while meeting the economic requirements of low cost. As processes will be monitored, managed and optimized in near real-time, decentralization of decision-making processes will also increase. Due to the heterogeneous structure of the value chain, its complexity is increasing, reorganized, causing changes to the system as a whole and will require the creation of appropriate infrastructures. Mastering the value chain dynamics is largely translated into logistics. This paper deals with the optimization of the flow of technological jigs at the workplace of the paint shop in a company that is oriented to the automotive industry. The design of an optimal solution will be verified using the selected software module Tecnomatix Plant simulation. Description and analysis of monitored flows of technological preparations are realized in the workplace Painting. The simulation model of the original state was created and by testing alternative solutions the solution of inter-operational transport was chosen, which is optimal. The use of software support in the analysis of variant solutions is of great importance especially in terms of speed of verification and achievement of results from the tested variants.

1 Introduction

The authors [1] in their study "Industry 4.0 and the Current Status and Future Prospects on Logistics" focuses on clarifying the impact of the Industry 4.0 concept on logistics. Under Industry 4.0 they understand the introduction of CPS, IoT, IoS and Smart Factory. Although the concept of Industry 4.0 is only at the beginning of its development and it is not known how it will be reflected in practice, its impact on logistics is still uncertain, the authors note its enormous importance and potential of use especially in the field of logistics. Regarding the introduction of these technologies, the authors argue that "Industry 4.0 can, by its very nature, become a reality only if logistics can provide production systems with the required inputs at the right time, quality and in the right place" [1].

Logistics in large halls must be precisely planned to save time, increase efficiency and thus reduce costs and increase production. The whole material flow must, therefore, be one perfectly functioning system. The growing competitive environment, which forces companies to reduce production times, inter alia, leads to continuous improvement in inter-operational transport [2,3].

The goal by making the logistics model is to simplify the mapping of complex logistics systems in order to gain knowledge, that can be transferred back to real system without interrupting current flows. In general, the simulation model of real logistics system is simplified through abstraction and idealization. The abstraction allows the real elements, relationships, and attributes omitted in order to concentrate on the essential system



components. The idealization, however, allows you to view these components in the created simulation model, but in a simplified form [4-6].

For example, as stated in the case study, when simulating a assembly line in automotive, not all part positions that are installed in the vehicle are shown. This abstraction leads to that the simulation model used remains manageable and controllable. At the same time, the real component is represented by idealization in a softwarespecific component without, for example, displaying the geometric dimensions more precisely in the model. With both approaches, it is first necessary to decide which system components are mapped or how they are simplified. Which specific selection decision is made can, however, only be made in individual cases and always goal-oriented [7-9]. The higher level is the direction to the digital enterprise, i.e. through the creation of a digital twin, it would be possible to create a fully valuable system in a virtual environment with the possibility of virtual set-up and process optimization without interfering with the real system, and through digital twin, technologies to implement them directly into the real system [10-14].

Currently, there are programs to solve such problems that save time in designing workplaces and logistics. TX Plant Simulation is a software tool that allows engineers to create digital models and simulations of both logistics and manufacturing systems. It offers a wide range of modules to monitor the individual production process [15-18].

It is these software programs, automation, and robotization of production processes that represent the fourth industrial revolution. Companies, as well as individuals, are constantly striving to design, develop and implement new ways of production, simplification, optimization, and rationalization. In the world we know today, it is unimaginable that simulation programs, models, robots and other advanced technologies are not used in preproduction phases such as planning, design, and production. Robots and production automation itself are slowly replacing human activity, thus avoiding errors in the production process. All of this takes human society to the next level and creates a world of technology [19-26].

The case study below analyzes the workplace painting in a company focused on the automotive industry, simulates the current state and concludes with a proposal for a solution for inter-operational transport. Tx Plant Simulation was used to create a simulation model of current material flows in the workplace painting.

2 Material and Methods

2.1 Description of used software Tecnomatix Plant Simulation

Tecnomatix Plant Simulation support discrete-event simulation. It shows the state changes of the model components at certain points in time, not continually over time. When certain events take place, certain model components change their state and thus control the simulation. This software considers these events in a discrete way, step-by-step. The main advantage is that TX Plant Simulation skips the time between the events. In addition, TX Plant Simulation is an object-oriented application, that allows child objects to inherit properties from a parent object [15]. Different and very complex systems and business processes can be represented realistically and with high accuracy. The object-oriented, graphic and integrated work environment has increased user acceptance. Working with objects that are inherited has great advantages:

- adjustments are made much faster,
- parameter changes are made more securely in the entire model.



Figure 1 Company-wide simulation with TX Plant simulation and integration example [7]



Miriam Pekarčíková; Peter Trebuňa; Marek Kliment; Milan Edl; Ladislav Rosocha

The extraordinary functionality in the creation of models, as well as the easy modification and maintenance of created models in TX Plant Simulation have made the universal and productive use this tool possible. The data exchange during the simulation run and the complete control of TX Plant Simulation by other programs (e.g. PPS, ERP system, etc.) are important for integrated solutions. Via the existing interfaces, TX Plant Simulation is open for individual extensions and fulfils all practical integration requirements. TX Plant Simulation integrates with many other software systems, (Figure 1).

Throughout the automotive manufacturing process, processes in the paint shop are among the most technologically demanding, as they include various processes based on the chemical, thermochemical, physical and technological properties of the materials used, such as: paint, paint, putty, bodywork, chemicals used in individual processes, etc.

2.2 Layout Workplace Position Painting Module

Throughout the automotive manufacturing process, processes in the paint shop are among the most technologically demanding, as they include various processes based on the chemical, thermochemical, physical and technological properties of the materials used, such as: paint, paint, putty, bodywork, chemicals used in individual processes, etc.

The workplace of the paint removal process consists of two parts. This is from an enclosed and ventilated area, where there are three paint removers, a sump for working with a high-pressure device, and a place for blowing with compressed air. In this part of the workplace, the operator inserts resp. removes rotary baskets from paint removers. Here, the paints are removed after each painting process. This workstation is closed in order to prevent the odor spread of the chemical varnish medium present in the varnish modules during the varnishing process. Therefore, during insertion respectively. When removing the rotary basket from the machine, the worker must use personal protective equipment (face mask for respiratory protection, protective shield, chemical gloves, rubber boots, chemical coat, protective headphones).

In the case study, an analysis of the flow of auxiliary technological products and an analysis of the current working positions that perform the manipulation with the given technological auxiliaries was created. The bodywork in the painting process passes through specific workplaces to obtain a final look. Bodies move along the conveyor system with a length of 7.5 km. This system also includes a 360° rotary immersion system, which is used in degreasing and pretreatment processes. By means of these processes, the body is free of dirt and grease, and at the same time in the subsequent cataphoresis process a protective layer is applied. There are 80 robots integrated

in the entire painting process, which are used to apply sealant and paint. The paints used in the coating process are water-dilutable and therefore do not significantly pollute or damage the environment. The process of applying paint and varnish is flexible, so the company offers several colors for each model. The amount of color shades for each model is described in Table 1.

Table 1 Quantity of colors for individual models in the company

Model	Number of shades			
Α	13			
В	14			
С	10			

Analysis of the current state is focused on the flow of auxiliary technological jigs, which are not part of the final form of the automobile body, as parts or components, so that they do not create the added value of the product. These preparations are designed to facilitate the work of operators, but also robots in robotized workplaces. The types of preparations analyzed have a fixation, support, and auxiliary function.

The fixatives are mainly used to fix the front and rear doors and the front and rear bonnets during degreasing, pretreatment and cataphoresis processes. Thanks to these products, the opening of the individual body parts is prevented since 360° rotation occurs during these processes.

Supporting products are used mainly during the movement of car bodies between individual workplaces of the paint shop, but also in production halls (from the welding shop to the paint shop, from the paint shop to assembly). Supporting agents are also important during the process of applying the sealant to the inner body. These pro Auxiliaries perform various functions. Whether they simplify opening the front resp. hold the door open while moving between workstations, or help keep the door open during the process of applying the sealant to the inner part. Some of these formulations also undergo a coating process. Jigs that pass through this process must, after removal from the manufacturing process, be removed by stripping in the stripping module operated by the operator at position no. 1.

The work positions analyzed in this chapter are handled by external company workers who carry out the transport and supply of individual workpieces with preparations, operate the stripping module and perform other work and handling activities described in the workflows.

2.3 Process Flow on workplace painting

In Table 2, the individual preparations which enter the production are described. The table shows in which workplaces the products enter and exit the production. The last column of this table shows which operator is in charge of transporting the product to the workplace.



OPTIMIZATION OF TECHNOLOGICAL JIGS FLOW IN AUTOMOTIVE USING SOFTWARE MODULE TECNOMATIX PLANT SIMULATION

Miriam Pekarčíková; Peter Trebuňa; Marek Kliment; Milan Edl; Ladislav Rosocha

	Table 2 Overview of jigs at the workplace painting					
No.	Jigs' name	IN	OUT	Notice	Operator 's manipulation	
1.	front hood support (from welding)	Welding area	Preclean		Op.3 Preclean - Welding area	
2.	rubber stop rear bonnet	Welding area	Preclean	-	Op.3 Preclean - Welding area	
3.	door fixation	Welding area	ЛG Station	paint removing the preparation over the weekend	Op.3 JIG Station - Welding area	
4.	door hinge screws	Welding area	Assembly	ASSY-Paint removing module	Op.2 Paint removing module - Welding area	
5.	fixing the front and rear bonnet	Preclean	ЛG Station	Washing the jigs over the weekend	Ор ЛG Station	.3 - Preclean
6.	magnet into the door	JIG Station	Sealer	-	Op Sealer - Ju	.3 G Station
7.	long bonnet support (front and rear bonnet)	JIG Station	Deadener Pad	-	Op Deadener Pad	.2 - ЛG Station
8.	artificial roof preparation	JIG Station	WAX	-	Op WAX - JI	.2 G Station
9.	plastic door stop	ЛG Station	Assembly	Single use	-	
. 10	tailgate opening jig	Sealer	WAX	WAX - Paint removing module	Op.1 Paint removing module - Sealer	Op.2 WAX - Paint removing module
. 11	fuel tank cap holder	Deadener Pad	WAX	WAX - Paint removing module	Op.1 Paint removing module - Deadener Pad	Op.2 WAX - Paint removing module
. 12	front bonnet opener	Deadener Pad	WAX	WAX - Paint removing module	Op.1 Paint removing module - Deadener Pad	Op.2 WAX - Paint removing module
. 13	front bonnet support	Deadener Pad	WAX	Outsourcing	Op WAX - Deade	.2 mer Pad
. 14	fixation strip	WAX	Assembly-Door off	-	Op Assembly	.1 7 -WAX
. 15	pin under the front bonnet	WAX	Assembly-T220	-	Op Assembly	.1 / -WAX
. 16	panoramic roof pin	Sunroof	Assembly-Door off	-	Op Assembly	.1 -Sunroof

In the following Figure 2 is a schematic diagram of the input resp. input circuit output of preparations to/from production. The solid circle marks the mounting of the fixture on the automobile body. Removing the jig from the automobile body is indicated by an empty circle. The full arrow is characterized by the transport resp. moving the mounted fixture on the body during the manufacturing process. Dashed arrows indicate routes of jig which after

disassembly continue to the paint removing module for the paint removing process.

Color differentiation of individual arrows is created for the transparency of entry and exit of individual jigs according to workplaces where the jigs are mounted respectively. removed from the automobile body. Numbers by the full and empty circles are denominations of individual jigs from the Table 2.



OPTIMIZATION OF TECHNOLOGICAL JIGS FLOW IN AUTOMOTIVE USING SOFTWARE MODULE TECNOMATIX PLANT SIMULATION

Miriam Pekarčíková; Peter Trebuňa; Marek Kliment; Milan Edl; Ladislav Rosocha



Figure 2 Scheme of jigs cycle

In Figure 3 are show the automobile body and the individual jigs whose color differentiation serves to illustrate the entry of the jigs into the individual

workplaces. The locations where the jigs are mounted on the automobile body are indicated by arrows.



Figure 3 Placing the jigs on the automobile body





OPTIMIZATION OF TECHNOLOGICAL JIGS FLOW IN AUTOMOTIVE USING SOFTWARE MODULE TECNOMATIX PLANT SIMULATION Miriam Pekarčíková; Peter Trebuňa; Marek Kliment; Milan Edl; Ladislav Rosocha

2.4 Creation of simulation model of material flow of technological jigs on position: Paint removal module

The worker in this position carries out the preparation of supporting and fixation products for production, their removal or the operation of the removal equipment of the products and their subsequent logistics for individual workplaces. At the same time, he is in charge of transporting some types of jigs from assembly to paint shop.

Paint removal of the formulations is carried out in rotary baskets into which the formulations are stored according to the prescribed procedure. After the stripping process has been completed, the operator must subsequently rinse the preparations with water using a high-pressure device. After rinsing the cleaning medium, the worker must remove the residual water preparations by blowing with compressed air to ensure their dryness. The final rinse and blow-off process of the formulations is performed to remove residual amounts of cleaning medium that can cause contamination of the body surface and hence quality problems.

In addition to the preparation of support and fixation products for paint removal and for the operation of the paint module, this work is also in charge of the product logistics. The varnished, rinsed and dried preparations are sorted and stored by the worker and are prepared to handle trolleys according to the type of preparation. It then delivers these product trolleys to Deadener Pad and Sealer. During the varnishing process, this worker also takes care of the logistics of some types of fixtures (fixation tapes, pegs under the front hood and pegs on the panoramic roof) from assembly workplaces to paint shops workplaces.

Movement worker on position: Paint removal module

The job description of the employee in this position is not only the operation of the workplaces of the Paint removal modules but also the transport of individual products to the workplaces. The routes along which the worker transports the individual jigs are mapped in Figure 4.



Figure 4 Motion map of worker on position: Paint removal module

After completing the preparatory work, inserting the fixtures and operating the paint remover, the worker collects and transports the fixtures (panoramic roof pin, fixation strip and pin under the front hood) from the Assembly Offices (Door off, T220) to the workplace Painting, first to Sunroof and then to WAX. After unloading at the WAX site, the worker returns to the paint module. The worker's movement along this route is marked in red.

After the removal process has been completed and the painting preparations are sorted into prepared handling

trolleys. The transport route for the Deadener Pad is marked in blue. The transport route to Sealer is indicated in green.

2.5 Suggestion of optimal solution of the flow of technological jigs in the examined company.

From the results of observation, data collection and analysis of logistics workers in the workplace painting about and subsequent creation of simulation models of individual manipulation workplaces, re-design of these



OPTIMIZATION OF TECHNOLOGICAL JIGS FLOW IN AUTOMOTIVE USING SOFTWARE MODULE TECNOMATIX PLANT SIMULATION Miriam Pekarčíková; Peter Trebuňa; Marek Kliment; Milan Edl; Ladislav Rosocha

workplaces was created. This solution is based mainly on observation and analysis.

The re-design of the workstation relates to position no.1 of the painting module and position no.2 of the WAX. The proposed change and optimization are to move the operation:

• Transfer of painting jigs (tailgate opening jig) to Sealer.

This process is removed from the workflow for position no. 1, and is assigned to the worker of position no. 2 WAX. This operation will be a worker at position no. 2 can be carried out after the transport of the preparations from the WAX workplace, which then proceed to the paint removal process. After completion of the previous paint stripping cycle, when the compositions are painted, depleted of the cleaning medium by a high-pressure device, blow-dried and sorted into ready-to-carry carts. Subsequently, the worker at position no. 2 transports the tailgate jigs to Sealer.

The reason for this proposal and optimization of the occupancy worker at position no. 1, which is responsible for operating the paint remover work module, which includes three paint removal device.

At the same time, it is responsible for the correct storage of the products in the baskets. An important activity is also the proper cleaning of paintings products, their drying with compressed air and subsequent sorting into handling trolleys and their distribution to workplaces, according to the working procedure. Between these operations, he must also transport the jigs from assembly to the workplace painting

When the worker at position no. 2 WAX was observed short downtimes were detected. Assignment of the above operation does not burden the worker at position 2 significantly, because the operation is performed every two hours.

Table 3 Comparing the current and proposed state after simulation

Current status		Proposed state		
Traveled Distan	ice	Traveled Distance		
Т	raveled Distance	Т	raveled Distance	
.MUs.Pozicia1:1	5294.55m	.MUs.Pozicia1:1 4631		
Object	Number of Entries	Object	Number of Entries	

The proposed change for position no. 1 of the painting module and position 2 of the WAX is shown in Figure. 5. In Figure. 5 is a red highlighted route to the Sealer site that the worker had not previously performed in that position. At the same time in Figure 6 is shown a 3D model of the proposed optimization.





OPTIMIZATION OF TECHNOLOGICAL JIGS FLOW IN AUTOMOTIVE USING SOFTWARE MODULE TECNOMATIX PLANT SIMULATION

Miriam Pekarčíková; Peter Trebuňa; Marek Kliment; Milan Edl; Ladislav Rosocha



Figure 6 3D model of the proposed optimization

After elaboration of the optimization proposal and subsequent simulation of this proposal are shown in Tab. 3 taken into account and compared two indicators of the current and proposed state, namely the distance traveled by the worker in position no. 1 during a 12-hour change and the number of inputs to workplaces. The current system will pass 5294.55 meters and the proposed is 4631.05 meters. The difference between these distances is 663.5 meters. The distance that has been shortened to the worker at position no. 1, when transporting the preparations to the workplace, Sealer creates a time reserve. Thanks to this time reserve, the worker can focus on the processes related to the painting process, in particular the processes of rinsing off the painting jigs with a high-pressure device and the subsequent blowing off of the cleaning medium residues. Focusing on this process is very important as this process avoids the possible contamination of the automobile body and hence quality problems.

The second indicator that points to an increase in the necessary time reserve is the number of inputs to workplaces. When comparing the current and the proposed situation, we can point to a reduction in the number of inputs to 36 compared to the original 39.

• Transfer of painting jigs (tailgate opening jig) to Sealer.

3 Result and discussion

The use of simulations and the creation of simulation models is nowadays an essential part of modern enterprises for maintaining but also increasing their competitiveness in the market. The use of simulation software facilitates but mainly speeds up the pre-production phase of the process. In this phase, when planning, designing, resp. re-designing both production and non-production processes is an important factor in time. Simulation programs significantly reduce this time compared to mathematical models resp. experiment during operation. Along with the reduction of time, the costs of introducing new or changes to the original system are also reduced. These two variables can be characterized as important indicators in the introduction of new resp. changes to legacy systems. Before developing a simulation model in this case study, it was necessary to develop an in-depth analysis of the system with a focus on logistics staff. Workers in these positions are responsible for transporting a group of products between the individual workplaces of the painting.

The analysis was created from the results of observation and data collection, in a workplace painting in a company focused on the automotive industry. Part of the analysis is the characteristics of the monitored job positions. The next part of the analysis was the workflow, which is processed in the tables. Subsequently, a table was drawn up of the jigs that the worker transported between workplaces. The next section describes the routes, layouts of workplaces and handling trucks on which the worker transports the jigs. The simulation model of the current system was developed from the knowledge from analysis and observation. The final part is a proposal for the optimization of the current system. Optimization related to position no. 1 Paint removing module from which the process Movement of the painting jigs (tailgate opening jigs) was taken away to the Sealer position. This operation has been assigned to the worker of position no. 2 WAX, thereby reducing the time and physical intensity of position



no. 1. This proposal is based on observation and in-depth analysis of the current system directly in the company.

The results of the simulation of the current and proposed status were compared based on two indicators, namely the distance travelled by the worker during the change and the number of entrances to the workplaces. When comparing the distance indicator between the current and the proposed condition, a difference of 663.5 meters was made. The difference in the two indicators results in a new time pool that the worker can use to focus on rinsing and blowing processes, which are very important in preventing automobile body surface contamination that results in qualitative errors.

4 Conclusions

Current tools for modeling and simulation of logistic processes enable the creation of models, simulation experiments, statistical analyzes, and have a library of predefined entities that can be extended. However, they are not flexible enough to increase the agility of individual entities through the introduction of technological innovation. However, the increasing degree of autonomy of individual elements of the system requires the solution of new problems related to modeling and implementation of autonomous Logistics 4.0. There is a need to apply sophisticated simulation tools that have computational and communication capabilities and can create a digitized image of a real system. This leads to a significant transformation of the so-called hardware logistics to software logistics.

Technological innovations, particular CFS and IoT, create an integration element between decision-making and performance processes that increases the efficiency of bidirectional information flows. There is a need to ensure active and individual communication capability between individual elements of the system. This leads to optimal production adapted to the specific product. The products themselves are looking for their production flow as the distribution of available capacities is subject to a dynamic solution of the products themselves.

Acknowledgement

This article was created by implementation of the grant project APVV-17-0258 "Digital engineering elements application in innovation and optimization of production flows", VEGA 1/0438/20 "Interaction of digital technologies to support software and hardware communication of the advanced production system platform" and KEGA 001TUKE-4/2020 "Modernizing Industrial Engineering education to Develop Existing Training Program Skills in a Specialized Laboratory."

References

[1] HOFMANN, E., RÜSCH, M.: Industry 4.0 and the current status as well as future prospects on logistics,

Computers in Industry, Vol. 89, pp. 23-34, 2017. doi.org/10.1016/j.compind.2017.04.002

- [2] MARASOVA, D., SADEROVA, J., AMBRISKO, L.: Simulation of the Use of the Material Handling Equipment in the Operation Process, *Open Engineering*, Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 216-223, 2020. doi.org/10.1515/eng-2020-0015
- [3] GRZNAR, P., GREGOR, M., MOZOL, S., KRAJCOVIC, M., DULINA, L., GASO, M., MAJOR, M.: A System to Determine the Optimal Work-in-Progress Inventory Stored in Interoperation Manufacturing Buffers, *Sustainability*, Vol. 11, No. 14, pp. 1-36, 2019. doi: 10.3390/su11143949
- [4] FEDORKO, G., VASIL, M., BARTOSOVA, M.: Use of simulation model for measurement of MilkRun system performance, *Open Engineering*, Vol. 9, No. 1, pp. 600-605, 2019. doi: 10.1515/eng-2019-0067
- [5] ASTASHOVA, J. V., DEMCHENKO, A. I., KATOCHKOV, V. M., UKHOVA, A. I.: Methodology of Logistics Chain Management: Multi-Object Approach. Sustainable economic growth Education excellence, and innovation management through vision 2020, 29th International-Business-Information-Management-Association Conference, Vol. 1-7, pp. 405-410, 2017.
- [6] RADAEV, A., LEVENTSOV, V.: The methodology for substantianting the materials handling equipment of a unit load warehousing system, *International journal for quality research*, Vol. 12, No. 4, pp. 989-1016, 2018.
- [7] KLUG, F.: Logistik-management in der Automobilindustrie: Grundlagen der Logistik im Automobilbau, Berlin: Springer, 2018.
- [8] PRIBULOVA, A., POKUSOVÁ, M.: Using a simulation programme to predict distortion of cast iron castings, 19th International Multidisciplinary Scientific Geoconference, pp. 713-720, 2019. doi:10.5593/sgem2019/2.1/S07.093
- [9] STRAKA, M., ROSOVA, A., LENORT, R., BESTA, P., SAREDOVA, J.: Principles of computer simulation design for the needs of improvement of the raw materials combined transport system, *Acta Montanistica Slovaca*, Vol. 23, No. 2, pp. 163-174, 2018.
- [10] ZUPANCIC, D., BUCHMEISTER B., ALJAZ T.: Reducing the Time of Task Execution with Existing Resources –Comparison of Approaches, *International Journal of Simulation Modelling*, Vol. 16, No. 3, pp. 484-496, 2017. doi:10.2507/IJSIMM16(3)10.394
- [11] KRAJCOVIC, M., HANCINSKY, V., DULINA, L., GRZNAR, P., GASO, M., VACULIK, J.: Parameter Setting for a Genetic Algorithm Layout Planner as a Toll of Sustainable Manufacturing, *Sustainability*, Vol. 11, No. 7, pp. 1-26, 2019. doi:10.3390/su11072083,



OPTIMIZATION OF TECHNOLOGICAL JIGS FLOW IN AUTOMOTIVE USING SOFTWARE MODULE TECNOMATIX PLANT SIMULATION Miriam Pekarčíková; Peter Trebuňa; Marek Kliment; Milan Edl; Ladislav Rosocha

- [12] RAJNOHA, R., GALOVA, K., ROZSA, Z.: Measurement of Impact of Selected Industrial Engineering Practices on Companies' Economic Performance, *Inzinerine Ekonomika-Engineering Economics*, Vol. 29, No. 2, pp. 176-187, 2018.
- [13] CHROMJAKOVA, F., BOBAK, R., HRUSECKA, D.: Production process stability – core assumption of INDUSTRY 4.0 concept, 5th International Conference on Manufacturing, Optimization, Industrial and Material Engineering, pp. 143-154, 2017.
- [14] MICIETA, B., EDL, M., KRAJCOVIC, M., DULINA, L., BUBENIK, P., DURICA, L., BINASOVA, V.: Delegate MASs for coordination and control of one-directional AGV systems: a proofof-concept, *International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, Vol. 94, No. 1-4, pp. 415-431, 2018. doi: 10.1007/s00170-017-0915-8
- [15] BANGSOW, S.: Tecnomatix Plant Simulation. Modeling and Programming by means of examples. Switzerland: Springer, 2015.
- [16] STEFANIK, A., GRZNAR, P., MICIETA, B.: Tools for continual process improvement - Simulation and benchmarking, 14th International Symposium of the Danube-Adria-Association-for-Automation-and-Manufacturing, pp.443-444, 2003.
- [17] IGNACZ, P.: Use of digital tools in logistic and production facility management for effective information flow, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 6, No.4, pp. 141-146, 2019. doi:10.22306/al.v6i4.141
- [18] STRAKA, M., MALINDZAK, D.: Algorithms of capacity balancing of printing machineries for Alfa Foils, a.s. planning system, *Acta Montanistica Slovaca*, Vol. 14, No. 1, pp. 98-102, 2009.
- [19] STRAKA, M., ROSOVA, A., MALINDZAKOVA, M., KHOURI, S., CULKOVA, K.: Evaluating the Waste Incineration Process for Sustainable Development through Modelling, Logistics, and Simulation, *Polish Journal of Environmental studies*, Vol. 27, No. 6, pp. 2739-2748, 2018. doi:10.15244/pjoes/81062

- [20] SANIUK S., CAGANOVA, D., CAMBAL M.: Control of strategy realization in metallurgical production, 23th International Conference on Metallurgy and Materials – Metal, 2014, Tanger, Czech Republic, Brno, pp. 1876-1881, 2014. doi:10.15244/pjoes/81062
- [21] KOBLASA, F, SIROVA, E., KRALIKOVA, R.: The Use of Process Thinking in The Industrial Practice – Preliminary Survey, *The Journal Tehnički vjesnik – Technical Gazette*, Vol. 26, No. 3, pp. 786-792, 2019. doi:10.17559/TV-20150617135306
- [22] BESTA, P., SAMOLEJOVÁ, A., LENORT, R., ZAPLETAL, F.: Innovative Application of Mathematical Methods in Evaluation of Ore Raw Materials for Production of Iron, *Metalurgija*, Vol. 53, No. 1, pp. 93-96, 2014.
- [23] FURMANN, R., FURMANNOVÁ, B., WIĘCEK, D.: Interactive Design of Reconfigurable Logistics Systems. *Procedia Engineering*, Vol. 192, pp. 207-212, 2017.
- [24] ROSOVA, A.: The system of indicators of distribution logistics, transport logistics and material flow as a tool of controlling in logistics enterprise, *Acta Montanistica Slovaca*, Vol. 15, No. 1, pp. 67-72, 2010.
- [25] FUSKO, M., BUCKOVA, M., GASO, M., KRAJCOVIC, M., DULINA, L., SKOKAN, R.: Concept of Long-Term Sustainable Intralogistics in Plastic Recycling Factory, *Sustainability*, Vol. 11, No. 23, pp. 1-27, 2019. doi:10.3390/su11236750
- [26] Car Polishing: The process of painting and manufacturing cars. From: http://lestenieaut.sk/proces.html accessed on 2020-04-01, 2020.

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



stica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics Volume: 7 2020 Issue: 2 Pages: 121-130 ISSN 1339-5629



CHOSEN ASPECTS OF A SPATIALLY FUNCTIONAL ACCESSIBILITY BY PUBLIC TRANSPORT: THE CASE OF TRNAVA SELF-GOVERNING REGION (SLOVAKIA)

Miroslava Trembošová; Alena Dubcová; Ľudmila Nagyová; Dagmar Cagáňová

doi:10.22306/al.v7i2.171

Received: 30 Apr. 2020 Accepted: 05 June 2020

CHOSEN ASPECTS OF A SPATIALLY FUNCTIONAL ACCESSIBILITY BY PUBLIC TRANSPORT: THE CASE OF TRNAVA SELF-GOVERNING REGION (SLOVAKIA)

Miroslava Trembošová

Constantine the Philosopher University in Nitra, Faculty of Natural Sciences, Department of Geography and Regional Development, 94974 Nitra, Slovakia, EU, mtrembosova@ukf.sk

Alena Dubcová

Constantine the Philosopher University in Nitra, Faculty of Natural Sciences, Department of Geography and Regional Development, 94974 Nitra, Slovakia, EU, adubcova@ukf.sk

Ľudmila Nagyová

Slovak University of Agriculture in Nitra, Faculty of Economics and Management, Department of Marketing and Trade, 94976 Nitra, Slovakia, EU, nagyoval26@gmail.com

Dagmar Cagáňová

Slovak University of Technology in Bratislava, Faculty of Materials Science and Technology in Trnava, Institute of Industrial Engineering and Management, 91724 Trnava, Slovakia, EU, dagmar.caganova@stuba.sk (corresponding author)

dagman.eaganova@stuba.sk (corresponding author)

Keywords: rural area, public transport, accessibility, Trnava Self - Governing Region, Slovak Republic *Abstract:* The aim of the paper is to analyze transport possibilities of Trnava Self-Governing Region (TTSK) municipalities residents to its center (regional capital) by public transport. The authors of the paper have reviewed the current trends of public transport and discussed the optimization of their capacity and timetable scheduling in terms of continuity and parallelism of bus and train transport. The research methods included GIS tools, complex accessibility calculations based on the journeys published on slovakrail.sk and www.cp.sk on a Tuesday, February 6, 2018 at four key times (4:00, 7:30, 14:00, 24:00), which were compared by four aspects: distance traveled, travel time, number of transfers, comprehensive route accessibility by three types of transport: train, bus and combined transport. The results of the research have showed that there is a certain threshold value for travel distance, time and number of transfers, which affects the commuters to either not visit the regional capital or choose to travel by a car. It was confirmed, that every type of public transport in the territory of TTSK has areas where it is currently the main way for commuting to the regional city. The authors of the paper have provided a comprehensive picture of selected aspects of spatially functional accessibility by public transport and the characteristics of individual types of transport in terms of following the scheduled route timetables in the TTSK region during the selected key times.

1 Introduction

Different types of transport are key accelerators for the development of population mobility. According to the European Commission White Paper "Roadmap to a Single European Transport Area - Towards a competitive and resource efficient transport system", transport is a key element of the economy and society [1,2]. The European transport policy emphasizes on an increased use of more environmentally friendly types of transport, in particular rail transport.

During the first decade of the political transformation in Slovakia (after 1989), the reverse development of public transport services (road and rail) was observed, while the role of individual transport (cars) in society has increased significantly. Until 2014, the share of public transport for passenger transportation in the Slovak Republic was decreasing. This decadent state is more noticeable in rural areas, where transport routes have been reduced or canceled. The cancelation of bus and rail routes and the creation of a "more efficient" (inconvenient for passengers) transportation system in the municipalities of the Slovak Republic was caused by several factors. The most important [3] are considered to be: i) questionable demarcation of higher territorial units, driven by political (not geographical) criteria; ii) the growing significance of individual car transport in both the commercial and private spheres; iii) structurally spatial changes in the labor market, which have caused considerable number of people to work from home or commute home on weekends only, as well people not working during typical work shifts (06:00-14:00, 14:00-22:00, 22:00-06:00, or 08:00-16:00).

Since 17 November 2014, public rail transport services in Slovakia have become a specific phenomenon with zero tariffs for selected groups of passengers, which contributed to the growing share of railways in passenger transportation. While bus transport is in the competence of 8 self-governing regions, railways are still the responsibility of the state [1].

The aim of the paper is to analyze transport possibilities of Trnava Self-Governing Region (TTSK) municipalities



residents by public transport, review the current trends in a qualitative dominance of various types of public transport and discuss the optimization of their capacity and timetable scheduling in terms of continuity and parallelism of bus and train transport.

Dealing with these action poses a new question: "Which of these types of transport should be a priority for ensuring transport to the regional capital of TTSK?"

On the basis of new methodology presented by the authors of the paper the complex availability equation based on the comprehensive route accessibility proposed by the authors of the paper, the most convenient way has been suggested for transporting each municipality residents belonging to TTSK towards the regional capital Trnava at four key times has been suggested.

2 Theoretical background

Public passenger transport, understood as transport operated with – pre-determined and publish transport and tariff conditions, is accessible to any interested partytransport participant, regardless of their gender, age, nationality, ethnicity, etc. It is especially importana as ecologically friendly alternative to individual car transport, for citizens who are unable to use a car [4,29]. Accessibility is, according to [5], a measure of the strength and extent of geographical relationships between citizens and their socio-economic activities. [6] in his work defines the spatial accessibility of regions as "the ease of reaching a region from other cities or regions.

The accessibility of Slovak cities in terms of correlations between settlement, transport network configuration and territorial division has been given more attention in the geographical community [7-10] than the availability of rural municipalities towards their natural centers [11] and [12]. Even in Czech geography, public transport and its spatial connections are mainly addressed in regional cities [13-16], and not in its regions [17].

The Polish literature [18] has been an inspirational publication for the aim of this study, where an example of canceled passenger rail routes in a transforming Poland highlighted the importance of public transport in connecting cities and settlements. The traffic congestion in Poland and other developed countries [19] and [20] is considered to be one of the most significant issues influencing living conditions of urban and regional residents.

It is noted, that this situation was caused not only due to the increase in the population's wealth, but also to the chaotically progressing suburbanization. The chaotic suburbanization and the related deterioration in accessibility by public transport is based on research in the Olcztyna region [21] and Krakow [22]. Another inspirational publication from a non-European environment has been [23].

3 Research methodology, data and research area

While [13] calculates the accessibility of public transport in terms of frequency (the sum of 3x long-distance trains per standard Wednesday, which stop in a given municipality + 1x regional trains per standard Wednesday, which stop in a given municipality + 2x the long haul buses per standard Wednesday, which stop in a given municipality + 1x regional coaches per standard Wednesday, which stop in a given municipality + 1x regional coaches per standard Wednesday, which stop in a given municipality), the authors propose a calculation based on speed and reliability of passenger transport (the ratio of traveled distance and time multiplied by the number of routes). The proposed calculation procedure was named complex accessibility (kd) calculation and was applied in [11] and [12].

$$kd = \frac{s}{t x p} \tag{1}$$

kd - complex accessibility,

- s distance traveled,
- t time traveled,
- p number of transfers.

For the purpose of complex accessibility calculation in this paper a standard Tuesday (February 6, 2018) was considered, thus eliminating the increasing trend of traffic before and after the holidays, but also the decreasing trend of traffic during them.

Transport journeys at four key times were selected: i) journeys leaving at 04:00 from municipalities with the earliest arrival in Trnava (important for tourists, long-distance travelers and commuters to work for morning shift); ii) journeys with the latest departure from municipalities arriving at 07:30 in Trnava (important for commuters to school, work, doctor office etc.); iii) journeys with the earliest arrival in municipalities leaving from Trnava at 14:00 (important for commuters from school, work, doctor office etc.); iv) journeys with the latest departure from Trnava arriving in municipalities by 24:00 (important for tourists, long-distance travelers, commuters from afternoon shift). In the case of time equality during the calculation, the number of transfers and a traveled distance was taken into account (lower is better).

Data used for railway journeys calculations were acquired only for municipalities with at least one tariff point - a railway station or a stop from the scheduled timetable published on [24]. The difference between a railway/bus station and stop has not been considered for the calculation purposes.

Data used for bus and combined transport services were with attention to the number of lines, routes, and bus operating companies acquired through a search engine at [25]. The default filter setting of the search engine was used to generate search results, the only exception was filtering out inner city transport buses. Combined transport combines the usage of both bus and train transport during journeys.





4 Research results

Trnava Self-Governing Region (TTSK) is located in the west part of the Slovak Republic and consists of 7 districts: Dunajská Streda (DS), Galanta (GA), Hlohovec (HC), Piešťany (PN), Senica (SE), Skalica (SI) and Trnava (TT). In the west it borders with the Bratislava selfgoverning region and Austria, in the north-west with the Czech Republic, in the north with the Trenčín selfgoverning region, in the east with the Nitra self-governing region and in the south with Hungary.

Trnava city, with a population of 65,382 (31.12.2017), as the regional capital of TTSK, concentrates important institutions such as faculty hospital basic secondary and university educational institutions, cultural institutions, public administration typical for the regional city, the state administration - police, jurisdiction and other services resulting from the nodal position of the regional city in relation to its background. There is a high concentration of industrial enterprises represented e. g. by car manufacturer Peugeot-Citroën, increased concentration of progressive activities and it is also an important bus and train hub of Slovakia. TTSK is a higher-level service center for seven districts with 491,904 residents (31.12.2017).

The TTSK route network has a convergent shape and consists of a dense network of roads in total length of 1951.041 km [26]. According to collected data [27], TTSK contains 67.24 km of motorways, 22.93 km of expressways, 268.084 km of I class roads, 535.873 km of II class roads and 1056,912 km of III class roads. Currently, TTSK has agreed on a framework contract with three bus operating companies providing services in public interest (suburban bus service on the territory of TTSK) operating 93 routes. Specifically, ARRIVA Trnava, a. s. operates 31 routes, Slovenská autobusová doprava Dunajská Streda, a. s. covers 45 routes and SKAND Skalica, s. r. o. manages 17 routes. Ten railway lines run through the territory of TTSK. They create a 347 km long rail network with 62 tariff points, composed of 30 stations and 32 stops. The railway lines run through 55 municipalities of TTSK, which is 21.9 % of the total of 251 municipalities. Railway lines on the territory of TTSK create an odotropic type of network [11].

4.1 Spatially functional analysis of TTSK residents transport accessibility by public transport

Early in the morning, the results confirmed the priority position of bus transport. In the Fig 1, several areas can be

identified: Záhorie, north of the TT, PN and HC districts, the area around the town Sered' and the west of the DS district. Main reasons for the obtained results within the area of Záhorie are: i) train transport is not available as only few municipalities have train station/stop, ii) combined transport is not convenient as the first morning buses from the surrounding municipalities are not synchronized with the train departures, and iii) at the same time, the quality of road infrastructure is better in comparison with the railway infrastructure on lines 114 and 116. In the northern part of the TTSK region (i. e. districts TT, HC and PN), good road infrastructure leading primarily to Trnava and small number of functional train tariff points accessible by buses (for combined transport) contributed to the major usage of bus transport. The surrounding of the town Sered' is typical by frequent and convenient train and combined journeys. Most municipalities in this area have a direct journeys with Trnava in the morning. On the other hand, the train is only available in Gáň, Sereď and Križovany nad Dudváhom, where bus and train journeys do not follow each other. This situation creates complications and makes combined transport impossible.

The west of the Dunajská Streda district is a typical gravitational area of bus routes to Šamorín and Bratislava. These bus stations are not in close proximity to the railway stations. For this reason, from Bratislava bus station, the journey to Trnava is better by long haul bus than by train, to which travelers need to move by using Bratislava public transport.

On the other hand, the quality of the journeys in the early morning is brought by the railways due to the arrival of their employees. In most municipalities with a train tariff point, the train route was more favorable or equivalent to the bus. The exceptions are: i) Pusté Úl'any with more convenient bus lines as the road is more direct, ii) Buková with a remote train stop and the fact that the first train to Trnava does not stop there, iii) municipalities between Leopoldov and Piešťany, which are offered only one complicated journey with Trnava through Piešťany, iv) line 114 from which surroundings leads better road infrastructure. In addition, the Figure 1 also shows some areas where combined transport is preferred. Especially the surroundings of Galanta with a built transfer terminal with short transfer times and relatively well-timed train and bus timetables, while the direct bus journey with Trnava is poor. Similar parameters were observed in the south from Dunajská Streda, with the integrated transport terminal in Dunajská Streda, as well as near Piešťany with the integrated transport terminal in Piešťany.





Figure 1 The best journeys to the regional capital Trnava from the municipalities of TTSK at the time 4:00

The Figure 2 shows a few changes in comparison with the previous figure. First of all, the surroundings of Gbely are more oriented towards train and combined transport. This is due to the situation (at around 6:00) in municipalities with a railway point, where it is already worthwhile for bus operating companies to transport people from places where it was pointless at 4:00. Thereafter, these people are transported by a train that arrives in Trnava at 7:21. This way, trains can compete significantly with buses, which are slower due to poor road infrastructure in the section from Gbely to Senica.

Thanks to the alternative route through Galanta, a significant part of the municipalities of the Dunajská Streda district, which had a favorable rail or combined transport at 4:00, was reoriented to bus or combined transport. A similar process occurred in Sered' and Gáň, where the bus arrival time in Trnava (7:30) is more convenient, rather than train arrival time (7:21), which result in higher complex accessibility.





Figure 2 The best journeys to the regional capital Trnava from the municipalities of TTSK with the arrival time before 7:30

The Figure 3 shows a significant change in comparison with the maps of morning journeys, especially in two aspects: i) almost complete orientation of the districts of Dunajská Streda and Galanta to the bus transport, ii) a strong orientation of Záhorie region to combined or train transport. In the district of Dunajská Streda, this change was caused by the time-consuming regional train to Bratislava with 22 minutes break to following train to Trnava. In the case of Záhorie region, the significant factor is that trains from Trnava to the mentioned direction depart at 14:06 following shortly after the arrival of other regional trains from surrounding municipalities. Buses leave Trnava usually around 14:30, due to the shifts in the Zavar logistics park, which creates long break within the journey. The bus transfers in Cerová-Lieskové, Šajdíkove Humence, Borský Mikuláš and Šaštín-Stráže that follow the train from Trnava have simple, unequipped bus stops (sometimes even without shelters), but the timing of the buses is wellplanned, thus creating an easy distribution to municipalities which are far from the tariff points.





Figure 3 The best journeys from the regional capital Trnava to the municipalities of TTSK at the time 14:00

The map of the journeys from Trnava with the latest departure (Figure 4) brings a completely different result. The usage of train transport is preferable only in the southeast of the district of Dunajská Streda, the towns of Galanta and Sládkovičovo and several municipalities along lines 116 and 110. The reason is that the last buses have later departure time than the last trains. On the other hand, a large part of the districts of Senica, Skalica and Dunajská Streda residents chose combined transport, as direct bus transport from Trnava was not provided to municipalities situated away from the main roads from Trnava past 22:30. The later journeys by combined transport were more preferable. Passengers chose combined transport despite the long distance between the train station and bus station in Bratislava and Senica, which was inconvenient at peak times. Combined transport proved to be advantageous in the vicinity of Galanta again.



CHOSEN ASPECTS OF A SPATIALLY FUNCTIONAL ACCESSIBILITY BY PUBLIC TRANSPORT: THE CASE **OF TRNAVA SELF-GOVERNING REGION (SLOVAKIA)**

Miroslava Trembošová; Alena Dubcová; Ľudmila Nagyová; Dagmar Cagáňová



Figure 4 The best journeys from the regional capital Trnava to the municipalities of TTSK with the latest departure

The authors of this paper conclude from the results of the investigation that the bus was the most efficient type of transport within the Trnava Self-Governing Region. In the first morning journeys, 53.36 % of TTSK residents and almost 70 % of municipalities considered bus transport as the most advantageous way of transport; 62.47 % of residents and 71.32 % of municipalities preferred bus transport to travel to Trnava at 7:30; 56.91 % of residents and 65.33 % of municipalities preferred bus transport at the 14:00 departure time and 56.68 % of residents and 62.55 %of municipalities preferred bus transport for the latest journey from Trnava in comparison with the train and combined transport. According to the calculations, the bus was convenient especially for smaller municipalities.

The train transport reached the highest efficiency according to the number of residents (36.69 %) at the first morning journey to Trnava. However, according to the amount of percentage points of TTSK municipalities (17.93%) the highest value was obtained at the 14:00 departure time. This means, that the morning train transport was more efficient for larger municipalities and train transport at 14:00 was more efficient for smaller municipalities.

Combined transport showed the highest values at the latest departure time from Trnava with 20.38 % for the TTSK population and 26.9 % for the municipalities, specifically the smaller municipalities of TTSK (Table 1).

Another important aspect related to the quality of public transport services was direct lines. The direct lines without transfers have the best chance to compete with individual transport. According to the collected data, 101 municipalities within TTSK had direct bus journeys (40.3 %) with Trnava (both directions, within 24 hours), in total 1327 journeys. Most frequent lines are with the Trakovice village with 111 direct journeys. On average, there were 13 direct bus journeys per 24 hours per municipality. On the other hand, 24 municipalities of TTSK (9.6%) had direct train routes with the regional capital with total 428 journeys, which is almost 18 journeys per 24 hours per municipality. The village of Leopoldov had the most frequent direct train journeys with Trnava, 76 journeys in 24 hours. Final evaluation of the accessibility of the regional capital by direct line was that the train transport had 38 % higher number of journeys than bus transport.



Table 1 The most effective way of transport provided by public transport between the regional capital Trnava and the TTSK
municipalities at four key times

The most effective way of transport		Number of TTSK municipalities		Number of TTSK residents	
<mark>Bus</mark> , <mark>T</mark>	<mark>rain</mark> , <mark>Combined</mark>	Abs.	%	Abs.	%
The first	Bus	174	69.33	265 495	53.36
morning	Train	40	15,93	182 538	<mark>36.69</mark>
arrival to TT	Combined	37	14,74	49 542	9.95
Arrival to TT at 7:30	Bus	179	71.32	309 656	<mark>62.47</mark>
	Train	26	10,36	118 159	23.84
	Combined	46	18,32	67 846	13.69
Departure	Bus	164	65,33	277 899	56.91
from TT at 14:00	Train	45	17.93	145 713	29.84
	Combined	42	16.74	64 722	13.25
The latest	Bus	157	62.55	285 990	56.68
departure	Train	29	11.55	115 738	22.94
from TT	Combined	65	<mark>26.9</mark>	102 847	<mark>20.38</mark>

5 Conclusions

According to [1], the organization of the public transport should reflect changes in the spatial organization of society and country systems. The most important changes are suburbanisation in the proximity of the largest cities and towns [22], changes in economic positions of centers, etc. The big differentiation in the availability and density of spatial links of the functional region (the so-called low availability of region) causes negative consequences for the overall region development [21]. Poor accessibility may result in low level of education, unemployment and low level of social capital [21,28-30].

The authors of the paper have reviewed the current trends in a qualitative dominance of various types of public transport in TTSK. Comprehensive picture of the transport individual types characteristics in terms of following the scheduled route timetables in the TTSK region during the selected key times was provided. The main sorting element for the accessibility evaluation of TTSK municipalities was the presence of railways on their territory or the distance from it. The disadvantage of the train transport is that the lines are linked to existing railway infrastructure (lines and stations). The train routes order within the territory of Slovakia is subject to approval at the level of the Ministry of Transport, Construction and Regional Development of the Slovak Republic (the relevant departments [3]) [3] points out that this system is not optimal in terms of coordination among various types of transport. Regional bus transport brings both advantages and disadvantages. On the one hand, the bus can get almost anywhere, serves usually 2-3 more stops in the municipality than train, is less limited to the capacity of the infrastructure and the loss of profits due to black passengers is lower. On the other hand, the bus transport is slower, more endangered to traffic jams, accidents and has less passenger capacity per one vehicle driver. Combined transport by using both bus and train combines the advantages and disadvantages of the two above-mentioned types of transport. Its advantage is that combined transport enables to avoid routes that are problematic in terms of traffic jams and increases the frequency of the journeys, and at the same time, the combined transport helps to bring the advantages of the train transport to municipalities that are positioned further from the railway station. The disadvantage is required space for bus turnovers near the train station and on the willingness of bus operating companies to adjust their timetables to the departure of trains and to modify their routes to closer proximity of the train station.

The authors of this paper have realized that not all four solved times are equally necessary for passengers and that people do not travel only to a regional capital. The number of transfers is also important factor. There exists a certain threshold value for travel distance, time and number of transfers, which affects the commuters to either not visit the regional capital or choose to travel by a car. From the collected data can be concluded that these limits are at a distance of 150 km, with a time interval of 2 ½ hours, at a maximum of 3 transfers. However, the number of direct journeys is important factor, where, on average, train transport achieved a better result.

Generally, it was predicted, that every type of public transport in the territory of TTSK has areas where it is currently the main way for commuting to the regional capital.

It is difficult to judge which type of public transport should be promoted primarily for the most efficient route. However, in Slovakia, several bus operating companies complain about the introduction of free train services for certain population groups, causing them loss of customers. As a result, they cancelled journeys, sometimes whole routes, even in places where passengers do not have an option to use train. The authors have realized that the lines need to be optimized in terms of continuity and parallelism but no limited to the minimum necessary journeys.

This paper ought to inspire other experts to explore the quality of transport in other regions of the Slovak Republic. At the same time, it may be an impulse for improvement of the public transport operating companies' services and timetable scheduling.



Public transport is also recording changes after the covid crisis. Predicting future developments in this sector is rather compolicated. However, already at present is monitored and felt an obvious decline in transport with this form of transport and the strengthening of individual transport. At the expense of public transport, there is strong pressure to create cycle paths in cities such as Paris, where they plan to reduce the number of passenger parking spaces by 20% by 2024, when the Summer Olympics will take place, but not to encourage public transport but to create cycle paths and new infrastructure for safe bicycle transport in city. Such projects will again slow down the development of public transport, seriously affect its functioning and it is possible that even in the TTSK region, the situation of transport will return to the years of the first decade of the 21st century.

Acknowledgement

The authors wish to thank Bc. Patrik Kundla and Bc. Samuel Kohutiar for drawing up cartographic materials. This article was prepared as part of the KEGA Nr. 030STU-4/2018 project E- platform for improving collaboration among universities and industrial enterprises in the area of education and with support of 2/0077/19 VEGA project titled "Work competencies in the context of Industry 4.0", APVV-18-0185 "Land-use changes of Slovak cultural landscape and prediction of its further development".

References

- MICHNIAK, D.: Changes, problems, and challenges of passenger railway transport in Slovakia, *Geografický* časopis, Vol. 70, No 3, pp. 217-230, 2018. doi:10.31577/geogrcas.2018.70.3.12
- [2] DYR, T: European transport policy for the first half of the 21st century, *Autobusy-Technika, Eksploatacja, Systemy Transportowe*, Vol. 12, No. 10, pp. 20-29, 2011.
- [3] HORŇÁK, M., PŠENKA, T.: Verejná doprava ako indikátor medzisídelných väzieb medzi mestami Slovenska, *Geografický časopis*, Vo. 65, No. 2, pp. 119-140, 2013.
- [4] HORŇÁK, M., PŠENKA, T.: Vzájomné dopravné prepojenie miest Slovenska verejnou dopravou, 5th Workshop Seminář Telč 2010, 11-12 November, Telč, pp. 76-84, 2010.
- [5] SHEN, Q.: Location characteristics of inner-city neighbourhoods and amployment accessibility of lowwage workers, *Environment and Planing B*, Vol. 25, No. 3, pp. 345-365, 1998. doi:10.1068/b250345
- [6] MICHNIAK, D.: Vplyv dostupnosti na rozvoj cestovného ruchu vo vybraných regiónoch na Slovensku, *Geographia Cassoviensis*, Vol. 4, No. 1, pp. 114-117, 2010.
- [7] TOLMÁČI, L.: *Dostupnosť miest Slovenska*. 1st edition, Mapa Slovakia, Bratislava, pp. 3-66, 2002.

- [8] MICHNIAK, D.: Dostupnosť okresných miest na Slovensku, *Geografický časopis*, Vol. 55, No. 1, pp. 21-39, 2003. (Original in Slovak)
- [9] SZÉKELY, V.: Priame dopravné prepojenia okresných miest Slovenska, Prace Komisji Geographii Komunikacji Polskiego Towarzystwa Geograficznego, Vol. 10, pp. 281-302, 2004. (Original in Slovak)
- [10] HORŇÁK, M.: Priestorové rozdiely v dostupnosti siete pravidelnej diaľkovej osobnej dopravy na území Slovenska, 13th International Conference Geographicla aspects of central Europe, 9-10 Oktober, Brno, pp. 211-221, 2005.
- [11] TREMBOŠOVÁ, M., KOHUTIAR, S., MOČKO, M.: Accessibility of municipalities in the Trnava selfgoverning Region by railway transport, 21th International Colloquium on Regional Sciences, 13-14 June, Brno, pp. 293-301, 2018.
- [12] TREMBOŠOVÁ, M., KOHUTIAR, S., DUBCOVÁ, A.: Comparation of expediency of main modes of public transport in Trnava self-governing region for regular attendance to the provincial city, Region in the Development of Society 2018: 9th Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference, 20-21 Oktober, Brno, pp. 594-602. 2019.
- [13] MARADA, M, KVĚTOŇ, V., VONDRÁČKOVÁ, P.: Doprava a geografická organizace společnosti v Česku. 1st edition, Česká geografická společnost, Praha, 2010. (Original in Czech)
- [14] CHMELÍK, J., KVĚTOŇ, V., MARADA, M.: Evaluation of competitiveness of rail transport on example of connection among regional capitals in Czechia, Národohospodářský obzor, Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 5-20, 2010. doi:10.2478/v10135-009-0006-3
- [15] KRAFT, S., VANČURA, M.: Dopravní systém České republiky: efektivita a prostorové dopady. Národospodářský obzor, Vol. 9, pp. 21-33, 2009. (Original in Czech)
- [16] SEIDENGLANZ, D.: Transport relations among settlement centres in the eastern part of the Czech Republic as a potential for polycentricity, *Acta Universitatis Carolinae Geographica*, Vol. 45, No. 1, pp. 75-89, 2010.
- [17] BORUTA, T., IVAN, I.: Public transport in rural areas of the Czech Republic – case study of the Jeseník region, *Moravian Geographical Reports*, Vol.18, No. 2, pp. 9-22, 2010.
- [18] TAYLOR, Z.: Railway closures to passenger traffic in Poland and their social consequences, *Journal of Transport Geography*, Vol. 14, No. 2, pp. 135-151, 2006. doi:10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2005.05.003
- [19] POŁOM, M., TARKOWSKI, M.: Rola Pomorskiej Kolei Metropolitalnej w kształtowaniu struktury przestrzenno-funkcjonalnej Gdańska, *Studia mjeskie*, Vol. 30, pp. 39-55, 2018.
- [20] POŁOM, M., TARKOWSKI, M., PUZDRAKIEWICZ, K: Urban Transportion in the Context of Rail Transport Development: The Case of



a Newly Built Railway Line in Gdańsk (Poland), Journal of Advanced Transportation, Vol. 28, pp. 1-15, 2018. doi:10.1155/2018/1218041

- [21] GUZIK, R., KOLOS, A., GWOSZD, K., BIERNACKI, W., DZIALEK, J., KOCAJ, A., PANECKA-NIEPSUJ, M., WIEDERMANN, K.: Dostepnosc, relacje i powiazania przestrzenne w miejskim obsarze funkcjonalnym Olsztyna, 1st edition, Instytut Geografii i Gospodarki Przestrennej Uniwersytetu Jagellonskieho, Krakov, 2016. (Original in Polish)
- [22] KUREK, S., WÓJTIWICZ, M., GAŁKA, J.: Does Commuting in Post-Socialist Second-tier Cities Show Signs of Post-suburban Development? Evidence from Cracow, 1st ed., Mittelungen der Östereichischen Geographischen Gesselschaft, Wien, 2017.
- [23] GRENGS, J., LEVINE, J., SHEN, Q., SHEN, Q. jr.: Intermetropolitan Comparison of Transportation Accessibility: Sorting Out Mobility and Proximity in San Francisco and Washington, D.C., *Journal of Planning Education and Research*, Vol. 29, No. 4, pp. 427-443, 2010. doi:10.1177/0739456X10363278
- [24] Železničná spoločnosť Slovensko, a.s. [Online], Available: http://www.slovakrail.sk, last accessed 2019/6/15. (Original in Slovak)
- [25] Cestovné poriadky, [Online], Available: http://www.cp.sk, [15 Jun 2019], 2019. (Original in Slovak)
- [26] CHUDÍK, M., BIZOŇ, M., SKÝVA, M., VACHAJA, A., VLČEK, P.: Územný generel dopravy Trnavského kraja. [Online], Available: https://www.aurex.sk/sk/top/projekty/studie-

dopravy/ugd-ttsk, [05 Mar 2018], 2018. (Original in Slovak)

- [27] Cestná databanka Slovenskej správy ciest,[Online], Available: http://www.spravaciest.sk,[21] Aug 2018], 2018. (Original in Slovak)
- [28] CAGÁŇOVÁ, D., STAREČEK, A., HORŇÁKOVÁ, N., RIDZOŇOVÁ HLÁSNIKOVÁ, P.: The analysis of the Slovak citizens' awareness about the smart city concept, ACM Mobile Networks and Applications, Vol. 24, No 6, pp. 2050-2058, 2019.
- [29] SZILVA, I., CAGÁŇOVÁ, D., BAWA, M., PECHANOVÁ, Ľ., HORŇÁKOVÁ, N.: Knowledge management perception in industrial enterprises within the CEE region, In: *Cloud Infrastructures, Services, and IoT Systems for Smart Cities. IISSC* 2017, CN4IoT 2017. Lecture notes of the Institute for Computer Sciences, Social Informatics and Telecommunications Engineering. Vol. 189 : Second EAI International Conference, IISSC 2017 and CN4IoT 2017, April 20-21, Brindisi, Italy, pp. 66-75, 2017 1st ed. Cham: Springer, pp. 66-75. 2018.
- [30] HRABLIK CHOVANOVÁ, H., HORŇÁKOVÁ, N., BABČANOVÁ, D., SAMÁKOVÁ, J., MAKYŠOVÁ, H.: Methodology to improve the maturity of project management at industrial enterprises, *Diverse applications and transferability* of maturity models, 1st ed., Hershey, USA, pp. 316-345, 2019.

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.





doi:10.22306/al.v7i2.172

Received: 06 May 2020 Accepted: 11 June 2020

IMPLEMENTING CIRCULAR ECONOMY CONCEPTS FOR SUSTAINABLE URBAN FREIGHT TRANSPORT: CASE OF TEXTILE MANUFACTURING SUPPLY CHAIN

Bhavesh Dhonde

Department of Civil Engineering, Sardar Vallabhbhai National Institute of Technology, Surat, Pin 395 007, India, bhaveshdhonde@gmail.com (corresponding author)

Chetan R. Patel

Department of Civil Engineering, Sardar Vallabhbhai National Institute of Technology, Surat, Pin 395 007, India, chetanrpatel@rediffmail.com

Keywords: circular economy, city logistics, urban freight, sustainability, sustainable development

Abstract: Rapid industrialization and mass urbanization have generated a challenging situation for the city's planners and managers to maintain a balance between economic development and a sustainable environment for its inhabitants. Circular economy concepts can offer a unique opportunity to decouple growth from resource requirements. At the core of the circular economy, is the proposition of complete elimination of waste -i.e. waste not in its traditional sense, but any form of underutilization of assets and resources. A case study of the textile manufacturing industry in Surat, India is taken to compare the performances of traditional supply chain processes and the advantages of adopting circular economy concepts. Temporal sprawl of the textile industry is used to find the changes in trip lengths of urban freight trips over the last two decades. For estimating freight trips volume and patterns, roadside interviews of freight vehicles and establishment surveys of manufacturing and trading units were conducted. Overall urban freight transport contribution from the textile industry is estimated by modelling field data. Organized trip planning and optimized utilization of payload capacities can reduce vehicular emission generated from commercial goods movement in the textile industry to 2/3rd of its current levels. The paper asserts reinforces that the integration of circular economy principles with supply chain processes is beneficial from sustainability as well as a business point of view. The congestion mitigation due to the reduced number of trips offers a further reduction in the overall traffic emissions due to better traffic flows on the city's road network.

Introduction 1

Circular economy (CE) is the representation of a continuous cycle that cautiously utilizes natural capital, optimizes resource yields, and minimizes system risks by managing stocks and renewable flows. According to CE Principles, any kind of limited resources should follow 3Rs, i.e. reduce, reuse and renew [1], while renewable resources should follow the 6Rs, i.e. reuse, recycle, redesign, remanufacture, reduce, recover [2]. Building a CE environment needs coherent change in consumer behaviour, governmental policies, and business practices. Such a transition is complex and requires simultaneous changes in various sub-systems, such as energy, logistics, and financial sub-systems. In different parts of the world, the concept of CE has evolved differently based on their cultural, social, and political systems [3]. For instance, in the United States and Canada, corporations apply the CE concept to conduct product-level life cycle studies [4], in Europe CE is applied for addressing issues associated with the use of natural resources for sustained economic growth as well as for effective waste management [5]. Some CE related initiatives in South Korea and Japan aims to increase consumers' responsibility for material use and waste [6,7]. In China, the concept of CE is used as a mechanism for profitable product development,

technology development, and improving industry management [8].

Post economic liberalization in 1991, India has been experiencing environmental degradation in extreme measures. As the economy struggles with supply-demand issues, faster urbanization is leading to a greater generation of waste. On one hand, there is a need to sustain the industrial growth in our desire to become a developed economy; and on the other hand, it is critical to identify innovative growth models that do not aggravate the existing resource constraints in India. It is estimated that in India, the transport sector emits 258.10 million metric tons of carbon dioxide (CO2), out of which 94.5% was contributed by road transport alone [9]. The present case study is of Surat city, which is located on the western coast of India in Gujarat state. The city is the 8th most populous with around 4.6 million people [10]. With the decadal growth of over 55%-60% since the last four decades, it is one of the most sought destinations for employment and business opportunities. The city has a very vibrant economy as it is a hub to the diamond and textile industry. Globally, 63% of the textiles produced is through synthetic fibres [11], which are derived from petrochemicals and its production leads to the generation of CO₂ [12]. Surat, located on the western coast of India is also a big



manufacturing hub of synthetic textiles. The city is popularly known as the "Synthetic capital of India" for its scale and expertise in the manufacturing of synthetic textiles. Textile manufacturing processes in Surat have a fragmented industry structure leading to several goods movement trips in the city. According to a study, the internal goods movement generated by the textile industry makes around 40% of the total internal goods movement by light commercial vehicles (LCV) [13]. In the present study freight trip generation from the textile industry is estimated and the emission impact of these trips is found.

The city has a very high level of vehicular emissions, especially particulate matter (PM) levels in the areas having industry presence. Almost 38,000 LCV trips made for transport of textile goods are found to be empty due to non-optimized operation generating more than 190 tonnes of CO₂ every day. Empty vehicle trips are also causing unnecessary traffic on city roads thereby reducing the overall efficiency of the network. If the estimated empty LCV trips are optimized by planning complete utilization of payload capacities, 370 thousand vehicle kilometres travel (VKT) can be reduced from the city roads. With reduced use of LCVs owing to optimization, the congestion situation is predicted to mitigate. Vehicular emission, especially Particulate Matter (PM) are found to be in a very high amount in the textile industry clusters, for some areas it is twice the national average and exceeds the permissible limits for a healthy life. The current state of affairs is not sustainable for years to come even after the optimization of empty trips. The use of alternate fuel sources has been extensively promoted in several countries of the world already. In India too, a new policy is taken up by the

government to replace petroleum fuel-based vehicles with electric battery vehicles by the year 2030. This initiative can also be implemented for LCV used for short freight trips in cities. Textile freight being lightweight and average trip length under 10 km, diesel engine LCVs can conveniently be replaced by electric LCVs (e-LCV). Also, the use of e-LCV would provide relief to alarming levels of vehicular emission in the highly affected area. The overall ideology is to make the entire goods movement cleaner and eco-friendly for the industry and the city as well. Cleaner urban freight transport would reduce the overall vehicular emission in the form of GHG and CO₂ emitted for every kilometre travelled.

2 Literature review

The circular economy concept has been important, relevant, and applicable for a long time in the manufacturing industry. With depleting levels of natural resources and increasing levels of man-made pollution, the focus of the academic and research community is gradually shifting from the predominant linear growth model of produce, use, and dispose of, to a sustainable and eco-friendly growth model which CE offers. The CE concepts are implemented in several ways by various industries at different times, and hence evidence for the origin of the CE concept is unclear [14]. CE is not a standalone concept, but it is interwoven with various other concepts like industrial symbiosis [15-17]. Some conceptual frameworks for CE proposed by different researchers and institutions are given in Table 1.

Year	Conceptual framework for circular economy
2007	Revamping the material flow from linear flow to circular flow; thereby increasing the efficiency of resource utilization and reducing the amount or intensity of emissions [18].
2008	Materials flow in a closed loop of activities with feedback processes, the basic process in which natural resources get transformed into manufactured products thereby generating by-products that can be fed as resources for other industries [19].
2011	Develop a closed system of resource-product-renewed resource, which involves reducing, reusing, and recycling of resources, against a unidirectional system of resource-product-waste [20].
2013	It brings a paradigm shift, used products (waste) used will be repaired, reused, and recycled for other purposes [21].
2014	Shift towards the use of renewable energy sources; eliminate the use of toxic substances and minimization of waste through the superior design of materials, products, systems, and business models. Replacement of the end-of-life concept with restoration [22].
2015	Maximization of in-use resources throughout its life cycle, from sourcing to supply chain, to consumption, to the remaining unusable parts for one function and converted back into a new source for another purpose, thereby reducing the extraction of resources from nature [23].
2016	Decoupling of economic growth from the extraction and consumption of scarce resources with negative footprints and making existing resources productive for as long as possible [24].

Table 1 Concept of circular economy given by different researchers



Though after a much delay, gradually there is a universal realization that the earth is fragile with its carefully balanced ecosystem and natural resources [25]. There is a fundamental shift in the socio-economic and environmental landscape, technology evolution, population growth, and global awareness regarding the finite nature and rapid depletion of resources. The consumption model, i.e. cradle-to-grave model which involves exploiting the finite resources to create new products and eventually disposing of the used products non-systematically into landfill sites, which lacks sustainability for the future. There is a lot of risks associated with the increasing demand-supply gap due to the growing population, increasing demand for resources, finite nature of resources, and take-make-dispose oriented linear economic model that has led to an interest in the adoption of the cradle-to-cradle model. This cradle-tocradle approach forms the central idea of the CE model [26,27]. Though a considerable amount of research work is carried out in the area of CE, the majority of it is focusing on the manufacturing and operations phase of any product/ service development. From the 3Rs of CE i.e. reduce, recycle, and renew, [28]; reduce is the components applicable to efficient logistics or supply chain management systems. According to the Circularity Gap Report [29], about 26% of the global carbon dioxide emission is due to transport processes. It is not necessary to recycle or renew the waste or by-products to successfully apply the principles of CE. Reduction in the available resources is also a very way of making the environment sustainable wherever recycle or renew is difficult. There are very limited studies carried out which explore the application of CE in city logistics or freight management.

Urban freight transport (UFT) is a very crucial area for the sustainable existence of cities. Research in UFT has come a long way from early effort started in the 1980s in the US and European Union. Recently, a multistage modelling approach is used that points out the relations existing among city logistics measures, actors, and choice dimensions. It comprises three model sub-systems to estimate the quantity origin-destination (O-D) matrices by transport service type (i.e. retailer driven or wholesaler driven or by a third party carrier), the delivery O-D matrices by delivery period, and the vehicle O-D matrices according to delivery tour departure time and vehicle type [30]. A similar analysis of freight trip attraction (FTA) and its relationship with key features using spatial econometric techniques to assess the role of spatial effects among establishments and the urban environment, where the results show that FTA is better modelled as a non-linear function of employment and other location based variables like floor area and width of connecting road [31]. Bringing urban analysis and spatial studies closer to urban logistics appears to be relevant to tackle last mile issues. A spatial analysis coupled with a logistical approach provide a relevant diagnosis for urban logistics practitioners and local authorities, before the settlement of logistics organizations or new regulations that suit cities' characteristics, assets and constraints carried out comparison of constant freight trip generation (FTG) estimations for three different aggregation levels of activity-based categories to derive different functional forms [32,33]. It is observed that suitable functional form can reduce the need for more disaggregated data, which can reduce the overall cost of collecting data.

From the relevant studies reviewed it has been found that the majority of the researchers have focused only on the freight trip generation aspect in their work, freight distribution and trip assignment is not explored much in research, probably due to the complexity of the supply chain of innumerable goods and service offered. Studies are primarily carried out from the data obtained from transporters dairy, industries, or vehicle surveys. Also, studies have focused on aggregate data of all the freight intensive activities of the city. An exclusive study focusing on trip generation characteristics of the industry and its traffic impact on the city network has probably been an unexplored dimension in the city logistics.

3 Supply chain analysis: Textile industry

Textile is the largest industry in the city employing a million people directly and indirectly. The city has its production facilities specialized in synthetic textiles, having 21 industrial clusters in different parts of the city having more than 25,000 manufacturing (weaving) units, and 513 processing units. Surat exports its textile products to various corners of the city is highly fragmented with clusters of small production units set up in different corners of the city. Details of production, processing, and trading facilities of the textiles industry are given in Table 2.

Type of units	Activity	Number of	Number of	Approximate
		units	Clusters	area occupied
Powerloom and shuttle-less looms	Weaving of raw fabric	25,000	20	3 million sq. m.
Processing house	Dyeing, printing	400	5	7.43 lacs sq. m.
Value addition works	Embroidery, jari	11,000	12	1.2 million sq. m.
	works, lace work etc			
Trading	Wholesale and retail	160 trading	2	3.3 million sq. m.
	trading	complexes		

Table 2 Details of Textile Industry, Surat



IMPLEMENTING CIRCULAR ECONOMY CONCEPTS FOR SUSTAINABLE URBAN FREIGHT TRANSPORT: CASE OF TEXTILE MANUFACTURING SUPPLY CHAIN

Bhavesh Dhonde; Chetan R. Patel

The fundamental textiles manufacturing process involves several stages like weaving, dyeing, printing, etc, and requiring goods flow from one place to another for different activities. From the various interactions with industry experts and trading unions, it is observed that the entire textile manufacturing process can be divided into four phases. A diagrammatical representation of the various processes (Figure 1).



Figure 1 Supply chain of textile manufacturing industry

Phase 1: Raw material procured locally or nearby industrial towns (Vapi, Ankleshwar) reaches Surat in the form of yarn reaches the weaving units (powerlooms)., which is then sent to the textile market for trading or further processing. In this stage, the predominant modes of transport are heavy commercial vehicles (HCV) and medium commercial vehicles (MCV).

Phase 2: The yarn is weaved to produce raw fabric or grey cloth which is sent to the textile market, it undergoes various initial quality checks there. Here the transportation of the processed fabric takes place through LCVs.

Phase 3: Raw fabric is then sent to the processors for dyeing and printing activities. Then again, the processed fabric is sent to the textile market for final quality checks.

Freight is moved using LCVs here. The processed fabric from the textile market is sent to various small-scale value addition units. Since the value addition units have a very small quantity of goods transactions, it is generally carried using two-wheelers or passenger three-wheelers also.

Phase 4: In this stage, the processed and value-added fabric, after undergoing physical quality checks at the textile market, is dispatched to the consolidation centre. From the consolidation centre, the finished textile is distributed outside the study area via HCVs and MCVs. As there are a large number of units for each phase of production and traders involved, a lot of trading activity of goods takes place in the city leading to frequent traffic jams and congestion (Figure 2).



Figure 2 Traffic condition at Surat's textile market area

 $\sim 134 \sim$ Copyright © Acta Logistica, www.actalogistica.eu





Bhavesh Dhonde; Chetan R. Patel

The city has a very well developed market along with it major arterial road (ring road) for trading in textile goods, the market covers an approximate area of 3 square kilometres and has more than 140 building complexes housing approximately 60,000 traders engaged in the textile business. The textile industry of the city is witnessing continuous sprawl in its manufacturing and market facilities over the last three decades. Figure 3 shows the expansion of the textile market area of the city from the year 2000 to 2018.



Figure 3 Temporal sprawl of textile market area, Surat

Similarly, the production units also have gradually sprawled out to newer outskirts of the city owing to higher land prices and traffic congestion in the city centre (Figure 4). The sprawl of the textile industry is more towards the eastern side whereby the national dedicated freight corridor (DFC) would be coming up soon.



Figure 4 Temporal sprawl of textile powerloom (weaving) units



For both, the maps shown in Figure 3 and Figure 4 colour coding is used to show the expansion of market area and clusters' growth over the years. The textile industry has grown considerably over time. As per recent data, textile production in Surat has grown by 10% in the last 5 years [34]. LCVs having diesel-run engines also have higher emissions than their petrol or natural gas counterpart. The sprawl of textile activities increases pollution in the newly developed area gradually. Environmentalists have carried

out studies to measure pollution levels in different parts of the city and the results found and not very encouraging. The city is already facing serious health problems from the high levels of particulate matter (PM) in the atmosphere due to the industrial emissions and noxious fumes of vehicles, particularly in the last two years. Annual PM10 data of the Gujarat Pollution Control Board [35] shows that the particle pollution recorded from 10 locations in the city was much higher than the national average (Table 3).

Name of location	PM10 level	PM2.5 level	Activity pattern	
Udhana	167	53	Textiles (Weaving)	
Bhagal	130	42	Oils and chemicals	
Palsana	147	48	Chemicals	
Pandesara	171	54	Textiles (Weaving)	
Pandesara GIDC	184	55	Textiles (Mills), Chemicals	
Chalthan	173	50	Heavy industry, Pipes	
Sachin GIDC	188	55	Textiles, Oils	
Jolva	184	53	Textiles, Freight Transport	
Ring Road (Delhi Gate)	164	54	Public and Private transport	
Source: GPCB Data, 2018				

Table 3 Air quality at different location in Surat

Pandesara GIDC which has most of the textile processing houses in the city is having a mean of particulate matter (PM10) at 184 per micrograms per cubic meter of air $(\mu g/m^3)$ per annum as against the national average of 100µg/m³. In the ring road (Delhi Gate), where the textile markets are located, at 164µg/m³ the PM10 levels are exceedingly high. Air Quality Life Index (AQLI) reveals that an increase of 10 micrograms of PM10 (particulate matter that is 10 micrometers or less in diameter) per cubic meter of air (µg/m³) reduces life expectancy by 0.64 years [36]. World Health Organization has suggested the levels of PM 2.5 at 10 μ g/m³ annual mean and keeping these levels in check may help increase the lifespan in cities [37]. While Surat's annual average PM 2.5 level at $50\mu g/m^3$ is an alarming situation. With the growth of the industry and population growth prospects, it is going to be very tough for city officials to provide room for both the healthy lifestyle and sustainable growth of the city.

4 Estimation of textile industry freight trips

For collecting data related to freight flow patterns in the textile industry, roadside interviews (RSI) of freight vehicles and establishment surveys (ES) of various manufacturing and trading clusters were conducted. Some surveys were also conducted with transport providers to

understand the inflows and outflows of freight from the city. The RSI provided the data regarding the type of vehicles, loading capacities, origin-destinations, route, and timings of freight movement in the textile industry. While the ES provided information regarding the daily output and thereby daily trips per unit area of the establishment, number of employees, production capacity, and capacity utilization. The textile industry has cauterization of production units with similar activities based on the availability of labour and other ancillary support. There are clusters of different production phases and trading developed in different areas of the city which is represented on the map of Surat (Figure 5).

It also shows the location of important public transport locations like railway and bus stations. This location is bound to have excessive passenger movement along the road. As per the data obtained from the traffic control cell of the city municipal office, movement of HCV is restricted within the city limits from 7:00 am to 12:00 pm and 05:00 pm to 11:00 pm; also movement of MCV is restricted along the ring road encompassing the central zone of the city. Due to these restrictions majority of the textile goods transportation within the city is carried out using LCVs only. From the roadside interviews of 1137 freight vehicles carried out for 24 hours on a typical working day along with the ring road trip, destinations have been mapped (Figure 6).



IMPLEMENTING CIRCULAR ECONOMY CONCEPTS FOR SUSTAINABLE URBAN FREIGHT TRANSPORT: CASE OF TEXTILE MANUFACTURING SUPPLY CHAIN

Bhavesh Dhonde; Chetan R. Patel



Figure 5 Location of textile industry (production units and market), Surat



~ 137 ~

Copyright © Acta Logistica, www.actalogistica.eu




During the survey, it is also observed that around 20% of the trips originating in the market area and getting completed within the market area itself. It is also observed from the survey that around 35% of the LCVs trips are empty. During the drivers' survey, willingness to electric LCVs (e-LCV) was asked and it was found that approximately 60% of the drivers were willing to shift to e-LCV if they were provided proper facilities (Figure 7).



Figure 7 Percentage of LCV drivers willing to shift to electri LCV

Details of the emission standards of the vehicles used were recorded during the survey. It is observed that not all the LCVs used in the city are having the latest emission norms i.e. Bharat Stage IV (BS-IV), on the contrary majority of the LCVs are of the models of previous emission norms. Figure 8 shows the percentage of share of vehicles based on the emission norms.



Figure 8 Distribution of LCVs based on emission standards

Also, the trips from the various textile clusters have been estimated using the ES data. The majority of the trips carrying the semi-finished goods within the industry are carried out using LCVs from the manufacturing clusters also. When the map of trips originating from manufacturing clusters was compared with that of the ring road market area, it is observed that similar clusters have been mapped as the destination locations from the RSI of freight vehicles. Figure 6 shows the directional movement of LCVs from various clusters of textile manufacturing. Here clusters from Katargam, Varachha, Udhna, Pandesara are having very high numbers of freight trips, as these clusters are quite old and have a large number of textile manufacturing units (up to 1800 units in a single cluster), while Sachin, Palsana, Kamrej and Jolva which are on the outskirts of the city showing lesser number of freight trips in the map as the number of units in these clusters are less. Also, clusters located in the outskirts do not prefer frequent trips as the distance is more. Establishment survey of production units and trading units enabled designing a trip attraction and production models based on the parameters used in several works of literature on freight trip generation (FTG) (Equation 1).

Multi-linear Regression model for trip generation for goods movement in textile industry is:

$$FTG = 9.686 + [(0.0055 * Q) + (0.0480 * Npm) + (0.0074 * A) (0.0264) (0.0031) (0.0037) + (0.1485 * Ne) - (0.0167 * D)] (0.0013) (0.0781)$$
(1)

Where,	
Q	is the quantity of goods produced (kilograms),
N_{pm}	is the number of weaving machines at the establishment,
А	is the floor area of the establishment (square meters),
N_e	is the number of employees at the establishment,
D	is the average distance between industrial cluster and distribution centre.

Values given in parenthesis are the p-values for each of the parameters of the multi-linear regression; here the values are statistically significant for each of the

 $R^2 = 0.78$

parameters. From the multi-linear regression model developed for production units, it is found that though the number of units largely depends on the factors like floor



area of the unit, number of machines and labour employed, on an average 15 LCV trips produced per month, also a unit attracts at least 4.5 HCV/MCV trips per month for the supply of raw materials. For the trading units, the number of trips is largely fluctuating based on seasonal variation and overall business trends in the industry. Trading units are not trip generators, but they are trips regulators for different phases of production based on the demand and supply of a particular type of textile goods.

From the details shared 50 major transport service providers, it was understood that mining materials, construction materials, chemicals and oils, consumer goods and are the most important commodities from the tonnage of export and import point of view. Textiles goods contribute about 15% of the total commodities tonnage transported to and from the city. While the intra-city movement of goods within the industry is carried out using LCVs. For the export of goods outside the city HCVs and MCVs are preferred. Textile goods are exported to major cities in the country as well as to major ports for international exports. The major entry points for textile freight in the city are Navsari, Palsana, Kadodara, Pipodara, and Olpad. Traffic coming from/going towards Pipodara and Palsana have very high interaction with Sahara Darwaja where the major textile markets are located. There are 140 market complexes here, which enable business operations of more than 45000 textile traders. During business hours, the entire area of three square kilometres along the stretch between Mann Darwaja to Sahara Darwaja becomes extremely congested due to local goods trips and loading/unloading of the goods simultaneously.

Considering all the stages of the manufacturing process, the textile industry alone contributes around 38–40% of the total urban freight trips (CMP, 2018). Also, most of the chemical and engineering industries within Surat are indirectly associated with the textile manufacturing process. Textile goods movement contributes 32% of the total truck movement and 40% of the total LCV movement in the city (Table 4).

Table 4 Freight trips in Surat and its textile industry					
Type of	Number of	Number	Total		
movement in	HCVs and	of LCV	trips		
urban area	MCVs	trips			
	trips				
Total goods	8041	261,081	269,122		
movement					
Textile goods	3487	105,108	108,595		
movement					

According to RSI, 35% of the trips are empty, and as per ES of trading and production unit's average trip length of the freight, the trip is 9.8 km. Therefore approximately 370 thousand VKT of LCVs is wasted in the city every day. The economic concern in the terms of financial loss due to wastage of man-hours, fuel, and operational life of vehicles is not the only loss incurred here. There is also a continuous addition of CO_2 and other GHG gases due to this empty movement which is adding an unwanted burden on the city's atmosphere. Table 5 below gives describes the impact of empty vehicle trips on the city's economy in brief.

Description	Reference	Quantity
Total number of textile freight trips	ES & RSI	108,595
Average freight trip length in textile production	ES & RSI	9.8 km
Total vehicle kilometers travel (VKT)	ES & RSI	1,064,231 kms
Carbon dioxide emission (CO2)	[38]	548.3 tonnes
Sulphur oxides emission (SOx)	[39]	1.51 tonnes
Nitrous oxide emissions (NOx)	[40]	1.36 tonnes
Methane gas emission (CH4)	[41]	95.78 kgs
Approximate empty trips by textile industry	ES & RSI	35%
Empty freight trips (daily)	ES & RSI	38,008
Total empty daily VKT induced by textile industry	ES & RSI	3,72,481 kms

Table 5 Details of LCV freight trips and its emissions

The emissions mentioned above can be reduced if the number of empty trips is avoided by proper planning measures. The LCV trips are short distance trips carrying lesser loads, the possibility of using electric vehicles as a replacement of conventional diesel LCVs would reduce the emission impact largely.

5 Results

The textile industry is generating more than a hundred thousand LCV trips for the internal movement of goods. It is observed that as compared to other industries, textiles are generating far more intra-city trips than that of intercity trips due to the back and forth movement of textile goods during its various phases of production and intervention of textile market at each phase for quality checks. Analysis of the data collected in the RSI and ES survey can be summarized as follows.

The 3 sq. km of the textile market area near Sahara Darwaja is a highly congested becoming bottleneck to the entire road network of that zone. HCV/MCV trips consist only of 8 percent of the total trips, which are also quite organized and efficiently managed. Urban freight trips





generated from the textile business is one of the major polluting factors in the study area. From the analysis of the surveys carried out it is derived that approximately 190 tonnes of CO2 can be reduced by strategizing land use and freight trips to eliminate empty freight trips that currently comprise 1/3rd of the total LCV trips generated on daily basis. The GHG emissions basically in the form of sulphur oxides and nitrous oxides gases which are harmful to the health of residents of the city as well as contributing towards warming of the city's temperature can be reduced by 500 kg/day and 450 kg/day approximately. As per the survey, approximately 60% of the LCV drivers are willing to shift to cleaner fuel option (i.e. e-LCV), if gradually the use of fossil fuel-based vehicles are replaced by this innovative option, 60% of the total emission can be simply eliminated, which would be a great relief for the alarming levels of PM and GHG at major industrial zones in the city. Reduction of 38,000 empty trips and replacement of 60% of LCV by e-LCVs can together bring a complete change in the existing situation of urban goods movement in the study area.



Figure 9 Emissions from urban freight movement in textile industry

Figure 9 shows a graph of different scenarios of the estimated reduction in pollution gases under different solutions sought here. Business as usual (BAU) refers to a current condition with vehicle composition and trip lengths estimated from surveys carried out. Reduction in the emission from LCV trips is considered in four different scenarios. Scenario 1 refers to complete utilization of unused or underutilized payload of LCV trips, scenario 2 refers to the removal of all empty trips (35%) by sharing of freight trips, scenario 3 refers to both removal of the unutilized payload as well as the removal of empty freight trips by sharing of freight trips and the last scenario refers to the replacement of 58% of LCVs with e-LCVs. Scenarios are avoiding empty trips by proper land use planning and management, replacement of conventional LCV with electric LCVs based on the response from the driver's surveys. Here solutions for both the problems i.e. traffic congestion and vehicular emission, arising from the textile industry can have a sustainable solution. Traffic

congestion can be reduced by one-third reductions in the overall number of trips or VKT of LCV, while the emissions can be kept in check by replacing the conventional LCVs with e-LCVs.

6 Conclusions

Based on the several recommendations made by GPCB and the prevailing standards of atmospheric emissions recommended by the WHO (Table 3 & 5), it is very certain that cleaner ways of transportation which would have a less negative impact on the environment. From the study, it can be concluded that for reducing vehicular emission and mitigating the traffic situation following strategies can be adopted by city planners and transport planners.

• Textile production houses should be convoked to shift their delivery times to a suitable off-peak hour, which would reduce the overall logistics and parking congestion.



- Local freight transport service providers should be permitted to operate only for a limited area/ zones, to reduce the haphazard movement of LCVs over the entire city.
- Freight depots can be developed at critical locations enabling sharing of freight trips and multi-modal trips, thereby reducing the overall kilometres travel.
- Long term planning for providing electric commercial vehicles and related infrastructure initially in a dense commercial area and later covering the entire city can be carried out by public-private partnership, for example charging ports facility at parking locations

As discussed in the results section, it is possible to reduce the total emissions from urban freight movement in the textile industry by 60%, which is a very progressive move in the direction of cleaner city logistics. The oldest of the industrial clusters which are dense and surrounded by residential properties need to be targeted first for the alleviation of the vehicular emissions. Cleaner production does not necessarily mean to reduce the polluting factors from the production cycles alone, environmental impact due to the freight movement during and after the production cycles of the goods is equally important. Targeting freight intensive industries for cleaner logistics measures gives double benefits to the city, reduction in the overall emissions from these vehicles, and alleviation in the overall congestion which is caused due to these slowmoving freight vehicles. These concepts can also be replicated on other industries like FMCG, dairy, and bakery supplies where the use of LCVs is high A similar concept can be applied to other cities in the country where the textile manufacturing is an important industry in the city. Also with modifications based on industry parameters these models can also be used for other small scale industries in the city and other cities of the country.

Acknowledgement

This article was not supported by any state or institutional grant. The research work presented in this article is solely carried out by the author and co-author of the article.

References

- WU, H.Q., SHI, Y., XIA, Q., ZHU, W.D.: Effectiveness of the policy of circular economy in China: a DEA-based analysis for the period of 11th fiveyear-plan, *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, Vol. 83, pp. 163-175, 2014. doi:10.1016/j.resconrec.2013.10.003
- [2] JAWAHIR, I.S., BRADLEY, R.: Technological elements of circular economy and the principles of 6Rbased closed-loop material flow in sustainable manufacturing, *Procedia CIRP*, Vol. 40, pp. 103-108, 2016. doi:10.1016/j.procir.2016.01.067
- [3] YU, F., HAN, F., CUI, Z.: Evolution of industrial symbiosis in an eco-industrial park in China, *Journal of*

Cleaner Production, Vol. 87, pp. 339-347, 2015. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.10.058

- [4] HUNT, R.G., FRANKLIN, W.E., HUNT, R.G.: LCA How it came about? *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, Vol. 1, pp. 4-7, 1996. doi:10.1007/BF02978624
- [5] COSTA, I., MASSARD, G., AGARWAL, A.: Waste management policies for industrial symbiosis development: case studies in European countries, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 18, No. 8, pp. 815-822, 2010. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2009.12.019
- [6] European Commission: Towards a circular economy -A zero waste programme for Europe. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, The European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, Brussels, [Online], Available: https://ec.europa.eu/env ironment/circular-economy/pdf/circular-economycommunication.pdf [10 Aug 2019], 2014.
- [7] PRENDEVILLE, S., SANDERS, C., SHERRY, J., COSTA, F.: Circular Economy: Is it enough? [Online], Available: https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/943c/814c 3300b69a06bd411d2704ec3baa3a0892.pdf [05 Oct 2018], 2015.
- [8] YUAN, Z., BI, J., MORIGUICHI, Y.: The circular economy: a new development strategy in China, *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, Vol. 10, No. 1-2, pp. 4-8, 2008. doi:10.1162/108819806775545321
- [9] RAMACHANDRA, T.V., SHWETMALA, K.: Emissions from India's transport sector: State wise synthesis, *Atmospheric Environment*, Vol. 43, No. 34, pp. 5510-5517, 2009.

doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2009.07.015 01 Census of India, Guiarat Series 25, Part XII-

- [10] Census of India, Gujarat Series 25, Part XII-B, District census handbook, Surat. Directorate of Census Operation, Gujarat, India, 2011.
- [11] SANDIN, G., PETERS, G.M.: Environmental impact of textile reuse and recycling - A review, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 184, pp. 353-365, 2018. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.02.266
- [12] SHEN, L., WORRELL, E., PATEL, M.K.: Environmental impact assessment of man-made cellulose fibres, *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, Vol. 55, No. 2, pp. 260-274, 2010. doi:10.1016/j.resconrec.2010.10.001
- [13] Comprehensive Mobility Plan (CMP) Surat-2046,. Centre of Excellence (CoE) in Urban Transport, CRDF, CEPT University, 2018.
- [14] WINANS, K., KENDALL, A., DENG, H.: The history and current applications of the circular economy concept, *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, Vol. 68, No. 1, pp. 825-833, 2017. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2016.09.123
- [15] CHERTOW, M., EHRENFELD, J.: Organizing selforganizing systems, *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, Vol. 16, No. 1, pp. 13-27, 2012. doi:10.1111/j.1530-9290.2011.00450.x



- [16] PECK, D., KANDACHAR, P., TEMPELMAN, E.: Critical materials from a product design perspective, *Materials and Design*, Vol. 65, pp. 147-159, 2015. doi:10.1016/j.matdes.2014.08.042
- [17] DONG, H., FUJITA, T., GENG, Y., DONG, L., OHNISHI, S., SUN, L., FUJII, M.: A review on ecocity evaluation methods and highlights for integration, *Ecological Indicators*, Vol. 60, pp. 1184-1191, 2016. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.08.044
- [18] YONG, R.: The circular economy in China, Journal of Material Cycles and Waste Management, Vol. 9, pp. 121-129, 2007. doi:10.1007/s10163-007-0183-z
- [19] GENG, Y., DOBERSTEIN, B.: Developing the circular economy in China: Challenges and opportunities for achieving leap frog development, *International Journal of Sustainable Development & World Ecology*, Vol. 15, No. 3, pp. 231-239, 2008. doi:10.3843/SusDev.15.3:6
- [20] MATHEWS, J.A., TANG, Y., TAN, H.: China's move to a circular economy as a development strategy, *Asian Business & Management*, Vol. 10, No. 4, pp. 463-484, 2011. doi:10.1057/abm.2011.18
- [21] IMSA Search Global Partners: Unleashing the power of the circular economy, IMSA Netherlands, [Online], Available: https://www.viawater.nl/files/un leashing_the_power_of_the_circular_economy-.pdf [01 June 2019], 2013.
- [22] World Economic Forum: Towards the circular economy- Accelerating the scale-up across global supply chains. Geneva, Swizterland, [Online], Available: http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_EN V_TowardsCircularEconomy_Report_2014.pdf [04 June 2019], 2014.
- [23] ESPOSITO, M., TSE, T., SOUFANI, K.: Is the circular economy a new fast-expanding market? *Thunderbird International Business Review*, Vol. 59, No. 1, pp. 9-14, 2017. doi:10.1002/tie.21764
- [24] TSE, T., ESPOSITO, M., SOUFANI, K.: How businesses can support a circular economy. Harvard Business Review, [Online], Available: https://hbr.org/2016/02/how-businesses-can-supporta-circulareconomy?utm source=Cambridge%20Judge%20Bu

economy?utm_source=Cambridge%20Judge%20Bu siness%20School&utm_medium=email&utm_camp aign=6744579_Media%20summary%2005%20Febr uary%202016&dm_i=HVY,40K5F,EFFS53,EIH45, 1 [30 Apri 2019], 2016.

- [25] GAYATHRI, A.: Circular economy and climate change, [Online], Available: http://climatecolab.org/ plans/-/plans/contests/2015/indias-climate-actionplan/c/proposal/1323516 [30 May 2019], 2015.
- [26] MATHEWS, J.A., TAN, H.: Progress toward a circular economy in China, *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, Vol. 15, No. 3, pp. 435-457, 2011. doi:10.1111/j.1530-9290.2011.00332.x
- [27] TSE, T., ESPOSITO, M., SOUFANI, K.: Why the circular economy matters? [Online] Available:

https://www.europeanbusinessreview.com/why-thecircular-economy-matters/ [28 May 2019], 2015.

- [28] WEN, Z., LI, R.: Materials metabolism analysis of China's highway traffic system (HTS) for promoting circular economy, *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, Vol. 14, No. 4, pp. 641-649, 2010. doi:10.1111/j.1530-9290.2010.00263.x
- [29] The Circularity Gap Report 2019: The Platform for Accelerating the Circular Economy (PACE), [Online], Available: https://bfc732f7-80e9-4ba1b4297f76cf51627b.filesusr.com/ugd/ad6e59_ba1e4d 16c64f44fa94fbd8708eae8e34.pdf [15 June 2019], 2019.
- [30] NUZZOLO, A., COMI, A.: Urban freight demand forecasting: a mixed quantity/delivery/vehicle-based model, *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Reviews*, Vol. 65, pp. 84-98, 2014. doi:10.1016/j.tre.2013.12.014
- [31] SÁNCHEZ-DÍAZ, I., HOLGUÍN-VERAS, J., WANG, X.: An exploratory analysis of spatial effects on freight trip attraction, *Transportation*, Vol. 43, pp. 177-196, 2016. doi:10.1007/s11116-014-9570-1
- [32] DUCRET, R., LEMARIÉ, B., ROSET, A.: Cluster analysis and spatial modeling for urban freight. Identifying homogeneous urban zones based on urban form and logistics characteristics, *Transportation Research Procedia*, Vol. 12, pp. 301-313, 2016. doi:10.1016/j.trpro.2016.02.067
- [33] GONZALEZ-FELIU, J., SANCHEZ-DIAZ, I.: The influence of aggregation level and category construction on estimation quality for freight trip generation models, *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, Vol. 121, pp. 134-148, 2019. doi:10.1016/j.tre.2018.07.007
- [34] Annual Report 2017-18, Ministry of Textiles, Government of India, Delhi [Online], Available: http://texmin.nic.in/sites/default/files/AnnualReport2 017-18%28English%29.pdf [15 Jan 2019] 2018.
- [35] Annual Report for 2017-18, Gujarat Pollution Control Board (GPCB), Government of Gujarat, Gandhinagar, Gujarat, [Online], Available: https://gpcb.gujarat.gov.in/uploads/AR_2017_18_E NGLISH.pdf [10 Feb 2019], 2018.
- [36] GREENSTONE, M., FAN, C.Q.: 2018. Introducing the Air Quality Life Index (AQLI). Energy Policy Institute of Chicago, [Online], Available: https://aqli.epic.uchicago.edu/wpcontent/uploads/2018/11/12Facts.English.pdf [18 Feb 2019], 2018..
- [37] World Health Organization (WHO): Air quality guidelines for particulate matter, ozone, nitrogen dioxide and sulfur dioxide. Global update 2005 -Summary of risk assessment, Geneva, [Online], Available: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/ 10665/69477/WHO_SDE_PHE_OEH_06.02_eng.pd f;jsessionid=950B871483CAF3119496F104519FD D83?sequence=1 [02 March 2019], 2006.



- [38] MITTAL, M.L., SHARMA, C.: Anthropogenic Emissions from Energy Activities in India: Generation and Source Characterization, Emissions from Vehicular Transport in India (Part II), [Online], Available: https://www.osc.edu/files/research/archiv e/pcrm/emissions/India_Report_1Pagelayout.pdf [13 Aug 2019] 2003.
- [39] KANDLIKAR, M., RAMACHANDRAN, G.: The causes and consequences of particulate air pollution in urban India: a synthesis of the science. Annual Review of Energy and the Environment, Vol. 25,

pp. 629-684, 2000.

doi:10.1146/annurev.energy.25.1.629

- [40] Central Pollution Control Board (CPCB): Transport Fuel Quality for the Year 2005, PROBES/78/2000– 01, Parivesh Bhavan, New Delhi, 2001.
- [41] European Environmental Agency (EEA): Joint EMEP/CORINAIR Atmospheric Emission Inventory Guidebook, 3rd Edition 2001, Copenhagen, 2002.

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



ABOUT/STATEMENT

JOURNAL STATEMENT

Journal name:	Acta logistica
Abbreviated key title:	Acta logist
Journal title initials:	AL
Journal doi:	10.22306/al
ISSN:	1339-5629
Start year:	2014
The first publishing:	March 2014
Issue publishing:	Quarterly
Publishing form:	On-line electronic publishing
Availability of articles:	Open Access Journal
Journal license:	CC BY-NC
Publication ethics:	COPE, ELSEVIER Publishing Ethics
Plagiarism check:	Worldwide originality control system
Peer review process:	Single-blind review at least two reviewers
Language:	English
Journal e-mail:	info@actalogistica.eu

The journal focuses mainly for the original and new, interesting, high-quality, theoretical, practical and application-oriented contributions to the field of science and research as well as to pedagogy and education in the field of logistics and transport.

Publisher:	4S go, s.r.o.
Address:	Semsa 24, 044 21 Semsa, Slovak Republic, EU
Phone:	+421 948 366 110
Publisher e-mail:	info@4sgo.eu

Responsibility for the content of a manuscript rests upon the authors and not upon the editors or the publisher.